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COUNTY OF OAKLAND 
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COUNTY OF OAKLAND RETIREES HEALTH CARE REFUNDING BONDS, 
SERIES 2013B (GENERAL OBLIGATION LIMITED TAX) 

Dated: Date of Ddivery Due: April!, 2027 

The County ofOaldand Rctirccs Health Care Refunding Bonds, Saies 20138 (General Obligation Limited Tax) (the "Bonds") of 
the County of Oaldand., State of Michigan (the "County") were authorized by the County by a resolution adopted on November 28, 2012, 
IL5 amended on June 13, 2013 (collective!y, the "Resolution"). The Bonds will be issued., together with other legally available funds, 
including the proceeds of the County of Oakland Retirees Health C~ Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A ("Series A Bonds") in an aggregate 
principal amount of $34,000,000, to eventually refund a portion of the County's outstanding Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 
2007 and for paying costs of issuance with respect to the Bonds and the refuDCiing. See ''THE FINANCING - PLAN OF REFUNDING." 

The Bonds will be limited 1M general obligations of the County payable from ad valorem taxes levied on all taxable property in 
the County or from other funds of the County legaUy available therefor. The full faith and eredit of the County have been pledged for the 
prompt payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same shall become due. Each year the County is obligated to include 
in its budget as a first budget obligation an amount sufficient to pay such principal and interest as the same shall become due. The ability 
of the County to raise funds to pay such amounts is subject to applicable constirutional and statutOI)' tax rate limitations on the taxing 
power of the County. 

The Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds without coupons and., when issued., will be registered in the name of 
Cede & Co .. as Bondholder and nominee for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC), New York. New York. DTC will act as securities 
depository for the Bonds. Purchases of beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form in the denomination of 
$5,000 or any integml multiple thereof within a series. Purcha.scn of beneficial interests in the Bonds (the wBencficiai Owners") will nOl: 
receive certificates representing their beneficial interest in Bonds purchlL5cd. So long IL5 Cede & Co. is the Bondholder, as nominee ofOTe, 
references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial Ownel"1 
of the Bonds. Sec "THE BONDS-Book-Entry.()nly System" herein. . 

534,000,000 4J2% Bonds Due Apri l I, 2027; Price 100%; CUS1P6724 11 M69 

Principal of and interest on the Bonds will be paid by The Huntington National Bank, Grand Rapids. Michigan (the "Bond 
Registnf'). So long as DTC or its nominee. Cede & Co., is the Bondholder, such payments will be made directly to such Bondholder. 
Disburxment of such p8)'Tllents to the DTC Participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial 
Owners is the responsibility of the DTC Participants and Indirect Participants, as more fully descnl>cd herein. Interest. will be payable 
scmillJUluaily on April I and October 1, commencing April I. 201 4, to the Bondholders of record as of the applicable record dates herein 
described. The Bonds arc subject \0 optional redemption as ~ forth in this Mcmorandwn. The Bonds arc !!!It subject mandatory 
redemption. Sec "TIiE BONDS - Optional Redemption." 

The Bond.s will be offered when, as and if issued by the County and placed by The Huntington Investment Company with the 
County Treasurer subject to the approving legal opinion of Axe & Ecklund, P.C., Grosse Pointe Farms, Michigan, Bond Counsel. It is 
expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through The Depository Trust Company on or about September 27, 20 l l 

TInS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY 
OF nus ISSUE. INVESTORS MUST READ TIiE ENTIRE IvlEMORANDUM TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO 1HE 
MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESlMENT DECISION. 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 



The Bonds have not been registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC) 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or registered in any state and will not be listed on any stock 
or other securities exchange. Neither the SEC nor any other federal, state or any other govenunentaJ 
entity or agency will have passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Memorandum or approved the 
Bonds for sale, except as disclosed herein. 

All summaries contained in this Memorandum are subject in all respects to the complete statute, 
regulation, rule, document or report. The infonnation and expressions of opinion contained herein are 
subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of the Memorandum nor the sale made 
hereunder shall under any circumstances create any implication that there bas been no change in the 
affairs oftbe County ofOaldand since the date hereof. 

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEm OWN 
EXAMINATION OF TIlE COUNTY OF OAKLAND AND TIlE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, 
INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RlSK INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN 
RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR 
REGULA TORY AUrnORlTY. FURTIlERMORE, THE FOREGOING AurnORITlES HAVE NOT 
CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF TIllS DOCUMENT. 
ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE. 
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MEMORANDUM 
Relating to the 

534,000,000 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 
STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND RETIREES HEALTH CARE REFUNDING 
BONDS, SERIES 2013B (GENERAL OBLIGA nON LIMITED TAX) 

INTRODUCTION 

This Memorandum. including the cover page hereof and the appendices hereto, is provided by the 
County of Oakland, State of Michigan (the "County") for the purpose of setting forth information in 
connection with the issuance and sale by the County of its $34,000,000 County of Oakland Retirees 
Health Care Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (General Obligation Limited Tax) ("Bonds''). The Bonds 
are being issued pursuant to Act 34, Public Acts of Michigan, 2001, as amended ("Act 34"). 

THE FINANCING 

Purpose of the Bouds 

The Bonds will be issued by the County to, together with other legally available funds, including 
the proceeds of the County of Oakland Retirees Health Care Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A (the "Series 
A Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount 0($316,000,000, eventually refund a portion of the County's 
outstanding Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 2007 (the "COPs") and for paying costs of 
issuance with respect to the Bonds and the refunding. See "THE FINANCING - PLAN OF 
REFUNDING." 

Plan of Refunding 

The proceeds of the Bonds and the Series A Bonds will be used to pay certain costs of issuance 
relating to the Bonds and, together with other available funds of the County, to establish an escrow fund 
(the "Escrow Fund") composed of cash and/or non-callable direct obligations of, or obligations the 
principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America or 
other obligations the principal of and interest on which are fully secured by the foregoing. The Escrow 
Fund will be held by the corporate trust office of The Huntington National Bank, Grand Rapids, 
Michigan, as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent") and will deposited, together with other available funds 
of the County, into the 2007 Oakland County Intennediate Retiree Medical Benefits Trust established by 
the 2007 Oakland County Intennediate Trust Agreement to be used to redeem the COPs on April I. 
2014. 
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Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds 

The sources and uses of funds with respect to the Bonds are estimated as follows: 

Par Value of the Bonds 
Series A Bonds Contribution 

Total Sources of Funds 

Deposit to Escrow Fund 
Estimated Costs oflssuance (I) 

TotaJ Sources of Funds 

Estimated Sources of Funds 

Estimated Uses Q(Funds 

$ 34,000,000 
316,000,000 

$350,000,000 

(I) Includes legal, ratings, printing, financial advisor, publishing and other miscellaneous C(Ists ofis$UlUlcc and contingencies. 

THE BONDS 

Authorization and Security 

The Bonds are to be issued pursuant to the authorization contained in Act 34, Public Acts of 
Michigan, 2001, as amended ("Act 34"), and a resolution adopted by the Board of County Commissioners 
on November 28,2012, as amended on June 13,2013 (the "Resolution"). 

The Bonds will be limited tax general obligations of the County payable from ad valorem taxes 
levied on all taxable property in the County or from any other funds of the County legally available 
therefor. The full faith and credit of the County have been pledged for the prompt payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same shall become due. Each year the County is obligated to 
include in its budget as a flTSt budget obligation an amount sufficient to pay such principal and interest as 
the same shall become due. The ability of the County to raise funds to pay such amounts is subject to 
applicable constirutional and statutory limitations on the taxing power of the County. The County's 
maximum authorized operating millage for 2013 was 4.2240 mills and the County levied 4.19 mills. See 
Appendix A - Financiallnfonnation Regarding the County of Oakland - County Tax Rates. 

The rights and remedies of Bondholders may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent 
conveyance or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally, now existing or hereafter enacted, and by 
the application of general principles of equity including those relating to equitable subordination. 

Description and Form of tbe Bonds 

The Bonds will be issued in the aggregate principal amount of 534,000,000. The Bonds will be 
dated as of and bear interest from their date of delivery. Interest on the Bonds shall be payable on 
April 1, 2014 and semiannually each October 1 and Ap·ril 1 thereafter prior to maturity or earlier 
redemption thereof. Interest on the Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year with twelve 
3Q.day months, and the Bonds will mature on the date and in the principal amount and will bear interest at 
the rate per annum as set forth on the cover of this Memorandum. Subject to the provisions described 
below under ''Book-Entry-Only System," the Bonds will be issued in fully registered fonn in the 
denomination of $5,000, or integral multiples of that sum not exceeding the aggregate principal amount of 
the Bonds maturing at anyone time, the principal of the Bonds is payable at maturity, upon presentation 
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and surrender at the corporate trust office of The Huntington National Bank as the bond registrar and 
paying agent (the "Bond Registrar") in Grand Rapids, Michigan, or its successor, and interest on the 
Bonds shall be payable when due by check or draft mailed by the Bond Registrar to the person or entity 
who is, at the close of business as of the fifteenth (15th) day of the month preceding each interest payment 
date (provided that if such day is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State of Michigan (the 
"State"), as of the close of business on the day next preceding such 15111 day of the month which is not a 
Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State), the registered owner of record, at the owner's registered 
address. 

Book-Entry-Only System 

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully registered securities registered in the name of Cede & 
Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative 
of DTC. One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, each in the 
aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New 
York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York 
Unifonn Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instrument 
from over 100 countries that DTC's participants (''Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also 
faci litates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in 
deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct 
Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct 
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, 
clearing corporations. and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly~wned subsidiary of The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corpomtion ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National 
Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered 
clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is 
also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers. banks, trust 
companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct 
Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants''). DTC has a Standard & Poor's rating of: 
AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants ace on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond ("Beneficial Owner'') is in tum to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confumations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the 
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership 
interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be 
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requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration 
in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. 
DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the 
identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which mayor may not be 
the Beneficial Owners: The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account 
of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain 
steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such 
as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Bond documents. For example, 
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit 
has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may 
wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided 
directly to them. . 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being 
redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Oirect Participant in 
such maturity to be redeemed. 

Neither OTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with OTC' s Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the County as soon as possible after the record date. The 
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee 
as may be requested by an authorized representative of OTC. OTC's practice is to credit Direct 
Participants' accounts upon OTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail infonnation from the County 
or the Bond Registrar, on payable dafe in accordance with their respective holdings shown on OTC's 
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and 
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of OTC. the Bond 
Registrar or the County, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time 
to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede.& Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by 
an authorized representative of OTC) is the responsibility of the County or the Bond Registrar, 
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of OTC, and disbursement 
of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

OTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at 
any time by giving reasonable notice to the County or the Bond Registrar. Under such circumstances, in 
the event that a successor securities depository is Dot obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed 
and delivered. 

The County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book -entry transfers through OTC (or 
a successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to OTC. 
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The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book·entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the County believes to be ~eliable, but the County takes no responsibility for the 
accuracy thereof. 

THE INFORMATION ABOVE IN THIS SECTION "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" 
HAS BEEN FURNISHED BY DTC. NO REPRESENT A nON IS MADE BY THE COUNTY OR 
THE BOND REGISTRAR AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY OF SUCH 
INFORMATION OR AS TO THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH 
INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF. NO ATTEMPT HAS BEEN MADE 
BY THE COUNTY OR THE BOND REGISTRAR TO DETERMINE WHETHER DTC IS OR 
WILL BE FINANCIALLY OR OTHERWISE CAPABLE OF FULFILLING ITS OBLIGATIONS. 
NEITHER THE COUNTY, NOR THE BOND REGISTRAR wn.L HAVE ANY 
RESPONSmILITY OR OBLIGATION TO DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE 
PERSONS FOR WInCH THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS OR 
FOR ANY PRINCIPAL OR INTEREST PAYMENT THEREON. SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS 
THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE BONDS, AS NOMINEE OF DTC. REFERENCES 
HEREIN TO THE BONDHOLDERS, HOLDERS, OWNERS OR REGISTERED OWNERS OF 
THE BONDS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. AND SHALL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS OF THE BONDS. 

Discontinuation of Book·Entry·Only System 

DTC may detennine to discontinue providing its services with respect to the Bonds at any time by 
giving notice to the County or the Bond Registrar and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto 
under applicable law. Upon the giving of such notice, the book-entry-only system for the Bonds will be 
discontinued unless a successor securities depository is appointed by the County. In addition, the County 
may discontinue the book·entry-only system for the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to 
DTC. . 

In the event that the book·entry--only system for the Bonds is discontinued, the following 
provisions would apply to the Bonds, subject in each case to the further conditions set forth in the 
Resolution . 

. Delivery of Certificates; Registered Owners 

Bond certificates in fully registered form will be delivered to, and registered in the names of, the 
Participants or such other persons as such Participants may specify (which may be the Indirect 
Participants or Beneficial Owners), in authorized denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof 
within a maturity within a series. The ownership of the Bonds so delivered (and any Bonds thereafter 
delivered upon a transfer or exchange described below) shall be registered in registration books to be kept 
by the Bond Registrar, and the County and the Bond Registrar shall be entitled to treat the registered 
owners of such Bonds, as their names appear in such registration books as of the appropriate dates, as the 
owners thereof for all purposes described herein and in the Resolution. 

Transfer!! and Exchanges 

So long as Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, is the Registered Owner of the Bonds, beneficial 
ownership interests in the Bonds may only be transferred through a Direct or Indirect Participant and 
recorded on the book·entry·only system operated by DTC. In the event the book·entry·only system is 
discontinued, any Bond may be transferred by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by a 
duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of the Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the Bond 
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Registrar for cancellation, together with a duly executed instrument of transfer in a form approved by the 
Bond Registrar. Whenever any Bonds are surrendered for transfer, the Bond Registrar shall authenticate 
and deliver new Bonds, in like aggregate principal amount in authorized denominations within a maturity 
within a series. The Bond Registrar may require the Registered Owner requesting the transfer to pay any 
tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to the transfer. Neither the County nor 
the Bond Registrar shall be required to (i) register the transfer of or exchange of any Bond during a period 
beginning at the opening of business 5 business days before the day of the mailing of a notice of 
redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and ending at the close of business on the day of that 
mailing. or (ii) register the transfer of or exchange any Bond selected for redemption in whole or in part 
within 30 days of the redemption date of such Bond, except the unredeemed portion of Bonds redeemed 
in part. 

Optional Redemption 

On or prior to April 1, 2014, the Bonds or portions of Bonds of this issue in multiples of $5,000 
shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, on any date, at par and 
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption 

After April 1,2014, the Bonds are redeemable prior to maturity at the written direction of the 
County, in whole or in part on any Business Day, at the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined 
below). The Bond Registrar shall determine the Make-Whole Redemption Price. In connection with 
such redemption, the Bond Registrar shall have the right to retain, at the expense of the County, an 
independent accounting firm or financial advisor (which accounting firm or fmancial advisor shall be 
subject to the County's approval) to determine the Make-Whole Redemption Price. The Bond Registrar 
and the County may conclusively rely on such accounting ftrm's or financial advisor's calculations in 
connection with, and determination of, the Make-Whole Redemption Price, and shall bear no liability for 
such reliance. 

The "Make-Whole Redemption Price" is the greater of (I) 100010 of the principal amount of the 
Bonds to be redeemed; and (2) the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of 
principal and interest to the maturity date of the Bonds to be redeemed, not including any portion of those 
payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the Bonds are to be redeemed, ' 
discounted to the date on which the Bonds are to be redeemed on a semiannual basis assuming a 360-day 
year consisting of twelve 30-day months at the Treasury Rate, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the 
Bonds to be redeemed on the redemption date, "Treaswy Rate" means, as of any redemption date, the 
yield to maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity 
(as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.l5 (519) that has 
become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to the redemption date (excluding inflation 
indexed securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of 
similar market data) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to the maturity date of the 
Bond to be redeemed; provided., however, that jf the period from the redemption date to such maturity 
date is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States TreasU!)' securities 
adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used. 

The Bonds are not subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity. 

Redemption Procedures 

If the Bonds are registered in book-entry-only fonn and so long as the DTC or its nominee is the 
sole registered owner of the Bonds, if less than all of the Bonds are called for redemption, the particular 
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Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata pass-through distribution of 
principal basis in accordance with the procedures of OTe, provided that the selection for redemption of 
such Bonds shall be made in accordance with the operational arrangements of DTC then in effect, and, if 
DTC's operational arrangements at such time do not allow for redemption on a pro rata pass-distribution 
of principal basis, the Bonds shall be selected for redemption in accordance with DTC's procedures. If 
DTC or its nominee is no longer the sole registered owner of the Bonds, if less than all of the Bonds of a 
maturity are called for redemption, the Bond Registrar shall select the Bonds to be redeemed on a pro rata 
pass-through basis within such maturity. 

In case less than the full amount of an outstanding Bond is called for redemption, the Bond 
Registrar, upon presentation of the Bond called for redemption, shall register, authenticate and deliver to 
the registered owner of record a new Bond in principal amount of the portion of the original Bond not 
called for redemption. 

Notice of redemption of any Bond or portion thereof shall be given by the Bond Registrar at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the date fIXed for redemption by mail to the registered owner at the registered 
address shown on the registration books kept by the Bond Registrar. Bonds shall be called for 
redemption in multiples of $5,000 and any Bond of a denomination of more than $5,000 shall be treated 
as representing the number of Bonds obtained by dividing the denomination of the Bond by $5,000 and 
such Bond may be redeemed in part. Notice of redemption for a Bond redeemed in part shall state- that 
upon surrender of the Bond to be redeemed a new bond or bonds in authorized denomination or 
denominations in aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the bonds surrendered 
shall be issued to the registered owner thereof. No further interest on a Bond or portion thereof called for 
redemption shall accrue after the date fixed for redemption, whether presented for redemption or not, 
provided funds are on hand with the transfer agent to redeem the Bond or portion thereof. 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

Information regarding the County of Oakland, State of Michigan is included in Exhibit A and 
Exhibit B. 

M1cmGAN PROPERTY TAX REFORM 

On December 20, 2012, Governor Snyder signed into law a package of bills reforming personal 
property tax in Michigan. The legislation exempts commercial and industrial personal property of each 
owner with a combined taxable value in the local taxing unit ofless than $40,000 from ad valorem taxes 
beginning in 2014. All industrial personal property purchased or put into service beginning in 2013 and 
industrial personal property that has been in use for 10 years or more becomes exempt beginning in 2016. 
The legislation extends certain personal property tax exemptions and tax abatements for technology parks, 
industrial facilities and enterprise zones that were to ex.pire after 2012, until the newly enacted personal 
property tax exemptions take effect. The legislation authorizes local units to specially assess commercial 
and industrial real property to replace revenue lost due to the personal property tax ex.emptions for police, 
ftre. ambulance and jail operations. The legislation also includes a formula to reimburse certain local 
governments for a portion of their lost personal property tax revenue from state use tax moneys to the 
extent the local unit has a reduction in taxable value of more than 2.3% as a result of the personal 
property tax exemption. However voters would need to approve a change in the state distribution of use 
tax in the August 2014 primary election for such reimbursement provisions to become effective. Ifvoters 
approve the redistribution, a portion of the use tax would be directed to a newly created statewide 
Metropolitan Areas Metropolitan Authority and redistributed to qualifying local units. If voters fail to 
approve the use tax redistribution. the above personal property tax reform acts will be repealed and the 
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, 
local reimbursement act and the special assessment act will not go into effect. The flnal impact of this 
legislation, pending the outcome of the August 2014 election, cannot be detennined at this time. 

On December 20, 2012, Governor Snyder signed into law a package of bills refonning personal 
property tax in Michigan. The legislation "exempts commercial and industrial personal property of each 
owner with a combined taxable value in a local taxing unit of less than $40,000 from ad valorem taxes 
beginning in 2014. All eligible manufactwing personal property purchased or put into service beginning 
in 2013 and used more than 50% of the time in industria] processing or direct integrated support becomes 
exempt beginning in 2016. The legislation extends certain personal property tax exemptions and tax 
abatements for technology parks, industrial facilities and enterprise zones that were to expire after 2012, 
until the newly enacted personal property tax exemptions take effect The legislation authorizes local 
units to specially assess commercial and industrial real property to replace revenue lost due to the 
personal property tax exemptions for police, fire, ambulance and jail operations. The legislation also 
includes a formula to reimburse certain local governments for a portion of lost personal property tax 
revenue from use tax moneys to the extent the local unit has a reduction in taxable value of more than 
2.3% as a result of the personal property tax exemption. For such reimbursement provisions to become 
effective, however voters would need to approve a change in the state distribution of use tax in the August 
2014 primary election. lfvoters approve the redistribution, a portion of the use tax would be directed to a 
newly created statewide Metropolitan Areas Metropolitan Authority which would redistribute that 
revenue to qualifying local units. If voters fail to approve the use tax redistribution, the above personal 
property tax reform acts will be repealed and the local reimbursement act and the special assessment act 
will not go into effect. The fmal impact of this legislation cannot be determined at this time. 

The ultimate nature, extent and impact of any other furore amendments to Michigan's property 
tax laws on a local unit's fmances cannot be predicted. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult with their 
legal counsel and financial advisors as to the consequences of any such legislation on the macket price or 
marketability of the Bonds, the security therefor and the operations of the local unit. 

TAX PROCEDURES 

Article IX, Section 3, of the Michigan Constitution provides that the proportion of true cash value 
at which property shall be assessed shall not exceed SO% of true cash value. The Michigan Legislature by 
statute has provided that property shall be assessed at SO% of its true cash value, except as described 
below. The Michigan Legislature or the electorate may at some future time reduce the percentage below 
SO% of true cash value. 

On March 1 S, 1994, the electors of the State approved an amendment to the Michigan 
Constitution pennitting the Legislature to authorize ad valorem taxes on a non-unifonn basis. The 
legislation implementing this constitutional amendment added a new measure of property value known as 
"Taxable Value." Beginning in 1995, taxable property has two valuations - State equalized valuation 
("SEV'') and Taxable Value. Property taxes are levied on Taxable Value. Generally, Taxable Value of 
property is the lesser of (a) the Taxable Value of the property in the immediately preceding year, adjusted 
for losses, and increased by the lesser of the inflation rate or S%, plus additions, or (b) the property's 
current SEV. Under certain circumstances, therefore, the Taxable Value of property may be different 
from the same property's SEV. 

When property is sold or transferred, Taxable Value is adjusted tQ the SEV, which under existing 
law is SOOIo of the current true cash value. The Taxable Value of new construction is equal to current 
SEV. Taxable Value and SEV of existing property are also adjusted annually for additions and losses. 
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Responsibility for assessing taxable property rests with the local assessing officer of each 
township and city. Any property owner may appeal the assessment to the local assessor, to the local 
board of review and ultimately to the Michigan Tax Tribunal. 

The Michigan Constitution also mandates a system of equalization for assessments. Although the 
assessors for each local unit of government within a county are responsible for actually assessing at 50010 
of true cash value, adjusted for Taxable Value purposes, the final SEV and Taxable Value are arrived at 
through several steps. Assessments are established initially by the municipal assessor. Municipal 
assessments are then equa1ized to the 50% levels as detennined by the county's department of 
equalization. Thereafter, the State equalizes the various counties in relation to each other. SEV is 
important, aside from its use in determining Taxable Value for the purpose of levying ad valorem 
property taxes, because of its role in the spreading of taxes between overlapping jurisdictions, the 
distribution of various State aid programs, State revenue sharing and in the calculation of debt limits. 

Property that is exempt from property taxes, e.g., churches, govemment property, public schools, 
is not included in the SEV and Taxable Value data in this Memorandum. Property granted tax abatements 
under Act 198, Public Acts of Michigan, 1974, amended, is recorded on a separate tax roll while subject 
to tax abatement. The valuation oftax·ahated property is based upon SEV but is not included in either the 
SEV or Taxable Value data in this Memorandum except as noted 

LITIGATION 

To the knowledge of the County, there is no controversy of any nature threatened or pending 
against the County, seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution and delivery of the Bonds or 
in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Bonds or any proceedings of the County with respect 
to the issuance and sale of thereof. 

BOND RATINGS 

Moody's Investors Service and Standard & Poor's Ratings Service. a division of The McGraw 
Hill Companies, Inc., have assigned their ratings of"Aaa" and "AAA," respectively to the Bonds. There 
is no assurance that such ratings will prevail for any given period of time or that they will not be revised 
downward or withdrawn entirely by such rating agencies if, in the judgment of either or both of them, 
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an 
adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. Any ratings assigned represent only the views of the 
respective rating agencies. The definitions furnished by the rating agencies for their rating may be 
obtained from the rating agencies. 

BOND COUNSEL'S RESPONSmllJTY 

The fees of Axe & Ecklund, P.e. ("Bond Counsel") for services rendered in connection with its 
approving opinion are expected to be paid from the proceeds of the Bonds. Except to the extent necessary 
to issue its approving opinion as to validity of the Bonds and the exemption of the interest thereon from 
taxation, and except as stated below, Bond Counsel has not been retained to examine or review and has 
not examined or reviewed any financial documents, statements or materials that have been or may be 
furnished in connection with the authorization, issuance or marketing of the Bonds, and accordingly will 
not express any opinion with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any such financial documents, 
statements or materials. 
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Bond Counsel has reviewed the statements made under the captions entitled 
"INTRODUCTION," "THE FINANCING," "THE BONDS" (except the section "Book-Entry-Only 
System"), "BOND COUNSEL'S RESPONSIBILITY," "MUNICIPAL FINANCE QUALIFYING 
STATEMENTffREASURY APPROVAL," "TAX MAITERS," and "LEGAL MArrERS." Bond 
Counsel has not been retained for review and has not reviewed any other portions of this Memorandum 
for accwacy or completeness and has not made inquiry of any official or employee of the County or any 
other person and has made no independent verification of such portions hereof, and further has not 
expressed and will not express an opinion as to any such portions hereof. 

MUNlCIP AL FINANCE QUALIFYING ST A TEMENT/TREASURY APPROVAL 

The County has filed a Qualifying Statement for the fiscaJ year ended September 30, 2012. The 
Michigan Department of Treasury has determined that the County is in materiaJ compliance with the 
criteria identified in Act 34. 

By a letter dated September 25, 2013, the Department of Treasury of the State of Michigan has 
approved the issuance of the Bonds by the County in accordance with section 518(8) of Act 34. 

TAX MATTERS 

Tax Opinions 

Not Exemptfrom Federal Tax. In the opinion of Axe & Ecklund, P.C., Bond Counsel, based on 
its examination of the documents described in its opinion, under existing law, interest on the Bonds is 
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel will express no opinion 
regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds and the interest thereon. 

Exempt from State Tax. In addition, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on its examination of 
the documents described in its opinion, under existing law, the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt 
from all taxation by the State of Michigan or any political subdivision thereof, except estate taxes and 
taxes on gains realized from the sale, payment or other disposition thereof. 

Certain Federal Tax Consequences 

There are certain additional federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and 
disposition of the Bonds. Such federal income tax consequences include, but are not limited to, matters 
related to acquisition premium, amortizable bond premium, gain or loss on disposition, marketing 
discount, infonnation reporting and backup withholding. 

Original Issue Discounl. If a Bond is issued at a discount from its stated redemption price at 
maturity, and the discount is at least the product of one-quarter of one percent (0.25%) of the stated 
redemption price at maturity of the Bond multiplied by the number offul! years to maturity, the Bond will. 
be an "OlD Bond." In general, the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity of an DID Bond over 
its issue price will constitute originaJ issue discount ("DID', for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The 
stated redemption price at maturity of a Bond is the sum of all scheduled amounts payable on the Bond 
other than qualified stated interest. The tenn "qualified stated interest" generally means stated interest 
that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of the Institution), or that 
is treated as constructively received. at least annually at a single fixed rate or, under certain conditions, at 
a variable rate. U.S. Holders of OID Bonds will be required to include OID in income for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes as it accrues, in accordance with a constant yield method based on a compounding of 
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interest (which may be· before the reCeipt of cash payments attributable to such income). Under this 
method, U.S. Holders generally will be required to include in income increasingly greater amounts of 
OlD in successive accrual periods. . 

Premium. If a Bond is issued at a price greater than the principal amount payable at maturity, a 
U.S. Holder generally will be considered to have purchased the Bond at a premiwn, and generally may 
elect to amortize the premium as an offset to interest income, using a constant-yield method, over the 
remaining term of the Bond. If a U.S. Holder makes the election to amortize the premium, it generally 
will apply to all debt instruments held by such U.S. Holder at the time of the election, as well as any debt 
instruments that are subsequently acquired by such U.S. Holder. In addition, a U.S. Holder may not 
revoke the election without the consent of the IRS. If such U.S. Holder elects to amortize the premium, 
such U.S. Holder's tax basis in the Bond will be reduced by the amount of the premium amortized during 
the holding period of the U.S. Holder. If such U.S. Holder does not elect to amortize premium, the 
amount of premium will be included in its tax basis in the Bond. 

Disposition of the Bonds. Unless a nonrecognition provision of the Code applies, the sale, 
exchange, redemption (including pursuant to an offer by the Institution), legal defeasance, or other 
disposition of a Bond will be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such event, in 
general, a U.S. Holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the amount of cash 
plus the fair market value of property received (except to the extent attributable to accrued but unpaid 
interest on the Bonds which will be taxed in the manner described above under "Interest") and (ii) the 
U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Bond. Any such gain or loss generally will be long-teno capital 
gain or loss, provided the Bond has been held for more than one year at the time of the disposition. Net 
long-tenn capital gain recognized by an individual U.S. Holder generally will be subject to tax. at a lower 
rate than net short-term capital gain or ordinary income. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to 
limitations. 

Tax Basis. Initially, the tax basis of a U.s. Holder in a Bond generally will equal the amount paid 
for the Bond by such U.S. Holder. Subsequently, the basis will increase by any amounts that such U.S. 
Holder is required or elects to include in income under the rules governing original issue discount, and 
will decrease by the amount of any amortized premium and any payments other than "qualified stated 
interest" made on the Bond. The rules for determining these amounts are discussed above. 

Informarion Reporting and Backup Withholding. The Institution or its paying agent, if any (the 
"payor") must report annually to the fRS and to each U.S. Holder any interest that is payable to the U.S. 
Holder, subject to certain exceptions. Under section 3406 of the Code and applicable Treasury 
Regulations, a non-corporate U.S. Holder of the Bonds may be subject to backup withholding with 
respect to "reportable payments," which include interest paid on the Bonds and the gross proceeds of a 
sale, exchange, redemption or retirement of the Bonds. The payor will be required to deduct and withhold 
the prescribed amounts if (i) the payee fails to furnish a taxpayer identification number ("TIN") to the 
payor in the manner required, (ii) the fRS notifies the payor that the TIN furnished by the payee is 
incorrect, (iii) there has been a "notified payee underreporting" described in section 3406(c) of the Code 
or (iv) there has been a failure of the payee to certify under penalty ofpeIjury that the payee is not subject 
to withholding under section 3406(aXIXC) of the Code. Amounts withheld under the backup 
withholding rules do not constitute an additional tax and will be credited against the U.S. Holder's federal 
income tax liability (and possibly result in a refund), so long as the required infonnation is timely 
provided to the IRS. 

Medicare Contribution Tax. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012, certain non­
corporate U.S. Holders will be subject to a 3.8% tax, in addition to regular tax on income and..gains, on 
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some or all of their "net investment income," which generally will include interest on the Bonds and any 
net gain recognized upon disposition of a Bond. 

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders 

This section describes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to Non-U.s. Holders. 

Interest. If, under the Code, interest on the Bonds is effectively connected with the conduct of a 
trade or business within the United States by a Non-U.S. Holder ("EeI"), such interest will be subject to 
U.S. federal inwme tax in a similar manner as if the Bonds were held by a U.S. Holder, as described 
above, and in the case of a Non-U.S. Holder that is a corporation, such interest may be subject to an 
additional U.S. branch profits tax at a rate of up to 30%, unless an applicable tax treaty provides 
otherwise. However, such ECI will not be subject to withholding taxes if the Non-U.S. Holder provides a 
properly executed Fonn W-SECI to the payor. 

Interest on the Bonds held by a Non-U.s. Holder that is not Eel may be subject to withholding 
taxes of up to 30% of each payment made to the Non-U.S. Holder unless the "portfolio interesf' 
exemption applies, or, as discussed below, such withholding taxes are eliminated by an applicable treaty. 
In general, such interest will qualify for the portfolio interest exemption and thus will not be subject to 
U.S. federal withholding tax., if either (A) the payor receives from the Non-U.S. Holder who is the 
beneficial owner of the obligation a statement signed by such person under penalties of perjury, on ms 
Form W-SBEN, certifying that such owner is not a U.S. Holder and providing such owner's name and 
address or (B) a securities clearing organization, bank or other financial institution that holds the Bonds 
on behalf of such Non-U.S. Holder in the ordinary course of its trade or business certifies to the payor, 
under penalties of peljury, that such an IRS Form W-SBEN has been received from the beneficial owner 
by it and furnishes the payor with a copy thereof. Alternative methods may be applicable for satisfying 
the certification requirement described above, and foreign trusts and their beneficiaries, among others, are 
subject to speciaJ rules. 

If a Non-U.S. Holder does Dot claim, or does Dot qualify for, the benefit of the portfolio interest 
exemption, the Non-U.S. Holder may be subject to a 30% withholding tax on interest payments on the 
Bonds. However, the Non-U.S. Holder may be able to claim the benefit ora reduced withholding tax rate 
under an applicable income tax treaty between the Non-U.S. Holder's country of residence and the U.S. 
The required information for claiming treaty benefits is generally submitted on Fonn W-8BEN, and a 
Non-U.S. Holder may under certain circumstances be required to obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification 
number. 

Disposition of the Bonds. A Non-U.S. Holder will generally not be subject to U.S. federal 
income tax or withholding tax on gain recognized on a sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition of 
a Bond. (Such gain does not include proceeds attributable to accrued but unpaid interest on the Bonds, 
which will be treated as interest). A Non-U.S. Holder may, however, be subject to U.S. federal income tax 
on such gain if: (I) the Non-U.S. Holder is a nonresident aJien individual who was present in the United 
States for IS3 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition; or (2) the gain constitutes ECI (in which 
case the U.S. branch profits tax may also apply), unless an applicable tax treaty provides otherwise. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. The payor must report annuaJly to the IRS and 
to each Non-U.S. Holder any interest that is subject to U.S. withholding taxes or that is exempt from U.S. 
withholding taxes pursuant to an income tax. treaty or certain provisions of the Code. Copies of these 
infonnation returns may also be made available under the provisions of a specific tax treaty or agreement 
with the tax. authorities of the country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides. 

13 



A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments 
of interest on the Bonds as long as the Non-U.S. Holder (i) has furnished to the payor a valid IRS Fonn 
W-SBEN certifying, under penalties of perjury, its status as a non-U.S. person, (ii) has furnished to the 
payor other documentation upon which it may rely to treat the payments as made to a non-U.S. person in 
accordance with Treasury regulations, or (iii) otherwise establishes an exemption. A Non-U.S. Holder 
may be subject to infonnation reporting and/or backup withholding on a sale of the Bonds through the 
United States office of a broker and may be subject to infonnation reporting (but genemlly not backup 
withholding) on a sale of the Bonds through a foreign office of a broker that has certain cormections to the 
United States, unless the Non-U.S. Holder provides the certification described above or otherwise 
establishes an exemption. 

Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be refunded or credited against the 
Non-U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, provided that the required information is 
timely furnished to the IRS. 

FATCA Withholding. Under legislation commonly referred to as the "Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act" ("FATCA"), a withholding tax of 30% is generally applied to payments of (i) interest 
on a debt obligation ofa U.S. issuer on or after January 1,2014, and (ii) gross proceeds from the sale or 
other disposition of such a debt obligation on or after January 1, 2017, in each case made to (a) a foreign 
fmancial institution (as a beneficial owner or as an intennediary), unless such institution enters into an 
agreement with the U.S. government (or is required by applicable local law) to collect and provide to the 
United States or other relevant tax authorities certain infonnation regarding U.S. account holders of such 
institution; or (b) a foreign entity that is not a financial institution (as a beneficial owner or as an 
intennediary), unless such entity provides the withholding agent wiJh a certification that it does not have 
any substantial U.S. owners or identifying its substantial U.S. owners, which genemlly includes any 
specified U.S. person that directly or indirectly owns more than a specified percentage of such entity. 
Under applicable regulations, this legislation generally will not apply to a debt obligation outstanding on 
January I, 2014, unless such debt obligation undergoes a "significant modification" (within the meaning 
of the applicable Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code) after such date. Investors are 
encouraged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the implications of this legislation and the 
applicable regulations on their investment in a Bond. 

Future Developments 

NO ASSURANCE CAN BE GIVEN TIlAT ANY SUCH FUTURE LEGISLATION, OR ANY 
ACTIONS OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE Wil..L NOT ADVERSELY AFFECT THE 
MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS. 

INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS AS TO TIlE TAX 
CONSEQUENCES OF THEIR ACQUISITION, HOLDING OR DISPOSITION OF THE BONDS AND 
TIlE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT OR PREMIUM THEREON, IF 
ANY. 

Circular 230 

The advice set forth in the opinion of Bond Counsel in this TAX MAlTERS section (a) is not 
intended or written to be used, and may not be used by any person, for the purpose of avoiding federal tax 
penalties, and (b) was written to support the promotion or marketing of the Bonds. 
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ERISA CONSIDERATIONS 

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and the Code 
generally prohibit certain transactions between employee benefit plans under ERISA or tax qualified 
retirement plans and individual retirement accounts under the Code (collectively. the "Plans'') and persons 
who, with respect to a Plan. are fiduciaries or other "parties in interest" within the meaning of ERISA or 
"disqualified persons" within the meaning of the Code. In addition, each fiduciary of a Plan ("Plan 
Fiduciary,) must give appropriate consideration to the facts and circumstances that are relevant to an 
investment in the Bonds, including the ro les that such an investment in the Bonds would play in the 
Plan's overall investment portfolio. Each Plan Fiduciary, before deciding to invest in the Bonds, must be 
satisfied that such investment in the Bonds is a prudent investment for the Plan. that the' investments of 
the Plan, including the investment in the Bonds. are diversified so as to minimize the risk of large losses 
and that an investment in the Bonds complies with the documents of the Plan and related trust, to the 
extent such documents are consistent with ERISA. All Plan Fiduciaries, in consultation with their 
advisors, should carefully consider the impact of ERISA and the Code on an investment in any Bond. 
including the applicability of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA 
and the Code or similar laws to such investment. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the 
approval of Axe & Ecklund. P.C .• Grosse Ponte Fanns. Michigan, Bond Counsel. 

PLACEMENT OF BONDS 

The Bonds will be placed by The Huntington Investment Company with the County Treasurer for 
the price of par. Bond Counsel will not express any opinion concerning the investment quality of the 
Bonds. or the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of any offering material relative to the Bonds. 

OTHER MATTERS 

All information contained in this Memorandum is subject, in all respects, to the complete body of 
information contained in the original source thereof and no guaranty. warranty or other representation is 
made concerning the accuracy or completeness of such information. In particular, no opinion or 
representation is rendered as to whether any projection will approximate actual results, and all opiriions, 
estimates and assumptions, whether or not expressly identified as such, should not be considered 
statements offact 

This Memorandum has been duly executed and delivered by the County. 

C~~~~~====~ 
By n 
Its: County Executive 
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Introduction 

EXHIBIT A 

GENERAL AND ECONOMIC 
INFORMATION REGARDING THE COUNTY 

Oakland County continues to be a great place to live. work. shop and establish your business. The County is a 
special place to live where families enjoy a quality of life that is second to none and where business grows and 
prospen. From 2007 to 2012 the County's taxable value for real and personal property contracted with the economy 
for an average annual decrease of 4.78%. With only 3.9% of taxable valuation coming from the ten largest 
taxpayers, the County continues to have a well-diversified tax base. 

Residential developments in the County include some of the finest in the State. The median sales price of a single 
family home was $129,658 in 2012. Nearly 90% of the county's residential development since the start of2009 bas 
been single-family units, compared to 73% for the entire Southeast Michigan region. Nearly 30010 of new residential 
construction in the region has been in Oakland County since 2009. 

The unemployment rate for both Oakland County and the State of Michigan averaged 9.1% in 2012. Oakland 
County did experience some job loss due to manufacturing reorganization in 2006 but is expecting consistent job 
growth for the next several years due to our skilled and educated workers and a best in class economic 
diversification strategy, including Automation Alley. Emerging Sectors, and Medical Main Street featuring the new 
William Beaumont/Oakland University Medical SchooL 

Despite some economic challenges Oakland County remains among the most prosperous county economies in the 
nation, ranking number three for counties of the same size. Our goal is to ensure Oakland County and its work force 
continues to thrive today and tomorrow as a premier technology hub and Oakland County maintains the coveted 
AAA bond rating thanks to sound fiscal stewardship and a 3-year budget balanced through 2016. 

Oakland County has the highest level of personal income peT capita of the major labor markets in Michigan. The 
estimated per capita income of Oakland County residents in 20 II was $53,297. Oakland County ranked 10th in per 
capita income in 2011 for counties with populations greater than one million. 

SoW'ce: OalrJand County Department of Planning and Economic Development 

The County 

The County is a public corporation created under the Constitution and Stamtes of the State of Michigan. and has 
general governmental powers and authority. Under Act 206, the Treasurer of the County is the officer responsible 
for the collection of delinquent real property taxes returned to the County as unconected on March I of any year. In 
addition, the County Treasurer is responsible for the application of the borrowing proceeds and the preservation of 
the security related to these funds. The County uses a modified accrual basis for accounting purposes. 

Form of Government 

The 21 member Board of Commissioners is the governing and legislative body of the County and is elected from 
districts for two (2) year terms. The County Executive is the chief administrative officer of the County and is elected 
for a four (4) year tenn. 

The County Executive is responsible for the overall supervision of all County departments, except those headed by 
other elected officials. The County Executive also has veto powers over any ordinance or resolution adopted by the 
Board of Commissionen including appropriating ordinances, which may be over ridden by a 213 vote of all 
members elected and serving on the County Board of Commissioners. 
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County Budget Process 

Conservative Budget Practices. The County's budgetary practices encourage favorable variances against actual 
operations. The County conservatively budgets for all authorized positions at full funding. regardless of whether 
they are filled or not. In doing so, vacancies arising from turnover, transfers or separation from County employment 
provide departments latitude in operating flexibility. Favorable variances are created as a financial management 
strategy and are relied upon to ensure that the General Fund equity (and other equities throughout the County) is 
maintained. 

MUltiple-Year Budgeting. After years of preparing and managing an operating budget for two-year periods of time, 
in 2009, the County expanded its budget practices to a trienrual budget. The current County Executive 
Recommended Triennial Budget is balanced through FY 2016. On August 22, 2013, the Finance Committee of the 
Board of Commissioners unanimously approved the FY -2014 to FY -20 16 operating budgets and recommended their 
passage at a Board of Commissioners meeting to be held on September 19,2013. The County maintains the 
triennial budget with periodic amendments. Each new program or action is considered for the current year and the 
subsequent two years on a line-item basis. 

Dynamic Budgeting. The County continually monitors budget and supplementary data, including real estate trends, 
foreclosure data and other infonnation which impacts County Revenue. This data is continually evaluated to 
determine long-tenn budget trends and to adjust current budgets. 

Operating and Other Reserves. The County's long-range strategic financial plan shows the County maintaining a 
minimum of 20% of its annual operating expenditures in reserve through fiscal year 2016. The County also has a 
fonnally expressed policy of maintaining at least $200,000,000 in its delinquent tax revolving fund. 

Additional information on the County's budget is available at: 

http://www Qakgov.comJexeclPageslbudgetldefault.aspx. 

County Location, Transportation and Character 

The County of Oakland is located in the southeast portion of Michigan's Lower Peninsula. The County covers an 
area of 91 0 square miles, which includes 30 cities, 10 villages and 21 townships. Within the county there are more 
than 5 riven;, 1,400 lakes, 900 miles of shoreline, and numerous small streams. There are approximately 82 private 
and public golf courses, including Groveland Oaks, the fIrSt park in Michigan to be environmentally certified by the 
Michigan Twfgrass Environmental Stewardship Program, which attracts many businesses and residents to Oakland 
County. 

Oakland (County) International Airpon is capable of accommociatingjets as large as a 727 and is home base for over 
800 corporate and general aviation aircraft.. It is the world's sixth busiest general aviation airport and is the second 
busiest airport in Michigan with approximately 333,000 aircraft flying in and out each year. In 1996 the airpon 
opened a full time U.S. customs office and expanded the airpon to international commerce, tripling the amount of 
international flights to over 1,200 flights per year. The airport contributes over $150 million to the County's 
economy each year. 

Detroit Metropolitan Airrort CDIW),located 18 miles south of the County, offen; direct and connecting flights daily 
to nearly everywhere in the world. With more than 31 million passenge~ each year, Detroit Metropolitan Airport is 
one of the busiest airports in the United States. As the second.largest bub and primary Asian gateway for Delta, the 
world's largest airline. DTW serves as the SkyTeam Alliance's major Midwestern hub. With two new passenger 
terminals, 145 gates, six jet runways and two modem Federallnspection Services facilities for international arrivals 
it is one of the newest, most operationally-capable and efficient airports in North America. 
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Oakland County and the sUlTOWlding area is free ofto11 roads. 

The Pon of Detroit located south of the County (in 
Wayne County), serves as Southeast Michigan's link 10 

the Great Lakes, the Sl Lawrence Seaway and the world. 
An international port of entry with full U.S. Customs 
Service and a Free Trade Zone, enhancing the area's 
attractiveness to fo~ign manufacturers. Detroit is ranked 
third in exports (based on dollar value) after Los Angeles 
and New York. 

Roads and Highways· Major investments in widening 
and in upgrades to many Interchanges along the 87 miles 
of interstate freeways serving Oakland County continue 
to be made. Interstate 7S and 1·275 link the area with the 
states of Ohio, Kentucky, Termessee, Georgia and 
Florida; and 1·94, 1·96 and 1·696, Major east/west 
freeways in the state, link east to Canada and west 
through Chicago. 

Rai l SeNce - CSX otTers c1ass-one industriaVcommercial freight shipping from Wixom, Michigan to Detroit or 
Chicago. Canadian National Railway operates ciass-one industrial/commercial freight shipping from Binningham, 
Michigan to Detroit or Windsor, Ontario. Amtrak Passenger Rail Service has stations in the Michigan cities of 
Birmingham, Pontiac, and Royal Oak for trains traveling to Chicago Union Station and points in between. 

Residential With more than 5,500 new construction permits since the start of2009, the highest total in the seven· 
county Southeast Michigan region, Oakland County continues to post strong numbers in residential development. 
The estimated median housing value ofa single family home in Oakland County was $163,900 in 2011. 

Conunerciai - While new development has slowed across the region, there are still multiple major projects 
progressing in Oakland County, including the Adams Marketplace (Rochester Hilh), the new Oakland University 
William Beaumont School of Medicine, and a significant redevelopment to the Old Orchard Shopping Center (West 
Bloomfield Township). 

Agriculture • Agriculture has been declining steadily due to fann property being converted into residential, 
commerciaJ and industrial sites, but remains an important part of the county's economic diversification strategy. 

Retail ActIvity The County is home to an extensive collection of malls and shopping centers ranging from small 
village malls and popular local downtown shopping districts, to multi·floor regionaJ malls found in most major 
cities. From luxury retailers at Somerset Collection to value-oriented stores at Great Lake Crossing. Oakland County 
offers shopping to meet the needs of residents and visitors alike. 

Coroorate . More than 60 perccnt of Fortune 500 companies do business in Oakland County, increasing 14 percent 
in two years. Of the Fortune Global 500 companies, 57 percent have business locations in Oakland County. 

Oakland County continues to lead all Michlgan counties in the number of business incorporating and fonning in the 
state. Of the total new incorpomtions that took place in Michigan, Oakland County had 26 percent. Oakland County 
also has the state's largest number of business proprietorships and partnerships. 

Hotels-Motels - Oakland County has 96 hotels and motels with 20 or more rooms, including the Townsend of 
Birmingham and Somerset Inn of Troy. Several new hoteVmotel properties are under construction and should be 
available in the very near future. 

Source: Oakland COJU/ty Department of Planning and &onomic DfNelopmenr Comtruction 
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Office Buildings - Nearly seven million square feet of floor space has heen completed in Oakland County since the 
start of 2007, accounting for 21% of Southeast Michigan's total nonresidential development. According to real 
estate brokerage firm Grubb & Ellis, office lease and vacancy rates in Oakland County sub-markets remain 
competitive with the rest of metro Detroit Birmingham sub-market has the lowest vacancy rates in the region at 
1.7%. 

Industrial & Research Parks - Oakland Teclmology Park, located in Aubwn Hills, is one of the top five research 
parks in the nation in size. Chrysler Group. LLC's $ 1 billion R&D headquarters and $1.4 billion corporate world 
headquarters is located on 500 acres just outside the Tech park. Electronic Data Syslems, Comerica Bank, World 
Computer, ITT Automotive and other major firms are located in this Tech Park. Oakland County leads all Michigan 
counties with more than 240 business parks totaling more than 10,000 acres. 

Source: Us. Census Bureau and Dodge Local Construction Potentials/or non-residential projects Utilities 

All of southern Oakland County buys water from the City of Detroit. When projects now underway are completed, 
the City of Detroit will treat all of southern Oakland County's sewage (other than that of the City of Pontiac). Maj or 
drainage systems have been and are being built in the County. Following is a list of the Utility Suppliers for Oakland 
County: 

E lectricity: 

Natural Gas: 

W a t e r : 

Sew er : 

Popula tion 

Supplier 
Supplier 

Supplier 
Supplier 
Supplier 

Supplier 
Source 

Supplier 

System Types 

Detroit Edison 
Consumers Power 

Consumers Energy 
MichCon 
Semco Energy 

Detroit Water and Sewer System Community and P rivate Wells 
Lake Huron 
Ground Water from Wells 

Detroit Water & Sewer System 
Community Water Treatment Facilities and Septic Fields 
Separa te Sto rm and Sanitary Community Treatment Facilities 

Oakland County's 2010 Census population was estimated to be over 1,202,326. The county ranks 32nd in 
population of all U.S. counties. Oakland County is also projected to have the largest actual population gain in the 
metro Detroit area with a gain of 122,280 new residents by 2035 . 

Table 1 - Population T rends, 1960 - 2010 

Yea r 
1~60 

1970 
1980 
1990 
2000 
2010 
2012 

POl!ulation 
6S0,259 
907,871 

1,011,793 
1,083,592 
1,194,156 
1,202,635 
1,220,657 

St:mrC£S: u.s. Depar1nunt ojComm£rct., Buuou of/he Census Bureau 

A-4 

-J. ChnKe 

39.62% 
11.45 
7.10 

10.20 
0.71 
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Education 

There are 28 school districts in Oakland County, all offering preschool programs and a11 but one providing childcare 
or latchkey services. Newsweek rated the International Academy in Bloomfield Hills number 25 in the nation's top 
100 U.S. high schools. Also listed as being in the top 6% of high schools in the country are 16 other public high 
schools from 9 different school districts. 

In the fall of 2006 Oakland County launched a Mandarin Chinese language program in four school districts. Today, 
all school districts in Oakland County and 3 consortium schools offer this language program. 

Thirty institutions of higher learning with a total enrollment of over 100,000 are located in the County. The largest 
public degree.granting institutions headquartered in Oakland County are Oakland University, OakJand Comnnmity 
College, M·Tech and Lawrence Technological University. Over 75% of Michigan's schools offer dual-.enrollment 
programs which give high school students the opportunity to earn college credits. The national average of schools 
offering dual-.enrollment is only 65%. 

Oakland Unlversjty . The Schools of Management and Engineering work with industrial firms in developing 
personnel versed in manufacturing tecbnologies and technology development processes, and management. The 
university's faculty consuJts with many industrial firms and facilitates 00 the transfer of technology between the 
University and the business community. The new William Beaumont/Oakland University Scbool of Medicine is a 
game changing development for Oaldand University, Oakland County, and the practice of medicine. 

Oakland CommunitY College· Approximately 24,000 students anend this mUlti-campus college specializing in 
technical and vocational education. To lead a consortium of educational institutions in Oakland County and 
Southeastern Michigan to support the Emerging Sectors initiative Oakland Community College was given $285,000 
in federal appropriations. 

Lawrence Techooloitical UDiversitv - One of the Midwest's le~ing technical schools, Lawrence's engineering, 
architecture, business and industrial management and associate studies graduate 1,000 students yearly. 

Other Educational Institutions - Central Michigan University, Wayne State University and Michigan State University 
have graduate studies and progrnms in the County. Wayne State University opened a 100,000 square foot continuing 
education center in Farmington Hills in 1995; Wayne State University consolidated several satellite facilities in 
operation throughout the County. Walsh College concentrates on business and accounting education as does Baker 
College. 

The main campuses of the University of Michigan, Wayne State University and Michigan State University are 
approximately 20 to 90 miles from the County. These are major centers of research. Each university has institutes 
established for the purpose of providing technology research, development and transfer to the business sector for 
economic development. The Polymer Institute is located at the University of Detroit, less than two miles from the 
southern border of the County. 

Source: Oakland County Department of Planning and Economic Development 

Job Growth 

The Oakland County economy is now in its fourth year of recovery since the recession's low point at the end of 
2009. To date, the recovery has been red-hot, adding almost 48,000 jobs in the past two years, a growth rate of 3.8 
percent per year. The strongest growth has come from the high-wage component of the work force. The recovery is 
forecast to continue with an accelerating pace over the next three years adding 11,581 jobs this year, 13,325 jobs in 
2014, and 16,688 in 2015 - an average gain of2.1 percent per year. 

The county's economic base continues to diversify since the Emerging Sectors strategy was put into place. Since its 
implementatioo in 2004, Oakland County has seen more than 13,000 existing jobs retained, 29,000 jobs created, 240 
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companies attracted or retained, and produced nearly $64 million in property taxes from the targeted industries. The 
program has resulted in more than S2.s billion of new investment within the co~ty. 

Source: Oakland County Department of Planning and &onomic Development 

Industrial and High Technology . 

Companies believe that if you are a part of the automotive industry, you must have a presence in southeast 
Michigan, and preferably Oakland County. Certainly research and development organizations continue to select 
Oakland County as one-third of all Michigan's R&D facilities are located in Oakland County. Automation Alley, 
founded in Oakland County and headquartered in Troy, is Southeast Michigan's leading technology business 
association. The organization fosters growth and economic development and is home to more than 311,000 
technology works and 7,800 technology businesses from a variety of industries, and to help communities make the 
transition from a manufacturing economy to a knowledge economy, Oakland County has developed the Technology 
Planning Toolkit. This relates global economic trends with local actionable items. 

Source: OakJand County Department of Planning and Economic Development 

Foreign Investment 

Over 720 businesses representing 36 foreign parent companies doing business in Michigan are located in Oakland 
County. Sixty-seven percent of all foreign owned finDs in southeastern Michigan are in Oakland County. 

County Tax Rates 

In August, 1978, the voters of Oakland COlmty approved, as part of County wide fixed millage, a maximum millage 
of 55.26 per 51,000, subject to Headlee Amendment reductions. The maximum authorized operating millage for 
20 12, after the Headlee reduction, is 4.2240 mills. See "Tax Rate Limitation" section. 

Tahle l - County Tn Rateos (in mills) 51.001$1,000 orTu able Valuat ion 

2012 lOll 2010 2009 200S 2007 2006 

Operating 4.1900 4.1900 4.1900 4.1900 4.1900 4.1900 4.1900 

Parks & Recreation 0.2415 0.2415 0.2415 0.2415 0.2415 0.2415 0.2415 

Huron Clinton Authority 0.2146 0.2146 0.2146 0.2146 0.2146 0.2146 0.2146 

Zoo Authority 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000 0.0000 0.0000 0._ 0.0000 

Arts Authority 0.2000 0._ 0.0000 0._ 0.0000 0._ 0.0000 

To,," 4.9461 4.7461 4.7461 4.6461 4.6461 4.646 1 4.6461 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 

Tax Rate L imitation 

Article IX, Section 6, of the Michigan Constitution of 1963 provides. in part: 

"Except as otherwise provided in this ConstinJtion, the total amount of general ad valorem taxes 
imposed upon real and tangible personal property for all purposes in anyone year shall not exceed 
15 mills on each dollar of the assessed valuation of pro pert)' as final\y equalized.~ 

2005 
4.1900 

0.2415 

0.2146 

0._ 

0.0000 

4.6461 

Section 6 further provides that by a majority vote of qualified electors of the County, the 15 mill limitation may be 
increased to a total of not to exceed 18 mills, and the millage of the local units involved shall then be permanently 
flXed within that greater millage li.m.itation. 
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Act 62, Public Acts of Michigan, 1933, as amended, defmes local units as counties, townships, villages, cities, 
school districts, community college districts, intermediate school districts, districts and other organizations or 
districts which may be established with the power to levy taxes, except villages and cities for which there are 
provisions in their charters or general law fixing maximum limits on the power to levy taxes against property. 

The County voted in 1978 to fix millage rates punuant to Section 6 of the 1963 Michigan Constitution and eliminate 
the Tax Allocation Board. The fixed rates are as follows (per 51,000 of equalized valuation); 

Unit of Government 
Arly School District 
County of oakland 
Arly Township 
Oakland County Intermediate School District 
Total Millage Rate 

Millage Rate 
9.54 
52. 
1.41 

~ 
16.46 

In addition, Article lX, Section 6, pennits the levy of millage in excess of the above for: 

I. All deht service on tax supported notes issued prior to December 23, 1978 or tax supported 
issues which have been approved hy the voters for which the issuer has pledged its full faith 
and credit. 

2. Operating purposes for a specified period of time provided that such increased millage is 
approved by a majority of the qualified electors of the local unit. 

County Operating Tax Collection Record 

Table 3 - Collection Record orCounty'S Tax Levy, 2002 - 2012 

Collections Plus 
Year of Collections to March 1 or Dtlinqutllt Tax 

TuLevy Tu Levy. Each Levy Year Amount" Percent Funding Percent 

2012 5201,724,853 $189,692,721 94.04% 100.00% 

20tl 206.524,166 198,931,022 96.32 100.00 

2010 223,423,778 214,041,473 95.80 100.00 

2009 253,987,318 241,943,443 95.26 100.00 

2008 262,899,380 251,050,564 95.49 100.00 
2007 262,814,606 251,354,868 95.64 100.00 
2006 252,400,473 241,012,2' 1 9'.49 100.00 

200' 238,685,067 227,704,0'6 95.40 100.00 

2004 227.583,190 214,916,156 94.43 100.00 
2003 216,173,657 204,777,7)7 94.73 100.00 
2002 206,294,411 194,663,962 94.36 100.00 

, Includes real and personal property taxes. 
" Reflects only real property delinquency and assumes 100% collection of personal property taxes. 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 

Prior to 1997, the County's fiscal year began on January I" and ended on December 31". Starting in 1997, the 
County's Fiscal Year started on October I"' ended on September 306

. Taxes are due December I, and become 
delinquent the following March 1. The County has issued General Obligation Limited Tax Notes and established a 
100% Tax Payment Fund at the County level, and after March I", the County pays, from the 100% Tax Payment 
Fund, all delinquent real property taxes from all municipalities in the County. The fund does not cover personal, 
buildings on leased land, DNR-Pll.T, or tax abated property taxes. Delinquent personal property taxes are 
negligible, and therefore, 100% Tax CoUections are reported above. 
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Table 4 -Collection Record of County Wide Tax Levy. 2002 - 2012 

Collections Plus 
Year or Collections to Martb 1 or Delinquent Tax 

Tax Levy TaJ: Levy* Eacb Levy Year Amount" Percent Funding Percent 

2012 $2,155,447,277 $2,059,602,174 95.55% 100.00-/0 

2011 2,196,145,824 2,081,982,974 94.80 100.00 
2010 2,3 17,084,920 2,179,375,143 94.06 100.00 
2009 2,552,222,639 2,388,595,610 93.59 100.00 
2008 2,608,706,372 2,451,081,244 93.96 100.00 
2007 2,655,538,647 2,505,486,055 94.34 100.00 
2006 2,557,038,960 2,423,216,598 94.77 100.00 
2005 2,431,651,204 2,320,949,348 95.45 100.00 
2004 2,328,575,713 2,211,018,004 94.95 100.00 
2003 2,146,982,204 2,041,180,799 95.07 100.00 
2002 2,100,018,728 1,991,919,012 94.85 100.00 

• Includes real and personal property taxes . 
.. Reflects onJy real property delinquency and assumes 100% collection of personal property taxes. 

Source: OakJandCounJ}! Treaswer 

Property Subject to Taxation 

The State Constitution limits the proportion of true cash value at which property can be uniformly assessed to 50% or 
less. By statute, the state Legislature has provided that the property shall be assessed at 50% of its true cash value. 
The state Legislature or the electorate may at some future time reduce the percentage below the present 50% of true 
cash value. 

Responsibility for assessing local taxable property rests with the assessing officm of cities, villages, and tomlShips. 
Any property owner may appeal his or ber assessment to the local Board of Review and ultimately to the Michigan 
Stale Tax Tribunal. 

The State Constitution also mandates a system of equalization for assessments. Although the assessors for each local 
unit of govenunent are responsible for actually assessing at 50C'A, of true cash value, the final state equalized 
assessment against whicb local property tax rates are applied is derived through several steps. County equalization is 
brought sOOut by adjustments of the various local unit assessment ratios to the same levels; thereafter, the State 
equalizes the various counties in re lation to each other. 

On March 15, 1994, the electors of the State approved an amendment to the Michigan Constitution, limiting the 
increase in taxable value of property in any year, commencing 1995, to 5% or the rate of inflation, whichever is less, 
until ownership of the property is transferred at which time the assessment reverts to 50% of the true cash value of 
the property. as equalized. The effect of this assessment cap will be that different parcels of property will be taxed 
on different percentages of their cash value. The legislation implementing this constitutional amendment adds a new 
measure of property value for property taxes levied after 1994, known as taxable value. For the year 1995, the 
taxable value of property is based on the state equalized value (SEV) of that property in 1994. For each year after 
1994, increases in the taxable value of property are limited by the constitutional assessment cap or the percentage 
change in the SEV of such property from the prior year until the transfer of ownership of the property at which time 
the taxable value shall be the property's SEV. 
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Industrial Facilities Tn 

The Michigan Plant Rehabilitation and Industrial Development District Act (Act 198, Public Acts of Michigan, 
1974, as amended), provides significant tax incentives to industry to renovate and expand aging plants and to build 
new plants in Michigan. Under the provisions of Act 198, qualifying cities, villages and townships may establish 
districts in which industria! firms are offered certain property tax incentives to encourage restoration or replacement 
of obsolete industrial facilities and to attract new plants to the area. The issuance of any exemption certificate must 
be approved by the State Treasurer. Firms situated in such districts pay an Industrial Facilities Tax in lieu of 
property taxes on plant and equipment for a period of up to 12 years. For rehabil itated plant and equipment, the 
assessed value is frozen at previous levels. New plant and equipment is taxed at one-half the current millage rate. It 
must be emphasized, however, that ad valorem property taxes on land and inventory are not reduced in any way 
since both land and inventory are specifically excluded under Act 198. For abatements granted prior to January I , 
1994, new plant and equipment is taxed at one halftbe current millage rate, except for mills levied for local and 
intermediate school operating purposes or lUlder the State Education Tax Act, plus one·half of the number of mills 
levied for school operating purposes in 1993. For abatements granted after 1993, new plant and equipment is taxed 
at one-half of the total mills levied as ad valorem taxes by aU taxing units, except mills levied under the State 
Education Tax Act. For abatements granted after 1993, the State Treasurer may also permit abatement of one·half of 
the mills levied under the Stale Education Act. Abatements under Act 198 have been granted to properties in the 
County with a total 2013 taxable valuation of $251,993,436 for real and personal property. The total number of 
parcels with exemptions in 2013 under Act 198 within the County is 270. 

Others 

The Obsolete Properties Tax (Act 146, Public Acts of Michigan, 2000) provides partial property tax abatements to 
property owners on the value of improvements made to certain types of commercial and residential properties. 
Currently, the City of Pontiac is the only community in Oakland County to utilize this tax abatement. 

The Taxation of Lessees or Users of Tax-exempt Property Act (Act 189, Public Acts of Michigan, 1953) states thal 
if real property exempt for any reason from ad valorem property taxation is leased, loaned, or otherwise made 
available to and used by a private individual, association, or corporation in connection with a business conducted for 
profit, the lessee or user of the real property is subject to taxation in the same amount and to the same extent as 
though the lessee or user owned the real property. The total number oflessees or users in 2012 under Act 189 within 
the County was 868. 

Source: Ooldand County Treaswer 

Largest TRlpayen 

The 10 largest taxpayers in the County and their June 30, 2012 taxable valuations are: 

Table 5 - Ten Largest TRlpayen 

TRlpayer 

Detroit Edison 
Chrysler Group, LLC 
General Motors 
Consumers PowerlEnergy 
Taubman 
FrankellForbeslCohn 
International Transmission 

Raroco·Gershenson 
Comcast 
Holtzman & Silverman 

Total 

Tanble Valuation 

$422,258,265 
252,006,277 
237,369,915 
207,961,5 15 

123,192,338 
121,435,922 
93,147,480 
90,284,530 
77,158,287 

75,574,925 

$1,700,389,454 

Note: The taxable values have been compiled from a number of sourceslreporu and may include estimated figures. 

Source: Oakland County Equalization Department 
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Major Employers 

The 25 largest employers in the County and number of employees in 2012: 

Table 6- Twenty.Flve Largest Employers In the County 

Employer Name 
William Beaumont Hospital 
Chrysler Group 
General Motors Cmp. 
Trinity Health Michigan 
Henry Ford Health Systems 
Sl John Providence Health System 
U.S. Postal Service 
Oakland County Government 
Flagstar Bancorp Inc. 
Botsford Health Care 
Oakland University 
Comerica Bank 
Detroit Medical Center 
Lear Corporation 
Walled Lake Consolidated Schools 
J.P. Morgan Chase &'Co. 
Crittenlon Hospital Medical Center 
Fannington Public Schools 
Huron Valley Schools 
Rochester Community Schools 
Comau Inc. 
KeUy Services Inc. 
Delphi Automotive 
State of Michigan 
U.S. Government 

Approximate Number 
of Employees 

11,683 
10,172 
8,550 
5,966 
4,740 
4,211 
3,359 
3,215 
2,724 
2,665 
2,102 
2,001 
1,601 
1,587 
1,543 
1,456 
1,423 
1,403 
1,387 
1,381 
1,320 
1,306 
1,277 
1,195 
1,143 

Source: OakJand County Department of Planning and &onomic DfNelopment 

Labor Force 

The 2012 number of private employees totaled nearly 615,000. The Wlemployment rate for both Oakland County 
and the State of Michigan averaged 9.1% in 2012. 

Source: State of Michigan, Department of Technology, Management & Budget 

Table 7 - Unemployment History In the County - Calendar Year 2013 

Total Work Percent 
Montb F,,,, Unemployment Unemployed 

January 580,609 54,002 9.3% 
February 581,568 49,241 8.' 
March 582,813 48,526 8.3 

April 578,893 43,344 7.' 
M,y 592,417 46,305 7.8 

June 602,993 54,491 9.0 

July 607,445 53,197 8.8 

Source: State of Michigan, Department of Technology, Management & Budget 
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Table 8 - Unemployment History in tbe County, 2002-2012 (Annual Averages) 

Tobl Work Pen:ent 
Year Forte Unemployment Unemployed 

2012 587,709 53,238 9.1% 

2011 587,052 59,642 10.2 

2010 593,885 73,840 12.4 

2009 604,595 77,951 12.9 

2008 613,026 43,193 7.0 

2007 625,367 38,053 6. 1 

2006 630,834 36,365 '.8 

200' 636,891 36,495 '.7 

2004 640,110 36,132 '.6 
2003 644,545 35,709 ,,, 
2002 652,571 34,183 '.2 

Source: State of Michigan, Department of Technology, Management &: Budget 

Table 9 - Unemployment History In the State ofMkhigan, 2002-2012 (Annual Averages) 

Total Work Pertent 
Year Force Unemployment Unemployed 

2012 4,657,000 426,000 9.1% 

2011 4,676,000 486,000 lOA 

2010 4,750,000 602,000 12.7 

2009 4,853,000 651,000 1304 

2008 4,961,000 409,000 8.3 

2007 5,034,000 356,000 7.1 

2006 5,072,000 349,000 6.' 

200' 5,063,000 346,000 6.8 

2004 5,043,~ 356,000 7.1 

2003 5,033,000 358,000 7.1 

2002 5,040,000 315,000 6.2 

Source: State of Michigan, Department of Technology, Management &: Budget 
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Income 

Per capita personal income was S53,297 in 2011. In 2011, Oakland County ranked lOth in per capita 
income for counties with populations greater than one million. 

Table 10 · Per Capita Personal Income in Oakland County, 2000-2011 

y,,,, Per Capltl Income 

2011 S53,297 

2010 49,132 

2009 47,764 

2008 53,576 

2007 53,512 

2006 52,347 

200S 51 ,099 

2004 49,799 

2003 48,949 

2002 47,714 

2001 47,012 

2000 46,689 

Source: Us. Department a/Commerce, Bureau a/Economic Analysis 

County Labor Contracts 

As of January 2013, Oakland County had 3,505 full and part time positions of which 2,536 are 
represented by 8 certified bargaining units. 

There are no current labor problems which might have a material effect upon Oakland County. 

Table 11 - Oakland County Employees Represented by Bargaining Unit 

Number of 
County Employee Group Positions Contract Expiration Date 

Sheriff's Law Enforcement 33. 913012015 

Corrections and Services 381 913012015· 

Sheritrs Command Officers 103 913012016" 

Children's Village Employees 131 9/3012013" · 

Family Court Employees 86 9/3012013"· 

Prosecutor's Investigators 7 9/300013'" 

Oakland County Employees Union 303 9/3012015 

Public Health Nurses ---2! 913012013" 

1,436 

tTht County has negotiated a tentative two-year agreement through 913012015, however, it still needs to be 
presented to the Board of Commissioners. 

"The County has negotiated a tentative three-year agreement through 9/30/16, however, it still needs to be 
presented to the Board of Commissioners . 

.. tlnNegotiation 

Source: Oakland County Personnel Department. 
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Major Corporations 

Oakland County is host to Major Corporate Headquarters and Major Regional Division Offices. Here is a listing of 
those doing business in Oakland County. 

Table 12 - Companies With Major Corporate or Regional Division Offices in OakJand County 

Company 

Chrysler Group, LLC 
Lear Corporation 
Penske Automotive Group 
Robert Bosch, LLC 
Trinity Health 
BorgWamer, Inc. 
Federal-Mogul Corporation 
Guardian Industries Corporation 
Delphi Corporation 
Kelly Services, Inc. 
Meritor, Inc. 
Fiat North America, LLC 
Cooper-Standard Holdings, Inc. 
Flagstar Bancorp, Inc. 
Denso International America, Inc. 
Toyada Gosei North America Corporation 
BALFOR USA Group, Inc. 
ITC Holdings Corporation 
Taubman Centers, Inc. 
Valeo, Inc. 

Source: Dun & Bradstreet 

Revenue Sharing from the State of Michigan 

2011 Sa les (mil1ion~) 

$65,784.0 
14,567.0 
13,163.5 
9,800.0 
8,900.9 
7,183.2 
6,664.0 
5,600.0 
5,495.0 
5,450.5 
4,4 18.0 
4 ,358.1 
2,880.9 
1,758.5 
1,512.9 

913.2 
910.7 
830.5 
748.0 
687.8 

The County receives revenue sharing payments from the State of Michigan under the State Constitution and the 
State Revenue Sharing Act of 1971, as amended (the "Revenue Sharing Act''). 

The State's fiscal year begins October 1 of each year and end September 30 of the following calendar year. Before 
the State's 1996·97 fiscal year, the State shared revenues received from personal income tax, intangibles tax, sales 
tax and single business tax collections with counties, cities, townships and villages. In 1996, the State legislature 
began reform of both the formula for distribution of Slate revenue sharing and the designated sources of revenue to 
be shared. At that time, the State expressly designated the revenues of the sales tax as the sole source for' revenue 
sharing. 

Act Nos. 356 and 357, Public Acts of Michigan, 2004 signed into law on September 30, 2004 made a number of 
changes. The most important change is a movement of the county fixed or al located millage from December I to July 
I. This movement occurs transitionally beginning in 2004 and is complete in July of 2007. In addition, a special 
Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund ("RSRF') was established and used to reduce the State's obligation to pay revenue 
sharing to counties. The Michigan Legislature approved proposal replacing revenue sharing allows counties to 
collect part of their millage earlier in the year thereby advancing their cash flows. 

The Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund can be drawn on by counties to replace the revenue sharing payments which 
they would have otherwise received from the State. 
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The impact on revenue sharing varies widely from county to county. In Oakland County revenue sharing 
distnbutions from the State will resume in 2015. 

Tax Collection and Levy Date for County Fixed or Allocated Millage 

The money which is generated by a cash flow shift which will accelerate the collection of county fixed or allocated 
mil\age. All counties collect a hase tax (which is, of course, reduced by Headlee rollbacks and limited by Proposal A 
caps) which is either fixed by a vote of the county voters or allocated to the county by a tax allocation board. In 
addition. counties have a right to vote extra millages for various purposes for up to 20 years. TIllS PROPOSAL 
DOES NOT APPLY TO EXTRA VOTED TAXES WIDCH CONTINUE TO BE LEVIED AND COLLECTED ON 
DECEMBERl. 

Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund ("RSRF"') 

Owing fiscal 2005, the State revised the property tax calendars for counties. In doing so, it created a substantial and 
pennanent future cash flow hole for Michigan counties from December I to June 30th each year. Oakland has yet to 
experience this cash flow hole as its Revenue Sharing Trust Fund (RSTF). collected a full year's property tax 
revenue for the RSTF escrow fund over a three year period. By law, this fund is to be bled down at a pace ofroughly 
$25 million annually as a means to "cover" the revenue sharing payment that the State no longer makes to Oakland 
County. 

Resumption of Adual Revenue Sharing Payments 

The statutory guarantee to counties to receive revenue sharing payments from the State remain in full force and 
effect. 

However, the payments to an individual county shall be reduced by the amount the individual county is able to 
withdraw in money from the RSRF. Once the money in the RSRF of any individual county is depleted, the State is 
supposed to immediately resume its obligation to make revenue sharing payments. 

Purchasers of the Bonds offered berein should be al"rt to further modifh:atloDs to revenue sbaring paymenu 
to Michigan local government units. to the potential consequent impact upon the County's general fund 
condition, and to the potential impact upon the market price or marketability of the Bonds resulting from 
cha nges in revenues received by the County from the State. 
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Pensions 

M of June 30, 2013, the County's market value of pension assets was 5740.6 million and the estimated actuarial 
accrued liabilities of its pension system according to its September 30, 2012 actuarial reports was $737.8 million, 
meaning the County estimates that its assets exceed liabilities by 52.8 million. 

The following data is taken from the latest actuarial report prepared by Gabrie~ Roeder, Smith & Company as of 
September 30, 2012: 

Table 13 - Oakland County Employees Retirement System - Present F inancial Report 

General Command Corrections 
Coun;t Officers Road Deputies Deputies Total 

A. Present Value of Future Benefit Payments 
I. For Retirees and beneficiaries 
a. Pension and death benefits 5409,239,027 $33,024,343 $33,806,216 $27,537,796 $503,607,382 
b. Reserves None None None None None 
c. Total 409,239,027 33,024,343 33,806,216 27,537,796 503,607,382 

2. For inactive members 10,351,042 208,236 128,661 213,389 10,901 ,328 
3. For present active members 147z918z871 1515041741 321393 1653 271481 1913 223 z2991178 
4. Total 567,508,940 48,737,320 66,328,530 55,233,098 737,807,888 

B. Valuation Assets 573,734,277 42,018,278 56,480,085 45,422,262 717,654,902 

C. Unfunded Value of Future Benefit Payments 
1. Total: (A.4) - (B) (6,225 ,337) 6,719,042 9,848,445 9,81 0,836 20,152,986 
2. Present value of future member contributions 9261443 3041751 943

1
420 657~41 21831 1855 

3. Present value of future required employer (7,15I z780) 6z4 14,29 I 8,905z025 91153,595 17,321
1
131 

D. Present value of future pays 130,696,284 6,095,012 18 ,868,398 13,144,812 168,804,506 

E. Employer normal cost: 
I. For System benefits: (C.3)1(D) -5.47% 105.24% 47.20% 69.64% 

• The 2012 actuarial report indicated that a general fond cOn/ribution of $5,770,835 is due to the defined benefit 
plan, such change was contemplated and incorporated into the operating budget for Fiscal Years ending 20U 
through 2016. 
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Other Post·Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

The County has two fimds that operate to fund the retirees' hcalthcarc program, an Interim Retirees' Medical 
Benefit Trust (IRMBT) and a VEBA. Collectively, the assets of these two funds exceed the accrued Liability of 
OPEB as caJculated by the County's actuaries in their most recent reports. After the refunding is accomplished, it is 
expected that the County will continue to have assets that exceed the accrued liabilities ofOPEB as calculated by the 
County's actuaries in their most recent reports. 

As of September 30, 2012, the IRMBT had net assets, at market, of$305,6 million. 

The following data is taken from the latest actuarial report prepared by Gabrie~ Roeder, Smith & Company as of 
September 30, 2012: 

Table 14 - Oakland County Retiret$' Health Care Trust* - Present Financial Report 

Command Corrections 
General Union Officers Road Deputies Deputies Total 

A. Accrued Liability 

I . For retirees and beneficiaries $351,016,033 $24,256,009 $33,243,997 $25,479,736 S433,995,775 

2. For vested tenninated members 53,526,682 948,660 2,394,785 2,284,2 10 59,154,337 
3. For present active members 
a. Value of expected future benefit 

payments 317,385,015 29,630,686 82,823,045 65,495,779 495,334,525 

b. Value of future normal costs 70,893,440 4,360,380 24,678,002 20,930,603 120,862,425 

c. Active member liability: (a) - (b) 246,491 ,575 25,270,306 58,145,043 44,565, 176 374,472,100 

4. Total 651,034,190 50,474,975 93,783,825 72,329,122 867,622,112 

B. Valuation Assets 471 ,620,661 30,201,371 76,066,143 58,664,673 636,552,848 

!==. Unfunded Accrued Liability: (A.4) - (B) 179,413,629 20,273,604 17,717,682 13,664,449 231,069,364 

D. Funded Percent: (B)/(AA) 72.45% 59.84% 81.11% 81.11% 73.37% 

• Please note that the retirees' health care benefits are fully funded on an annual basis by the A.ctuarial Required 
Contribution (ARC) made fram the Oakland County Intermediate Retirees Medical Benefits Trust ("IRMBT"). 
In addition, the IRMBT is hoiding $305.6 million of net assets as of September 30, 2011 arising from 
unexpended COPS proceeds and accumulated investment income that can be used for two purposes: /) the 
funding of the ARC to be paid to the VEBA. and 2) the defeasance of the COPS. 



Table 15 - History of State Equalized Valuation (sEV) 
(R~presenb 50°/, oftTUe casb value) 

Assessment Persona l 'Y. Change 
Year(l) Rea l Property Property Total In Total TaDble Value 

2012 $47,131,932,645 $3,797,092,321 $50,839,024,966 -3.08% $49,235,933,993 
2011 48,766,831,153 3,686,629,190 52,453,460,343 -9.16 50,798,540,257 
2010 53,979,517,024 3,765,559,483 57,745,076,507 -14.90 55,081,707,586 
2009 63,909,419,815 3,949,566,334 67,858,986,149 -8.97 62,416,676,895 
2008 70,503,451,609 3,987,629,953 74,491,081,562 -3.67 64,745,976,336 

2007 73,207,702,808 4,123,379,228 77,331,082,036 4.16 64,720,016,857 
2006 72,291,329,373 4,148,396,210 76,439,725,583 5.56 62,133,415,235 

2005 69,283,261,769 4,175,926,590 73,459,188,359 4.50 58,862,840,140 
2004 65,813,024,378 4,483,972,263 70,296,996,641 4.79 55,986,490,872 
2003 62,601,288,076 4,484,153,706 67,085,441,782 6.77 53,179,886,010 

2002 58,197,370,454 4,632,159,968 62,829,530,422 9.33 50,688,809,599 

(I) As of December 31 M 

Source: State of Michigan Tax Commission 

SEV does not include any value of tax exempt property (e.g., governmental facilities, churches, public schools, etc.) 
or property granted tax abatements. See ~Taxing Procedures~ herein. In acc.ord.ance with Act 409, Publlc Acts of 
1965, as amended, and Article IX, Section 3, of the Michigan Constitution of 1963, SEV represents 50% of true 
cash value. 

Table 16- History and Percentage Breakdown or State Equalized Valuation by Til: Year 

Type of Property 2012 2011 2010 200' 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 

Residential 69.9% 68.5% 67.6% 68.7% 70.9% 71.9% 71.9% 71.1% 70.30/, 

Commercia! 19.3 20.6 19.6 19.0 17.6 16.7 16.6 16.8 16.9 

Industrial 3.4 3.7 6.0 63 6.0 5.' 5.' 5.' 6.1 

Personal Property 7.3 7.0 6.5 5.8 5.4 53 5.4 5.7 6.4 

Agricultural 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.3 
Developmental 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.09 0.1 0.1 

100.1)% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0"/0 100.0"1. 100.0% 100.0% 

Source: Oakland County Equalization Department 

Penonal Property Tax Revenues 

In December 2012, the State Legislature passed a statute eliminating personal property tax revenues for commercial 
and industrial property values below $40,000 as of the December 31,2013 assessment rolls (meaning the loss of 
personal property tax revenues begins in the 83 counties' FY.2014). In its current FY-2013 operating budget, the 
County had assumed that the loss of personal property tax revenues would begin in FY -2013 and expected reduced 
revenues by $1.3 million in that year. The reduction is now unnecessary. 

In addition, the State will begin phasing out all personal property taxes starting in FY·2016 by excluding new 
purchases from the assessment rolls. This will have an undetermined impact in FY-2016 because the equipment 
being taxed at that time will continue to be depreciated with no new equipment being brought onto the assessment 
rolls. 
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In addition, the legislation calls for a voter approved revenue to restore a portion of the lost revenue locally, as well as 
some protections for public safety services. Unfortunately. because of the requirement of a new voted tax. it is not 
possible to assess the likelihood of the restoration of revenue or determine at what doIlar level restoration would 
actually occur. Accordingly, a loss provision of $2.6 million has been reflected in the proposed operating budget for 
FY ·2016 under consideration presently before the Board of Coounissioners. 

Table 17 - History of County ~Ide Tax Delinquencies 

Levy Yea r Real Property 
2012 $89,699,373.20 
2011 107,675,895.41 
2010 130,215,501.20 
2009 155,464,90726 
2008 149,883,620.70 
2007 138,097,525.69 
2006 122,129,735.43 
2005 97,528,003.06 
2004 . 9 1,130,490.80 
2003 80,232,958.66 
2002 85,137,149.74 
2001 79,926,145.56 
2000 69,020,110.34 
1999 65,336,152.76 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 

Debt-History 

The County of Oakland has no record of default. 

Short-Term Financing 

Personal Property 
$5,702,067.01 

6,032,598.54 
7,271,064.88 
7,809,985.47 
7,387,710.43 
9,102,775.59 
8,898,821.42 
9,893,351.63 

21,137,280.42 
19,453,518.12 
22,962,566.46 
19,911,701.16 
16,648,640.08 
10,495,720.93 

The County has issued short-term notes in order to establish the 100% Delinquent Tax Payment Fund. Notes issued 
in each of the years below have been in a face amount less than the actual real property tax delinquency. The County 
has pledged its full faith and credit and limited taxing power to the payment of principal and interest on notes issued 
since 1979. The County does not issue short-term obligations for cash flow purposes. 

Table 18- History ofOaldand County DeUnquent Tax Anticipation Notes 

2012 25,000,000 0 
2011 50,000,000 0 
2010 50,000,000 0 
2009 50,000,000 0 
2008 25,000,000 0 
2007 25,000,000 0 
2006 25,000,000 0 
2005 25,000,000 0 
2004 25,000,000 0 
2003 25,000,000 0 

Source: OakJand County Treasurer 
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Lease Obligations 

The County leases a portion of its Law Enforcement Complex, Rochester Hills 52·3 District Court, Executive Office 
Building, Airport T .Hangars, Airport Tenninal Building, and various Facility Infrastructure and Information 
Technology Capital Projects from the Oakland County Building Authority. Since ownership of the property will 
ultimately transfer to the County from the Building Authority, the leases have been capitalized There are also a 
number of sub-leases between the County and various governmental entities with the debt being funded from 
payments from the benefiting community over the life of the debt issues, with the structures being collateral. 
Current sub-leases are in place with the City of Rochester Hills, Oakland County Community Mental Health 
Authority, City of Keego Harbor, and City of Oak Park.. All County Building.Authority Debt is listed in the Debt 
Statement. 

The County leases certain office and computer equipment and facilities. Total lease expense and future minimum 
annual payments are not significant. 

Future Financing 

The County will be moving ahead with its projects and has bond offerings planned for 2014 in addition to its annual 
delinquent tax note offering. 

The refunding described in this Memorandum is scheduled to occur on April 1, 2014 and is based on assets in the 
IRMTB at that time. The County has authorized the issuance of additional debt in the event that additional funds are 
needed to accomplish the refunding. The aggregate amount of total debt authorized, including the Bonds described in 
this Memorandum, is $485,000,000. 

Banking 

The banking needs of the County are adequately handled by: 

Bank of America 
Bank of Birmingham 

Bank of Michigan 
Chaner One Bank, NA 
Clarkston State Bank 

Cometica Bank 
Crestmark Bank 
Fifth Third Bank 
First Merit Bank 

First Place Bank 
Flagstar Bank 

Genisys Credit Union 
Huron Valley State Bank 

Independent Bank 
1P Morgan Chase Bank 

Lakes Community Credit Union 
Level One Bank 

Lotus Bank: 
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Lotus Bank 
Main Street Bank 
Mercantile Bank 

Michigan First Credit Union 

Oxford Bank 
PNCBank 

Talmer Bank and Trust 
The Huntington National Bank 

The Private Bank 
TCFBank 



Table 19 -Oakland County Net Direct Debt as of 06/3012013 - Unaudited 

Municipalities Self-Supporting 
Share of Funds or Portion Paid 

on Hand with Directly by County Shan: 
Co~ty Benefited of Funds 

Q= Treasu[g: Muni~il!ali!ig I1ll1lo!!O 
BQDds and NC/le.s with No CQunty Credit 

l.imiled fu-UDlax~ 
General Obligalion Buildiog Authority $ 45,955,000 $ 45,807(d) $12,158,824 (.) $33,750,369 (d) 
Building Authority Refunding 48,215,000 · (d) · (0) 48,215,000 15 (d) 
Lake Level 80,000 80,000 80,000 (d) 
Drain 62,330,000 69,743 58,672,850 3,587,407 45,118 (d) 
Scwer Disposal Bonds 3,960,000 5,179(d) 169,821 (a) 3,785,000 52,083 (d) 
Scwage Disposal Bonds Refunding 415,000 2S,147(d) 389,853 (a) 
Water Supply Bonds 11,385,000 1I,812(d) 17,373,188 (a) 
Water & Sewage Disposal · (d) · (.) 
Wa'er & Sewage Refunding 1,800,000 36,374(d) 1,763,626 (a) 
Water Supply-Refunding 210,000 32,.212 177,188 (al 
Mich. Bond Auth.-Sewage Disp. Bonds 4,220,727 4,376(d) 4,216,351 (a) 

To"" $184,S70,727 $230,650 $94,922,300 $89,417,776 $177,216 

[)rain District 
Drain Bonds $10,860,000 $538,184(d) $9,306,784 (a) $ 1,015,032 , 29,397 (d) 
Draio Refunding 25,115,000 24,217(d) 21,697,479 (a) 3,393,304 1,540 (d) 
Michigan Bond Authority Sewage Oisp 1,920,916 · (d) · (.) 1,920,916 52,083 (d) 
Michigan Bond Authority Drain 124,263,200 2,471,571(d) 85,327,287 (a) 36,464,342 2,206,5 19 (d) 
To", 162,159,116 3,033,972 $1 16,331,551 $42,793,593 $2,189,539 

Limited lax- I!I!.!!lllc 
General Obligation Limiled Taxable $25,000,000 $25,000,000 25,000,000 
To", $25,000,000 $25.000,000 $25,000,000 

1mb]" with N!i! CQIIDIl: C[i<dil 
Certificales of Participation $443,635

1
000 443,635,000 $443,635,000 

To", $443,635,000 443,635,000 $443,635
1
000 

HonlY anQ ~!i!I!<I~!b ~Q C21!!!D:: Credit 
Michigan Transponation Fund $2,000,000 $2,000,000 (e) 
To", $210001000 $2,OOOJ)OO 

Table 20 - Oakland County Overlapping Debt as of 06130/2013 

Cities, Villages and Townships 

School Districts 

Community College, lntennediate School Districts and Library 

County Issued Bonds Paid by Local Municipalities 

Net County Overlapping Debt 

NET COUNTY DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT 

<a) Total Counl)' Issued Bonds Paid by Local Municipalities 

$ 910,381,922 (e) 

2,163,794,508 (e) 
64,545,645 (e) 

211,253,851 (b) 

3,349,975,926 

3,479,720,514 

(b) 11 is expected that a sizeable portion of these IlIlIOUOts will be paid from benefit charges and earnings of the various systems. 
(This IlIlIOunl is arrived hy the totals indicated by 'l~) 

(c) Self-Supporting Obligations 
(d) June 30, 2013 Trial Balance 
(e) Amount as ofJunc30, 2013 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 
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N. 
C2~I2"l!I 

$33,750,369 
48,214,985 

3,542,.289 
3,732,917 

$89,240,560 

, 985,635 
3,391,763 
1,868,833 

34,257,823 
$40,504,055 



Table 21 - OaklaDd COUDty Schedule oCBond Maturities 
County Credit and Limited Tax 
Principal Only as of06130n013 

Building "- W.'" W.'" MBA "-
Building Allthority s.- Di ...... Supply W""& W""& Supply Disposal '-"" - S ..... .... '" Y.u Authority Refunding -"'>nlIo B.c:fi.mdin& ~ B.c:fimdinc - Refunding ""'" I.mIi 

20[3 52,245,000 $1,785,000 0 SI25,OOO· S605,OOO 0 0 $210,000 S 95,000 0 

201 4 2,670,000 1,890,000 S55,OOO 151>,000 765,000 S195,000 0 0 620,000 $80,000 

20lS 2,720,000 1,93S,OOO 60,000 140,000 785,000 190,000 0 0 630,000 0 

2016 2,775,000 2,035,000 60,000 0 11 0,000 210,000 0 0 645,000 0 

2017 2,825,000 2,075,000 0 0 835,000 205,000 0 0 6S5,OOO 0 

2018 2,930,000 2,140,000 0 0 11 0,000 205,000 0 0 675,000 0 

2019 2,980,000 2,200,000 0 0 790,000 200,000 0 0 100,000 0 

2020 3,080,000 2,170,000 0 0 820,000 220,000 0 0 100,000 0 

202 1 3,185,000 2,065,000 0 0 850,000 215,000 0 0 100,000 0 

2022 3,285,000 2,125,000 0 0 885,000 160,000 0 0 100,000 0 

2023 1,1 40,000 900,000 0 0 920,000 0 0 100,000 0 

2024 1,170,000 435,000 0 0 955,000 0 0 100,000 0 

202' 995,000 0 0 0 990,000 0 0 100,000 0 

""""' 2025 1.";;3:0:,00!! 2 ----'l ----2 §,";6";,2IK! -' ----2 200,111 ---' 
539 no 000 m 75500II Wl.IIIIII :w.l.IIIIII $17 385Il00 $ 1 100 000 ..II IOWI!IIl $4 22Q 727 liIWIII 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 
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Table 22 - Oakland County Schedule of Drain Bond Maturities 
County Credit and Limited Tax 
Principal Only as of 06f3012013 

Drain Drain Drain M.B.A. M.B.A. 
Year Bonds Notes Refunding Drain Bonds Sewage Bonds 

2013 $ 205,000 0 $2,710,000 $ 915,000 $ 95,000 
2014 1,315,000 0 4,290,000 9,055,000 95,000 
2015 1,280,000 0 3,700,000 9,165,000 100,000 
2016 1,020,000 0 3,075,000 9,395,000 100,000 
2017 930,000 0 1,780,000 9,165,000 105,000 
2018 790,000 0 1,340,000 9,385,000 105,000 
2019 810,000 0 1,350,000 9,620,000 110,000 
2020 855,000 0 1,395,000 9,870,000 115,000 
2021 875,000 0 1,465,000 10,110,000 115,000 
2022 855,000 0 1,510,000 10,365,000 120,000 
2023 440,000 0 1,040,000 8,577,669 120,000 
2024 470,000 0 1,025,000 8,432,676 125,000 
2025 485,000 0' 435,000 3,230,000 125,000 
Beyond 2025 530,000 .-2 0 16,977,855 490,916 

$10.860000 ...l1 $25.1 15.000 $124263209 $1229916 

Source: Oakland Counly Treasurer 
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Table 23 - Oakland County Scbedule ofBoDd Maturities 
with Li.mited County Pledge - Taxable 

Principal ODly as of06l30120J3 

:ill!: 
DelinJuent 
I~-2t~ 

Bldg. 
Authori~ 

Bldg. 
Authority 
RefimdiDIl ilrlIin ~ 

2013 0 $ 275,000 $2,105,000 0 0 

2014 $25,000,000 275,000 2,130,000 S 345,000 $ 140,000 

2015 0 275,000 2,225,000 2,305,000 145,000 

2016 0 275,000 2,260,000 2,370,000 150,000 

2017 0 275,000 2,335,000 2,445,000 155,000 

2018 0 300,000 2,425,000 2,525,000 160,000 

2019 0 305,000 2,490,000 2,605,000 170,000 

2020 0 305,000 2,575,000 2,690,000 175 ,000 

2021 0 305,000 2,655,000 2,780,000 185,000 

2022 0 330,000 2,685,000 2,875,000 190,000 

2023 0 330,000 1.265,000 2,980,000 205,000 

2024 0 360,000 1,310,000 3,090,000 215,000 

2025 0 360,000 0 3.205,000 225,000 

Beyond 2025 0 2,455,000 Q J~.1 1 5,ooQ 1,670,000 

~~.QlHl,QQQ S6,~,~,QgQ ~~.~~Q,QQ2 S~"JlQ Q!lQ SJ,28~,Q2Q 

Sourc.~: Oakland COlD1Iy Treasurer 

A-23 



Table 24 - Oakland County Scbedule o(Bond Maturities 
With No County Pledge - Taxable 

Principal Only as of 0613012013 

Certificate of 
y"", ParticigatiQD Total 

2013 0 0 

2014 121,500,000 121,500,000 

2015 22,720,000 22,720,000 

2016 23,940,000 23,940,000 

2017 25,405,000 25,405,000 

2018 26,875,000 26,875,000 

2019 28,340,000 28,340,000 

2020 29,805,000 29,805,000 

2021 31,760,000 31,760,000 

2022 33,465,000 33,465,000 

2023 35,420,000 35,420,000 

2024 37,620,000 37,620,000 

2025 39,820,000 39,820,000 

Beyond 2025 86,965,000 86,965,000 

$HJ QJ~,OQg $~~J,Ql~,ggg 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 

Table 25 - Oakland County Schedule of Bond Maturities 
Witb No County Pledge 

Principal Only all of 0613012013 

y,,, MTF Revenues Total 

2013 1500,000 1500,000 

2014 500,000 500,000 

2015 500,000 500,000 

2016 500,000 500,000 

$2,ogg,oog 12,000,000 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 
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Table 26 - Oakland County Schedule ofPriocipal and loterest Requiremeots 
as 0106/3012013 

Year 
20ll 
2014 
2015 
2016-2019 
2020-2024 
2025-2030 
2031-2040 

Principal 

$ 11,870,000.00 
71,070,000.00 
48,875,000.00 

201,545,000.00 
278,535,345.00 
185,581,361.00 
19,888,137.00 

S817 364 843.QO 

Source: Oakland County Treasurer 

Interest 
SI9,035,973.33 

36,624,599.29 
34,504,598.03 

116,185,462.12 
88,362,063.46 
22,931,697.19 

1,549,850.70 
$319194.24412 

A-25 

Total 

$30,905,973.33 
107,694,599.29 
83,379,598.03 

317,730,462.12 
366,897,408.46 
208,513,058.19 

21,437,987.70 
$1 13655908712 



Table 26 - OakJand County Statement of Legal Debt Margin 
as of06J30n013 

GaLT Bldg. Authority Refunding 
GaLT Lake Level 

GaLT Sewage 
Gal T Sewage Refunding 

GaLT Water 
GaLT Water & Sewage Refunding 
GaLT Water & Sewer 
GaLT Water Refunding 

Michigan Bond Authority Sewage Disposal 

Drain Bonds 

Drain Bonds 
Drain Refunding 

Michigan Bond Authority Drain 

Michigan Bond Authority Sewage 

39,530,000.00 
21,755,000.00 

80,000.00 
175,000.00 
415,000.00 

17,3,85,000.00 
1,800,000.00 

0.00 
210,000.00 

_

L:i4~,2~2~OJ' 7~27t·00~ 
Total $ 85.570.727.00 

S 10,860,000.00 
25,115,000.00 

124,263,200.00 

1,920,916.00 

Total $ ' 6215911600 

Bonds and Notes with County Credit and Limited-Taxable 

GOL T Bldg Authority 
GaLT Bldg Authority Refunding 

GaLT Drain 
GalT Sewage 

GaLT Tax Notes 

$ 6,425,000.00 
26,460,000.00 

62,330,000.00 
3,785,000.00 

25,000,000.00 
T ota! $ 124 OOQ Qoo 00 

Total COWlty CreditIPledged Debt $ 371 72984300 

Bonds and Notes with no County Credit · Taxable 

Certificates of Participation $ 443.635.000.00 

Bonds and Noles with no County Credit 

Motor Vehicle Highway Fund Revenue Notes 

Statutory Limit· 10% of Currently Approved SEV 

Tow County CreditIPledged Debt 

Available Statutory Debt Limit 

SoUf'ce: Oakland COUf'l/y Treasurer 

2142707U\ISll56-OOOOl 
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$ 2,000,000.00 

2,000.000.00 
$5,083,902,496.60 

371,729,&43.00 

$4712.172.65).60 



APPENDIXD 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND RELATED NOTES 

The County's auditors have not been asked to consent to the use of the audited fmancial statements 
provided herein and have not conducted any subsequent review of such audited financial statements or the 
infonnation presented in this Appendix B. 
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EXHIBIT B 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

The following sections of the audited financial statements* of the 
County of Oakland for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2012 have 
been extracted from the audit : 

Independent Auditor's Report 25-26 

Statement of Net Posi tion 49-50 

Statement of Activities 51-52 

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 53-54 

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet 
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net position 55 

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and 
in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 

Changes 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue , 
Expenditures , and Changes in Fund Balances -

56-57 

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 58 

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 59 - 60 

Statement of Revenue , Expenses, and Changes 
in Fund Net position - Proprietary Funds .......... . 61-62 

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 63-67 

Statement of Net Position Fiduciary Funds 68 

Statement of Changes in Net position 
- Fiduciary Funds ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ••. .. 69 

Statement of Net Position - Component Units .. ...... 70 

Statement of Activities - Component Units 71 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 72-119 

*Note : The County ' s auditors have not been asked to consent to the use 
of the audited financial statements provided herein and have not 
conducted any subsequent review of such audited financial 
statements or the information presented in this Exhibit B. 
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lYioran 

To the Board of Commissioners 
Oakland County, Michigan 

Independent Auditor's Report 

Plante & Moran, PLLC 
27~OO Nor1hwM1em Hv-v 

P.O. 6toI: 307 
ScvIhr.ld, MI 49037-0307 

Tel; 248.352.2500 
~ 24e.352.Cme 

-~ 

We have audited the accompanying fmancial statements afthe governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component writs, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund infonnation of Oakland County (the "County'') as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2012, which coUectively comprise the County's basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. These fmandaI statem'ents are the responsibility of Oakland County's management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financiaJ statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perfonn 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An ' audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the govenunental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Oakland County as of September 30, 2012 and the respective changes in financial position and cash 
flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended, in confonnity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of fonning an oplDlon on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise Oakland County's basic financial statements. Accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis, 
retirement system and OPEB plan schedules of funding progress, and the budgetary comparison schedules 
for the General Fund and each major special revenue fund, as identified in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such infonnation, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Govenunental Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
management's discussion and analysis and retirement systems and OPEB plan schedules of funding 
progress, which consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the infonnation 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

. ... 
PraxJ.ti' 
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To the Board of Commissioners 
Oakland County, Michigan 

The other budgetary comparison schedules and combining statements, as identified in the table on 
contents as other supplemental information, are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are 
not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the fmancial statements. These schedules, along with the budgetary comparison schedules for 
the General Fund and each major special revenue fund, have been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the fmancial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
In our opinion, the information is fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 

The introductory section and statistical section, as identified in the table of contents, are presented for 
the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
infonnation has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic fmandal 
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue a report on our consideration of 
Oakland County's internal control over fmancial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide opinions on the internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in 
considering the results of our audit. 

March 25, 2013 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position 
September 30, 2012 

Prim!!I GOvtrtllllcot 
BasIDel.-

GOl'crlUDcDt.-I l'yp< Compo.At 
Adivitiel Activities To .... U .... 

Aneta 
O=nla ... 

Pooled cash aDd ~stments S 437,637,499 $ 291,007,062 $ 728,644,561 $ 31,907,193 
Cash mel cash cq..riwlenl.! 39,555,.579 
Receivables (net oflll.1o\WDCC for 
UDCOllectibles ~ applicable) 

Current property ~ 22,482,677 22,482,677 
Delin.:pent p-opcrty taxes 836,919 96,254,020 97,090,939 
Special assessmems 8,661.616 
Due from other govcmmen1al.llDits 18,727,045 44,413,437 63,200,482 6,569,.352 
Due from componc:IJI: units 120,997 1,212,778 1,333,775 
Accrued interest receivable 1,264,301 2,171,519 3,435,820 103,932 
kcoums receiwble 1,467,683 39,261,454 40,129,137 16,569,662 
CoIIlrac:ts receivable 11,232,127 1,108,328 12,340,455 

Intemal balances - footnote: 19 9,000,484 (9,000,484) 

I. ln~ntories and supplies 1,033,544 541 ,825 1,575,369 4,033,167 
Prepayments and other assets 1°11731439 114901843 11 1664z?;82 921 1834 

Total current assets S13~76171S 468152°1782 98214971497 108~22~3S 

NOD-cUlTcm assets 
Special asscssmellU reccivablc 26,913,607 26,913,607 172,361.520 
Contracts receivablc 26,363,200 26,363,100 
OPEBas~ 299,937,972 299,937,972 1,740,198 
Dqital assets, oct 

Land and other ooDdcp-cciablc assets 21,2370509 99,190,418 120,427,927 230,861,.3S4 
Land impoycmcms, DCt 142,487 12,406,193 12,548,680 109,468 
Buildings 8Dd im+row:mcms, net 13 7 ,004,873 63,576,449 200,581,322 8,332,684 
Equipment and YChiclcs, Del 11,341,015 29,803,113 48,144,128 1,719,877 
Infrastructure, net 13J:S3~84 1031617~08 116~70292 981.169~82 

Total capital assets, DC!. 190,079,168 308293281 498,672.749 1~22,192.76S 

Total DOD-Current asscts 543~93~47 308293281 851,887228 1~96~94283 

Total assets Si l057 ~70,662 S 777.114~63 Sll834~8S,025 SI204.§.161918 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position (Continued) 
September 30, 2012 

Primary Govenuncnt 
Buslnus-

GovcnmelltaJ Type 
At:dvitJu Atthides Totlll. 

U.bilitici 
Current liabilities 

Vouchers payable $ 16,781,131 $ 4,410,S50 $ 21 ,191 ,681 
Accrued payroll 2,901,896 2,901,896 
Due to other go'YCl"lllnental tmits 1,772,560 18,32S,940 20,098,500 
Due to ¢m~ gl\oWlllllent 

Accrued interest payable 135.514 1350514 
Other accrued liabilities 21,258,429 4,299,776 25,558,205 
Accrued compcmated absences 1,214,192 1,214,192 
Uoearoc:d rc\ellUe 15,233,765 10585,999 16,8 19,764 
Claim! IIIIdjudgmerU 3,735,772 3,735,772 
Bonds and mte. payable 29,045,000 26,125,000 55,1 70,000 

Total ctrrent liabilities 92,078,2:'9 54,7472:65 146,825,524 

NOD-CUlTent liabilities 
Accrued compensated absences 10,927,729 10,927,729 
Claims andjudgmenu 16,059,066 16,059,066 
Other postemployment benefits 
Bolllb and notes payable 539,425,727 18,464d79 557,890,006 

TotaillOllCU!Tent liabilities 566,412,522 18,464d79 584,876,801 

Totalliabilitics 653,490,781 73,2,11,544 731,702J25 

Net positioll 
Invcstmen1 in capital assets, net of 

related debt 148,709,168 289,004,302 437,713,470 
Restricted for 

Property Tax Forfeiture 8,311,14' 8,31 1,145 
Substance Abuse 3,244,003 3,.244,003 
Revenue sharingrcservc 59,585,830 59,585,830 
Citi2:t:ns Services 3,182,681 3,182,681 
Public 'MIrb 7,544,287 7,544,287 
CoIDIDCTCe and community devclopnenl 9,340,639 9,340,639 
Other JI'Ogrmns 1,359,198 1,359,198 
Capital JI'Ojocts 9,184 9,184 
Debt service 341,354 341,354 

AHpo'" 313 313 
Commllllity water and sewer 77,418,327 77,4 18,327 

Unrestricted 157,152J92 337,479,877 494,632,2,69 

Total net position S 398,779,881 S 703.2:Q2,819 S 1,102,682,700 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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c.mpoDeIlt 
Umb 

19,4670369 

8,405,520 
1,955,468 

3D,8M 
3,698,673 

25,763,093 

U,l67,OOO 
74,488,127 

2,756,046 
2,050,918 

12,271,525 
197,86 1,606 

214,940,095 

289,428d22 

1,010,046,159 

5,484,872 

154,764,203 

44,893,462 

S 1~1 5,188,696 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Activities 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

Fu.ctioDiIProCI"UllJ 
Primary lovel1llllnt 
Govenmental aetivii:J 

GeDcral aovemmcnt, ldmk!.WatM 
Pubi: safety 
lU!tice admiristratbl 
Cilizell~ ."'" ..,." 
Rcereatilll aDd Jekure 
Coomcrce aDd oomnJUIliy dewbprr:leut 
Unabated de~ciatioo 
Imenst OIl. debt 

Total ~lIlIDeIIbl actMr. 

BusuloS-type .~ 

A>p<w 
C<'mTnlm1'y wety JUppDrt 

('.cmrrnmjy tax [mane'" 
Conmunly water and.:wer 

RecRatm and JeiJute 
Sewage di5posaI system! 

Total busiles,s-.type actiYtts 

TotalJrinary ~ 

COOlPOJlCDt u.ib 
DrJiJage diJbi:ts 
Road COIDIllium 

Total COIlIpOIII:rd uoi!s 

Genenl re~nue 
T~. 

Property tau. 
Stale-shared revenue (unn:stn:ted) 
Unrcsttted ioveslml:lll caminp 

Gail OD sak of caphlll3scts 
Otbcr revenue 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

SpcciaIIlflm· Ccotrbut:iJIlofPODIBc W&:'S Jy5tcm 
Transfers iI (0Ul) 

EJ:PCDJU 

24,183,201 
103,647,!170 

SlI,)S",)Sl 
&3,141,703 
29,173,892 
1,741.m 

53,nS,460 
1,912,755 
41041~93 

493~79,003 

9,016,%1 
17,370,233 
1,615,467 

53,137,399 

""'01,609 
1211129~ 

W377J71 

716,0S6~74 

73,464,158 
91,2S7,622 

164,722,480 

Total FDenU revenue, special Ems and tnnsfCl'1 

Change in act posb 

Net politioa 
Bep.omg 

"-

Prolra.JII RevcDue 

Operatma 
CJwoa:es ilr Grub ud. 

Servicn COlltributio. 

$ 24,431,514 $ '.."".' 
6O,ll28,2<O 28,147,900 
31,9S0.80S 662,302 
5,829):93 20,3<4,60< 

16,.293,669 2,635,398 
19,342 "')12 

14,.240.)42 30,434,711 

lSl,llS3,.2O& 84,522,422 

',501,884 
13,242,926 
21,.96S,2jl 

"/YIO, '/8'l 13,.301,375 
B,7S1,D64 ""., 

1l~1.504 

226,s04.411 13,326,760 

$ 379~57l!19 $ 97~91182 

$ 63,6SI,s02 $ 1,000,000 
ISI774J99 S~474,l82 

$ 79142Sz2!!1 $ S91474~ 

The acrompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Capital 
C ........ 

CODtribtIUoU 

$ 
611,415 

1,.9151,591 

2.'101006 

17~,233 

786,768 

3t196 
1031635 

17m432 

$ 20~43B 

$ 19,524.,866 
39~S~717 , 59,083.583 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Activ ities (Continued) 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

S 

GovenuDe Dtll 
Ac:dvltiu 

1,52O,8S& 
(1l4,11S3,OIS) 

(5&.741,961) 
(56,.947,806) 
(8,283,234) 

(1,413,724) 
(9.050,337) 
(l,912,7SS) 

(4.D4 1~93l 

(253,723,367) 

(253,723,367) 

200,634,390 
11,12&,237 "",..., 

213,451 
6,513,306 

33,139,742 

2S4~8:5,033 

861,666 

397,218.,215 

S 398,n9,8S1 

, 

, 

Net (E.xpeDlel) RenD. " aod 
C ...... u Ia NetAueb 

B1lJme .. -

AttMtiu T .... 

, 1,520,&58 
(114,853.015) 

(:58.741,961) 
(56,947,806) 

(8,233,234) 

(1,413,724) 
(9,050,337) 
(1,912,7:55) 

(4,041~931 

(253.723,367) 

12,S40,6>6 12,.S40,656 
(3,340,539) (3,.'WO,539) 
20,349,784 20,349,784 
19,254,758 19,254,m 

(11,293,364) (11,293,364) 
(;074,06.3) !~074,063l 

35,437.232 3:5,437,232 

3:5,437,232 (213,286,135) 

ll,fiM,549 212,.2.98.939 
11,128,237 

2Jl"',923 'Jl(6)3O 
213,4:5 1 

6,513,306 
37,492,899 37,492,899 
Q3,139,74~ 

18,068,.629 272,653,662 

53.so5,861 54,367,527 

650,3~8 1,048,3t~p3 

703,902,819 S 1.102,682,700 

S 

, 

Compo.llt 
U ... 

10.711,510 
22,549,876 

33,261,386 

2.321,212 

2,32 1~12 

35.582,598 

11798 098 

l.2lS,l&M96 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

Major Funds 

Gentr-al Fund· The General Fund is the general operating fund of the County. It is used to account for 
all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Revenue-Sharing (tesen'c Fund· This fund was created in 2005 under State of Michigan Public Act 
357 of 2004 to serve as a substitute to county revenue--sharing payments. This fund provided a funding 
mechanism to shift county property tax levies from winter to summer over a three-year period. 

Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund - This fund was established to accumulate the resources for the 
payment of bonded debt issued for the construction of, or improvement to various facilities (currently five 
issues). The fund also includes debt issued as assistance in obtaining favorable lending rates for other 
units of government within the COWlty. 

Water and Sewer Debt Act 342 Fund - This fund was established to account for the accumulation of 
resources, mainly special assessments, for the payment of bonded debt issued for the construction of 
water and sewer systems under Public Act 342 of 1939 (currently eight issues). 

Non-Major Funds 

Non-major govenunental funds are presented, by fund type. in the following sections: 

Special revenue funds 
Debt service funds 
Capital projects funds 



County of Oakland 
Balance Sheet 
Governmental Funds 
September 3D, 2012 

MajDrFaDdl 

Buildirrc 

~au AlltlIority 

S ~arill& ... 
Gt ... r lll Rue,.,.. A.Il l 

Alld. 

amen! uselS 
Pooled cash and investments S 221,197,46& S 59,317,931 S 471,187 
Rt«ivable:l (net of tJlowan« fur unc:ollocublcs 
vmere Ilppbble) 

amen! property tax;s 22.482,677 
Delinquent property taleS 836,919 
Due ftnmolher gnvemmentaJ units 7,T15:J44 
Due fromw~nent units 10l,o!02 
A~ed inlen:st =eivablc 357.884 16',899 2.583 
AC«IunlS receivable n .... 
Connds receivable 11,192,727 

Due fromolher funds 4,733,170 
Advances receivable 

Invcnton:.s 176,5n 

f'repaymcnlll and otheu . .neu m.6JO 
Total cunen! useu 269,1152,920 59,Si5,1lO 473,710 

Sp"ialaUe$sments ~ivab!e' 
Contracts rt:e:ew.blc 

Total .. ",ets S "'..""", S S9,sas,SlO 

Ualilitie. 

CUnen! liab~n.1i 
Vouch.1I payable S 7,397.353 S S 356,96& 
Accrued payroU 2,901,896 
Due to other governmental unitt 791,459 

Due to other funds d,-m 

Adunees payable 
Vncame<l Tncnue 10,591,612 
Otheraccrued liabilities 9,73-4,196 

Total Jiabdties 31,465,&21 356,96& 

Dd(rndlaO ..... orRullllrtti 

Unavailable revCllue-propert)' wes 14,957.659 

Unavailable !CVCflUC""pccial usessments 

Un.o.vllllable rcvcnue-contn.cts _civable 16.22S,QXl 

Total dcf'em;d infioWJ of rcsoorccs 14,957,659 16.225,1XXl 

FIond t.l. nCQ 

Nonspendlblc 1,100,141 
Restricted 11,555,]48 59,585,130 116,802 

"''''''''' Assiened 209,6&3,648 
Urwsigned 1,090,503 

Tou.! fund b&lan~n 223,429,440 59,S8S,13O 116,!Kl2 

Totalliab~Jtiea, deferred inlloWJ ofrcsourcel, 

and fund balances S "'.15l,92O S 59,S85,1lO S 16,698,'m 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Balance Sheet (Continued) 
Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2012 

Mojor FIon" 
Wak.aad 

Sr • • T"", ... N ..... Ml.J ... Srpkmllor 3D, 

ACll41 ... ~ 2011 
AllOts 

CUrrent assets 
PooJod cash and invC5tmcntl , "',59' , 45,693,sso , 127)77.759 
Receivables (net of aJlowance bTWlCOllectilll::l 
...nett applicable) 

Current pmperty IIlleS ll,4tl,6T7 
Oolinquent property tala 836.919 
Due from other govemmental unu 10,212,9111 11,OSl,W 
Due oom cOrq>Oncnt una 62],718 723,120 
Accrued interest recl:iYable '.600 )),003 ""M' Accountl receivable 1,127,]45 1,20l,OJ] 
Contnoru receivable 39,400 11,232,127 

Due from other dind. 1,318 iW7,I44 5,432,332 
Advanecs I«eivable 429~ 429,259 
Inventories 116.511 
I'!qll)'mcnts and olher assets 3,179,1&7 4,!S.S17 

ToW current '!leu 603.591 62,803.971 393,320,OU 
Spcciolanessmcnts n:ceiv.blc 22,46S,m 4,447,UO 26.911,607 
Contracts receivable """.l'!1 

Totalilu ets , 23,069,318 , 446,S96.89S 

U.bilitiu 
o.mlin! Iiab~ul 

Volk:hers payable , m,l118 , 4,126,340 , \2,435,&49 

Accrued payroH 2,901.896 
D..Ie 10 olhe, govemmental uno m.3«l 1,298,199 
Due to othes funds 5,670,990 5,719.695 
Advance. payable <2,,259 "'", 
Unearned revenue 1.7l2,6S0 ]4,314,262 

Other accrued liabiitiu 21,628 ..,..", 18,002.923 

Total ]io.b~itie, 576,816 22,763,tl78 55, 1!i2,683 

Ddorn dlDft ..... oIR ...... rcn 

Unlnibble ..,venue-property IAEs ]4,957,659 

UnaYliiable ..,venue-speda] anessrrenl! 22,465,127 4,447,&80 26,913,007 

Unavailable revenue-«lnlracl! rece;"able ]O,02O,(I(X) 2I)~5,()()J 

TOll11dek~d irtflowt orresourc:el 22,465,127 14,467,&80 61,] ]6,266 

FUlid \alUte> 

No""pendable Sf7,459 1,647,600 
Restri;tcd "m 2],633,166 92,9]8,321 

Cbnmned 11,432,389 ]8,432.389 

Auigned 7,732 209,691,31(1 

Unassigned (462.24Zl: 628.256 

Total fund balances 26,775 4O,1~9J)99 323,3\1,946 
Totallillbilitio.s. defemd nflows ofn:soun:es, 

and fund balancu , 23,069J;I. , TlJ;90,0S7 , 446.596,895 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position 
September 30, 2012 

Tow fund balances for go~mmema1 funds 

Amounts reported for go~eDtal activities in the Statement of 
Net Position arc different because: 

Capital asseU used in gowmmcntal activities arc not financial 
resources and therefore are not reported in the ftmds. 

Land, oot being defCcciated 
Construction in progress, not being depreciated 
Land improvements, net 0($1,014,899 detnCiB1ion 
Building1 and impuvements, net of $94,1 59,567 depreciation 
Equipment and vehicles, net 0[$14,750,056 depreciation 
Infrastructure. net 0[$12,518,737 depreciation 

Other long-term assets.are oot available to pay for current 
period expenditures and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Capital. lease receivable 

Internal service fimds are used by management to charge the 
cost of certain ac:tivities, sucb as insurance and 
telecommunications, to individuaJ funds. The assets and liabilities 
of tile internal seruce funds arc included in governmental 
activities in the Statement of Net Position. 

Other post-employment benefits assets do oot represent 
fmancial resources and are not reported in tM funds. 

Property tax re~nues in tM Statement of Activities that do 
not provide current fmancial resources are deferred and not 
reported lIS re~nue in the funds. 

Long-term receivables such as special assessments and contracts 
receivable arc expected to be collected o~r sewral years and arc 
deferred in the go~mmenta.l funds and are not available to pay for 
current year expenditures. 

Long-term bonded debt is not due and payable in the current 
period and therefore is not reported in the fimdo!. Unamortized 
premiums, loss on refundings. md interest payable are DOt 
reported in the funds. Howc~r, these amounts are included in 
the Statement of Net Position. This is the net effect of these 
balances on the statement: 

Bonds and notes ~le 
Accrued interest payable 

Net position of go~mm.ental activi.ties 

S 1,235,551 
10,041,872 

142,481 
135,803,638 

7,673,189 
13,194,610 

(568,470,727) 
(l35,514) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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$323,317,946 

174,091,347 

9,935,000 

92,824,510 

299,937,972 

14,120,740 

53,158,601 

(568.606,241) 

$398,779,881 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes In Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 _ .... . ..... -. ........ 

s ...... "'" ... ~ Ad" 

...... 
T_ I """'''' I I 
Spec:iIlU$es.""",,- ."".", 
Fedmlpaatl '~.m 
State "",,11 •. ..",.. 
Oth .... iI:Itc:JOverllDX:llt&l TCVCII~a 13,sos,9904 
ClalJes filuervicel 10'l,617,U7 u~ 

CoIlbinl.OOIlS "'.W 
lDves_t iDeo .... 1,642,006 .., .... '" htdireet «I.t recovery .. ''' .... ""'. ,-",.M 

Tollll,"eoIuc DS,40t.743 .." ... ..,.,., --Current operatioo. 
CountyBa:utivc ....,..,.. ..."" 
OeNRe,iner orDeedl 10,110,290 -- ..",..., 
1115m admiIIistnlPoo 52,317,139 
aw ... ton:cmcnt ,,,,,, .... 
14iBlIlmI ""'" WlIleI:Resource Commissioner 5,o(l(I,l# 

NolH1epllrtmcDw 17,D96,Q29 

1011.1 twreIIt openciou 336,9S0,02l ~"" OopUlc>lnlay 135,379 

lDtcrcovcmmca!al 

Debl.erviu 
Pmcipal payllE'llti """ .. lDteTest &ad ftlcaI clwz .. '''''' .. 

Taw~cIiNrN 337,OlS,@ 15,m;16a 

E:a:es. (4ebru:,)ofm'Cll.uc over 
(WIder) CJPClIdRm; p,6&3.!!2 ... '" (11.294.7TQ 

OO .... lIa.aclq IOUJCel (usa) 
TrmsIi:rJ ill. 55,843,561 ".",. 

Trmsfenolll (31,192,l52) (24,459,416) 

Isnan«l of bonds 
ls.u.:.ee o(,efi,m4in.1 boDdi 11,645,000 
Pn:miwm aD hoods lold ''')TO 
DilcollDti 00 bolldl.old 

TotIlotherfiuDl:ialllOlIJIlCII (uea) l3~I.2IS (l4,d9,416) 12,~.1196 

Net chm&. ill fimd b.Iuc:es ""..,,,. (2.1,,(111,610) 111,l2j --October-I,2011 XII,I6I,884 13,604,-440 '.rn 
Sepu:.:Z« 30, 2012 I 223,4'29,440 I ~.sU.m I 116,1Kll 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

--WalItr 8*l 
s_ ....... 
"'. N. __ s .... IIIII:IerJO. ...... , - l Dll 

..... 
T~ S S S -"" Specia!uIHIme:na 3.(129,191 "".." .""" Fe.dc:ral iJlIDlS """"" ""' ... -om- """'" n,S23,I60 

Other mtcqOYCRlIDllltai ""'CDUes 11,113:1,499 25,3041,493 
Qwgel foTieMce:l ..,., lD,211,7SS Il.l,lI04,076 

COntd>utio ... "'-'" 711,965 
lnvcslmcD.t inco<& 4,161 13S,.(S9 l.223,477 

lIIdirect COlt recovery o,m,'" 

""'" 3,371,301 6.364.199 

ToWn:y"" ... 3,0l6,l0Z 109,m,m 451,533,09 

.... ---
CUmlli opentiocl 

CoUQIy Elew.tiv. U,423,ZM 174,9S7,912 

Oak/ReJistcr ofOccdJ 1,_ 12,07&,679 T __ 
1)22,119 

1 ... 1ioc .dministnOOIl 26,125,T1II 7t,443,609 

LaweaforeelllCnl >;""'" 1"""", 

Lcgililtive "",,1 4,471,413 

Water Ruo~ ColrolissiooCl" ."" S,lIl,UO 10,155)50 Noo4,,_ ,",m 17,164,651 

Total c:utte:al operatiou .",., 12SI,341,391 ""''''''' Caph1ou~ 
,...,,,. 1,124,757 

Intc:rzOVEraJD::DW ' .... ' ,m 1"'" 
Debt.emce 

PriDo;ipal ~meDtt .="" ,)00." """, .. 
I:ntemIt mel tlscal ChariH ,,' .. " ',911,165 4,111\896 

Tota!~iIwu S,025I,1OS \.Q,7S2,G 501,021,276 

eca. (dc6ciellC)') of "",eo,", over 

(wcla")~ (1,.993.~ """"'" ~49.417.131) 

Clbcr ~ IOun:es (uses) 

1'Dnskrl iD. ",00.'" 93,tiI,l7J 

TDnsfcrs out (3,QS9,024) (S9,4IO,ISl) 

IIIIIIlIU ofbollds 9,.300,!m ',300 ... 
II.IU&IlCC ofrcfimdin& bond, I,97S,1XXl 13,I53),(XXl 

I'rca:iIurII 011 bondI . ok! "",. "",",, 
Oiu:olllll:ll aD. iKuldI.old "')HI) (1<)JH) 

ToWothcr&w.c:iallOIllUl (USCI) 1""", .,....", S7,C96,B9' 

Net ehPllC iIIli.ml1 bUmC:C1 (177) fJ~P>7 7toJ,061 --OcI<I'-I, Mil X>,m 30.."", llS,7OI.W 

Septalber 30, M12 S 26,775 S 40,159,099 S m,317~ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements, 
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County of Oakland 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances - Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

Net change in fund balance· total go\ottllmcntal fimds 

Gowmmental funds report capital outlay as expellditurcs. 
Howewr, in the Statement of Activities, the cost oftbose assets 
is allocaed owr their estimated usefulliws as dcpreci.lltion ~e. 
This is the amount by ....ruch capital outlays exceeded depreciation 
in the current period. 

Construction in progress 
Buildings and ir:np'o~ents 
Equipmelll and \ehicie, 
DcJRCiation expense 

Payment receiwd on capital\case from a business.type fund 
provides currenl. financial resource5 and therefore re~ to 
govemmeatal funds. The payment received reduces a capital lease 
receivable in the Statement oCNet Position 

Internal service funds arc used by management to charge the 
costs of certain activities, such as insurance and telecommllJ.ications. 
to individual funds. The net reveruc (expense) ofllie imemal 
service funds is reported with go~entalllCtivities. 

Amortization ofOtber Post-Employment Benefits asset 
is not reported in the governmental funds. 

Property tax TewnUcs in the Statement of Activities that do 
not provide current fmaocial resources are deferred and not 
reported as re~nue in the funds. 

Prioe ye ... s deferral. 
Currert year deferral 

R.e~nue from specialll.'lseuments II!ld contracts receiwble 
reported in the Sta1ement of Activities in previous yean did not 
provide current finaDcial resources in the gow:mmental ftmds 
until the current year. 

Bond proceeds p"0vide ClnCnt fmaocial resources to go~mmental 
funds by issuing debt v.bich increase.! long-term bonded debt in 
the Statement of Net Position. Repayment ofbond principal is an 
expenditure in the go~rmnental fimds, but the repayment reduces 
long-term bonded debt in the Statemert of Net Position. Ibis is the 
amount P'Oceeds exceed repayments. 

Bond proceeds 
Repayment of bond Jrincipal 
kcrued interest 

Olange in net tisets of go~mmental activities 

$ 897,506 
364,174 

1,057,372 
(6,827,179) 

(14,430,140) 
14,120,740 

(22,920,000) 
41 ,820,000 

23,786 

The accompanying Dotes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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$ 7,609,061 

(4,501,127) 

(550,000) 

3,217,106 

(27,858,341) 

(309,400) 

4,337,58 1 

18,923,786 

$ 861,666 



Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

Major Funds 

Parks and Rec::reatioD - This fund is used to account for revenue eannarked for the operation of the 
County parks (currently 13). Principal revenue is from a voter-approved millage and user charges. 

Delinquent Tn Revolving - This fund is used to account for money advanced by the County to cities, 
townships, villages and County funds for unpaid property taxes, and the· subsequent collections of 
delinquencies from taxpayers. 

The COUDty Airports Fund - This fund was established to account for operations of the County's 
Oakland County International, Oaklandffroy. and Oakland/Southwest airports. Revenue is primarily 
derived from leases, hangar rentals, landing fees, and other rental or service charges. 

Water and Sewer Trust - This fund is used to account for monies received from those County residents 
whose water and sewer systems are maintained for their respective city, villages, or townships by 
Oakland County. There are currently 22 municipal water systems and 17 municipal sewer systems that 
are operated under these contractual arrangements. 

The Evergreen-Farmington S.D.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund - This fund was established to 
record the operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the City of Detroit 
for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities being serviced. 

Southeastern Oakland County S.D.S. (S.O.C.S.D.S.) - This fund was established to record the 
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage and stonn water to the City of 
Detroit for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the mWlicipalities being 
serviced. 

Non-Major Funds 

Non-major proprietary funds are presented, by fund type, in the following sections: 

Internal service funds 
Enterprise funds 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 
September 30, 2012 

•• d ..... Tn. A.linde. _ E ... !!rb. h ••• 
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llII.~_.,u1Ul. ."" 
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~1I .... ~Io(Il .. ..t_""h 
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kLht .......... , • .e 17,4.)'Il 1,1U,l6<i lJ.I3',U7 ',m,11) 
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Da ........ _lIIIuill nlm = .... 7,315,933 

DI>c II> ".li",,11 .. .., '" UU ...... NV ...... ..'" ~, .... 
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TIle aC(:ompanying notes are an integral part of the fmancial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position (Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
September 30, 2012 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements, 

60 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

OmiDen-Type Acti."itiu. EDterprile F1IDIb 
Major 

Wahrucl En~ ... c ... 
P ....... ~IiaqueDt Coaly S.M' . .......... 
bc ... atioa TulUYolYlac A ...... T~. SOS 

Opel'lltJiq RVtftDe 

Cwp fa seM;:es I 8,600,lS' I 211,:m,301 I 4,259,138 I 
S7~_ 

I 34,7S1,m 

""'"' """ 917,113 243,7-46 1,I4IJOl ~424 
Total operatmg reveme !J745,618 2!,l9I.414 • .102,It4 " .... '" lS,I04.221 

OptratiDa npelllu 
,..,." 7,374,940 ,..." 1,.ll71,699 1,354,166 121,1173 
Fmpbcocfb 2,697,102 46.019 106,9lO ""'" 10)50 
CoatractuaI servas 4,941,649 ".",7 1,413,543 32,443,.930 37,lSO,I36 
()mrnodU::o US,66S 19,930 1- 136,314 
Depreciatica. 2,921,953 4,485,306 ''' .... .",.,. 
lnlcma.I semes 1,357,300 212,541 12,J'1J,932 1,307,640 - 3,995,369 
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Noaopenuiac rnUDe (upe.u) 
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Net politin 
October 1,2011 ~1&&.963 21~71421 69.91l9;l5< '72.S49,m 32,911,.97' 

Scptembcz" 30, lOU I 981859147. I 2~7011S4 S &2,639zS!!! I 12921;&.586 I ~291708 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fmancial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
Vear Ended September 30,2012 

B.-melf-Type AdiYitiu - Eate~riu Ftmck 
Major 

Goverume.taJ. 
Ac1tvitiu -T.,.. Iatel'llal 

No .... M-Jor Sepkabu30, Service 
s.o.c.s.n.s. ..... zan ..... 

Operatiul reveou 
Clwges for Senilel , "....,., , 5O,s57,616 , =".. , 22S,637~4 
",,", 1~490 "..., 3~73,769 149,108 

Total opcrati:Ig m'tID 47d19,470 50,637S16 226,499,035 225._ 
OperUillC npemu ...... 105,617 2,412,055 12,S(4)j)S 26,506,822 
~beIEfD 53,592 l,S76.s63 5,880,924 11,269,241 
Ca!ttactual KrvEcl 41,763,004 4O,Il2,2OO 158,051,429 113,105,270 
(".ornrnodDe, 119,342 549,075 3,423,352 ..".,,17 
Dep-ccilltiXl 1,321,.'585 7:mY/S 18,149,366 3,813,096 
lDtunal service. 880,.959 2,744,367 11.8S3,739 ""',691 _ .... 

l.99S,l69 

Total operaq c~ 44204,099 55262,238 221l.8SIl,384 174,297,037 
Opcramg iIcomc (nu) 2,9I$J71 (4,124,662) S,640,6S1 SI,4S9.54S 

NODoperatiq: revtDIK (n.pI:DJu) 

"-"- 11,664,549 

""""""'" 13,.326,%0 
h1lerest re~ - federal gnDI 222,401 
lD1crcst rcvt:we 186)87 435,273 -"" 732,430 
loterest expense and puyma aged fees (9l'1OS) (29,259,498) 

"""" ........ (11l,s4S,DXl) 
Oail{bls) OIl sale of~ 
ande~ Q.071J (574,906) 213,451 

TotalllmClpCl8!Z!g reveooe (ClqIeDlcs) 186,3!7 43~196 2S,7SI.D21 (47,8S~61I.l 

Inc:anc (bss) heftre nnsfen ............. 3,101,758 (".292.466) 31J91,619 3,631,028 
Tl'UISi=n aDdC(latributiou 

Capbl COIIt!'bJti:q 786,768 17,161,Q2S 'OS,6S7 
Tnmsfcn in 2,751,166 2,169,.816 1.208,3-48 
Tl'8IISfcn OW @2,0(0) (3S,909'ss!l Q.1I72EJ 

Total tnnsfeq and C<DriIuti:tns 1)86.5}4 P5J:!z711); (413~ 
Spec:W ItCaI 

CcdrtIutictD ofPootiac W&s system 37,4'1l$J9 

Chose n net. poribJo 3,101,758 (3,OOS,932} 53~,861 3~17,106 

Ntt pellmoD 
October 1,2011 31.299,400 126,370,171 ,."39',,, 89,607,-404 

SqKc!l1bcr 30, 2012 , 304,401,158 , 123,364,239 , 703~819 , 92,.B24.s I 0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

--."'!II! AdMtleI- Elk!J1!:!:C'" ..... 
W ...... ..~-, ..... """'-' "'""" ,~ ...... -....... ~ Tu_ 

""""" -, 'DS 
c.1r. tl_ .. opel"llbc KttrIIiei 
Cuhn:a:ived fromusen I 9,7XI,G I 29.510,096 I 4,509,460 I 6t.n7,m , 37,911,9118 
Cub paid '" IUpplicn .;m/>6J """'" ..,.."'" ,"-""", (J7,9U,G46) 
CuhpU:I to eq>lo,._ (7374~ (51,6S~ (1.(771.699) (1)54.166) (rn,,," 

Nee cub (ucd i:I)pmviIIcd by 
opemq actiYDI (6,891.144) 29,17&,455 .... , .. 1.1S1.135 QD,131) 

ea. .. tl_ .. -..pltll liaoaoo:Iaa: _ ... 
Tmu:Cers fiomolhlrfwldl 
l'nIIIfm to ocher fwl41 (33,tiS1)51) 
ColltnlllrtiDu - ll.30I.375 
Prillcipol pD.i 0 11 debt 
111_ paid DII4ebt 
Plachase of delDquent plOperI)' tala (I07,67S,19S) 
Dom,.qW!:Dl propcny tala coktcd 127,s6a.1'1 
ilslllIICe ofshon-tam borrowZal li,lKkl,lXXI 
kpaylEEolilCOl:ived 011 advaDCCI "' ... ""-- 11,664,549 
illter.t p'lid 011. lhort-lam borIowiap ""';". l'aymcntt Olllhort4cl:m bormwiDa:1 (SO,OOO.OOO) 

Net cqll p..m:lcd by (used ill) 
1l0llcapital fiIaroI;io., ~ 11,619,934 (39,010,60)2 13)01,375 

c. .. c- tr.. eapltaI .... rdnod 
Ihwtd-cldhldet 

ColltributiDu III QlliIIllleQlliI:iIiou "'" Proceeda tomule ofboll.cIJ ".". 
Tl:aalfcn fiomotho:cflulds " .. '" iGtlO'elt _yay - blaal JIllllti 1111,771 Im,63S 
~ fromsUofeapilllDIN ,,,,. 
AC<juam of capital Uleta (l,7BS,+f7) (+f7,36I) (333,145) """" Pria~paid.OIl debt (IlS,fXXI) 
iDtemst paid. 011 debt ""'"'" l'ay1DClltll DO upiW IcaJc e>blismm (m,£KKl) 

"'_, """ fees paid 011 capitallcas. oblicllliDlI ''''''''' AJI:IolIDt paid. aD .av-
illten:sl pai4 aD KV&IICeII 

Net cub ued m CllPitaI 
aad rclIted IDaDcial actiTiIicI (2.123,!ill: ~I)l2,S46) (3J3,14!!: (97l)!1I) 

Cu," G .... fr-.1 .... dDl aethttiel 
i11leJftlOll mVe&trrelltI ,",,'" ""'" 142,7l2 llS,l10 10!1,7'lO 

Net cuh provided by ilveJtiD., 
lletivilZl ,",,'" ""'" ",,'" llS,l10 109,7'lO 

Net iaacase (dc=ato) ill cub 
aDd cub eqllMJcnb """'" (9,06S,IS5) 00'''''' 21,IS1,S1S "",m) 

PooIeIl_~ ud t._taoeat. 
00:10 her I, Xlii """'" I01,3lO,0I1 15,621,!1'D 2!1,011,81l IS,m,m 

ScpIembw)),2012 I 31,l36,sJD S ""'''' I "".,." I 50.223)17 I !4,'1¥i?,OSl 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

a._I-!D!Adhitia. IlIRqrln FudI ...,.. 
"""-......... - ..... ........ 5 .......... 30, s_ 

S.O.CJi.nS. -- 2012 .... 
C.k a- rr- DpUIItIJoc JldNtieI 
CUIr.~cdfromWlcn S 44,r2S.zn S 49,.n,sro S 231,153,189 S "'.901,755 
CUb pm ta IUpp\icQ (.o,m,4!H) (46JI19,214) (m,2l9.722) (\44,36',s6SJ 
Cub pold to etr(IklYeeli (IOS,617) (2,412,0SS) (Il,S04,2OS) ..... "" Net ea.h provided by (\!$cd in) 

opemi1J aeti¥tica 929,170 >00,3>1 ",,~-'" 55,IIl7,361 

c... jJ_lr-.~ aa..dac _ ... 
TnnJ(cn fromothcrlunds 2,751,766 2,7Sl,766 1,119)1\ 

TnnJ(en to other I'wIoU """"'" (3S,m,ssll (2,117,921) 
Contlil1rtionJ ,"""" 
Prin~ paid on debt (19,stS,0ll) 

llI~lpU:londcbl (29,243,638) 
Pun,:ha:sc of delinqu ... t property tIleS (l01,67S,&9S) 
DcliBqllCllt property WIeII collfocted 127,s6l,181 
llUuan~ of l oort-tcrm bclD'owillp 2S,(XI),1XXl 
~tI JeeeiYed on advlDCCI 17.,,, \19,111 -- U.664~ 

Illterell pai:! on Ibon-ten:u borrowinll (251,214) 
Payments Olllir.ort-tcrm borrvwmp ~so,lXXl,OOl) 

Netcuh provided by (lIled ill) 
1I0llcapitai rn.u~ina; ~ ,,,,,, 499,766 (13,.342.600) (49.717,1101) 

c. .. n_ rr- apilbo1 ...t rdaIcoI 
a-dDIltdhtd. 

Conllilllti:nu fOr capital aoqllillila& 3.'" 
Proeeed& from IIIe ofbo.".11 "'",. 
l'nDIftn frvmothtl"liIndl ,..,. ....., 
loteresl recovery - fedaal pmtl Zl1.<17 
Procoods from.1Ie oteapilalUletI '" '-'" SlO,II7 

AcquiI:~ion of """itaI useu (479,OJCJ) (4,979,206) (3,.07,010) 

~~111 pPd. on deb!: (13S,tm) 
Inte=t pai;I 011 debt (232,0») 

hymcDlI gil capllal k:ue 0~1i&at»D (515,000) 
Int=:ll tnd feel; paid OEl caplallease ob\ipti:lll <"'''''' Almtmt paid Gil M1vmce. (119,111) 
Jnt=:lt pP:I 011 ad.vaIICCI ",-'"" 

Net cuh used ill caput 
&DcI related firun~I.rovUs ~419,OI!:!l (5,119,661) (3,Q33,521) 

C.II a- rr-... ttaa Kthttlet: 
ln~t 011 iII .. csbll:DlS ,..on .... '" 1,-421,2S2 ".,'SI 

HI:! cuh provDed by iIIvestilla; 
activU:I ,,",on "'-'" 2,-421,2$2 I9S,ISI 

Net iDc:reue (decaase) ill. cuh 
tnd cuh cqllivdcoll 1,346,17S 1,1lQ,049 15,61~7 3,1I4,IIS 

Pooledcalludllna_ .... 
October I, 2011 "'-= 5O,9'J9,041 27S,JU,IIS 107,244 ,92S 

Septeuter 30, 2012 S 2l,~,112 S 52,049,(90 S 291,007,062 S 110,359,140 

]be accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial sta1ements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Cash Flows ,(Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

B.S-'-!D! AdhtUet - :r.t:n:rbc ,....... -
w_ ... --........ n.J1 ...... """'" s_ ---..- Tn_ "'- .... st" 

~ (loll) moo_ s (11)62.92]) s 2O,866,m s (3,467))65) s ,,,,,,'" S (-4,54(1,221) 

A djustm!:ats to recoDCiIe opemiDt (lou) inCOll'C 

to Det cuh proYidod by (ued ill) ~ 

actiYa. 
Dcp=iod:ioll CJP=IC ",,,,,,, 4,48:S,306 "' .... "'-'" 
(lncn:ue)~o ill due fi'OmGmer 

IOVcmm:awllDill "I..., 3.162.929 (1- _.m) l,oo:z.642 

(IDcreue) decrease ill due lium colq)Ollellt ..... 147,375 

(lncreae)decreue iII-.o\lDtI _oivable 19,091 5)35,615 ' ... 4.4651,414 

(lncle&!e) decrase ill d\le hili other ftm<b ~;"'J) 211,211 1,664,750 

(lncreue)decrase ill invcmtoriel and ,upp'" "". .... '" 
(Increase) decRue ill ~')'1IICIIt:I and other 

u.~ (13,zo) (",ll9) 

hlc:roue (d_e)iD vcouchen payabl8 "'",. (715,42.9) (192,1SJ) 474,SlS "'.., 
ilIc!MIe (deemue) ill due 10 other gOVerD-

IDClltai wm. (112),10) (659,345) $13,790 

laereu. (decrease) ill due to co~ IIDiII 

lDc:rase (eI_e) iD due to other fwIds (1,190,768) "" merus. (d_l) in uaeame4 ,"eIIIlK ",,, 4,310 

!Jr.=ue (4_.)iD. cum:atponiollor 

other 101lll-temJ.1iab1liDcl 

lDcrase (decn:ue) ill. other IeC!IlI!d liabilities 319,711 lI,3n ".'" ""'" (363)01) 

Incmue (decreue) ill otha' bn,.u; .... 

liabllmes 

Neteuh pmvidcd by (used ill) 

o~ ..:tivitieI S (6,891.144) S 29,171.455 S 161,166 S 7,l5I,llS S (123.131) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fmandal statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

B_t..'-D!! AethttI. - DUe! ...,.e JIUck ..... ........... ........ -
T .... -N .. -~ ~JO, s..-

S.O.c.s.n.s. .... 20U .... 
OperatiD.a iacorm: (kill) • 2,915,371 • (4,nA,662) • 5,640,651 • 51,419,154' 

Ad;utm::otl to ~nQle opcmioa acola (lOll) 

to net cub provicl.eCJ by (und in) opcqlq 

aaivu. 
Dep=iatioD ~e 1,l2I,sas 7!Jfi1Y/' 11,149,.366 3,113,09I!i 

(In..-.c)~e ill due fiumothcr 

govmIlUI!1\taI unb (2,296,921, (7I,713) I""",. .. '" 
(Increase) ~ ... c in due m:.111 co~ne:nt 

~b 472,175 .. ,.. ]1,422 

(ID<;JUSe)doo:n:ue in accounts «eeiubla "'>'1' "",DO) 035,391 1l."S6 

(In_e) dec:yuu in dill fIomothcr ftmds """" l,m.I" (1,463) 

(ln~e)dco:luJe ill inventorie:l me! .uppliet {381,414} """'" (474,477) 

(In<:!ftSe) dec:Rau iD prepaynalU and other 

uletl " ... ()O,3U) (7",.954) (14,351) 

klaeue (dOCJeNo)ia vo\lchen payable ",n. "',m m,no 1,099,454 

mereue (decre&lie)ia dllt \0 o!hcr IOVem-

."..".- (163,933) ... '" (1,Dl6,219) 09,176) 

mereue (decreue) ill dill! to COIIJIOII=.t unQ (I" (1,9ll,40) (1,921,459) 

JDereue (docrQso) iI dve to olh.fIlnd.J '" - (1,139,l511J) n", 
lDerale (decreue) iI unearned nov ... ue ("". i'9,nl ", ... 
mCRIUc (deomuo) in ~I portion of 

other Ion&-4emll:i.biUtl """." 
klaeue (4ccftue) ill other KC:r\Ied Iit.btiDe. (11,614) """" 6(1)43 (1,997)42) 

inc:R:Ne (4oc:n:ue) .. other Iolll.u:cm 

liabitlin I""'" 
Net casb pn;!vided. by (lUed ia) 

opcnob:ll aetivlr.b • 929,110 • "",II • """ ... • SS.Q37)61 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Proprietary Funds 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

Noncash trauactioD5 
Enterprise Funds 
~orfunds: 
Noncash and capitaJ related financing activities included contribution of capital assets in the 
amount of$16,935,461 lIIld'Mite off of $577,205 of construction in Jrogress in the Coumy Airpom 
fund. The Water & Sewer 1hlst fund recorded a special item capital coll1nDution of$37,492,899 
lIS aresult of acquisition of capital assets from the City ofponriac in the 8IJlOuol 0(SIII,183,637. 
less accumulBl:ed dcp-cciation of$58,252,68S. and the assumItion of debt for Mjcbigao Bond 
Authoritybonds inthe amount of$15,438,053. 

Noncash and non-capital related financing activities include'd interest expense of57,134 reported 
in the Vouchers Payable liability in the Delinquent Tax Rcwlving Fund, and recording ofContrBcts 
Receivable and UneamedRevenue of$1,108,325 intbc County Airports fund. 

Internal Service Funds 
Noncash and capital related financing activities included contri1:M:ion of capital assets of 
$495 ,657 in the Information Tcclmology fimd 
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Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 

Pension (and Other Postemployment Benefits) Trust Funds - Employee Pension Trust funds accept 
payments made by the County, invest fund resources, and calculate and pay pensions to beneficiaries. 
Postemployment benefit trust funds accumulate resources to provide health-related benefits to retired 
employees, dependents and beneficiaries. 

Investment Trust Funds - These funds account for momes from cxtemallocal units of govemment, held 
in a pooled investment portfolio for the benefit of the respective governmentaJ units under contractual 
arrangement. 

Agency Funds - These funds account for assets held by the County in a trustee capacity. Disbursements 
from these fWlds are contingent upon the trust agreemenl or applicable legislative enactment for each 
particular fund. Agency funds are generally clearance devices for monies collected for others, h.eld 
briefly, and then disbursed to authorized recipients. 

Combining schedules for fiduciary funds are presented, by fund type, in the foJlowing sections: 

Pension (and other postemployment benefits) trust funds 
Investtnent trust funds 
Agency funds 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position 
Fiduciary Funds 
September 30,2012 

Allets 
Pooled cash and mwstmcnts 
Cash and cash equiwJents 
m..estments, at fair wJue 

Common stock 
Preferred stock 
Go~rnment securities 
Corporate bonds 
Municipal bonds-
Commingled 
Limited partnerships 
Asset-backed fixed UK:ome 
CMO/REMIC m\estments 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Commercial mortgage-bac.ked secW'ities 
Money market funds 
hrtemational common stock 
EquityREIT 
Othoc 

Total invcstments 

Recciwbles - irtcrcst and diYidcnds 
Prepaid expenses 

Total assets 

Uabilltics 
Vouchers payable 
Due to other governmeDtal urutll 
Other accrued liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net position 
Held in 1hlst for Pension aDd other Postemployment 
bea1theare benefits, and pool participants 

PeDSioD 
(and Other 

POlt· 
employmeat IDvestmeDt 

Benefits) ..... t 
TrustFUDds ..... 

$ 11,081,852 $300,427,852 

567,309,8 56 
88,798 

159,699,491 
176,025,553 

3,452,024 
260,186,991 
249,430,297 

11,521,382 
7,152,349 

44,645,819 
20,769.018 
30,210,350 
68,909,158 
18,952,610 
65.632.491 

1,683,286.187 

5,251,142 
181.457 

1,700,500,638 300,427,852 

1,079,307 

8801792 

119601099 

$ 11698!540~39 $30014271852 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Ai:;eDCY . .... 
$254,576.197 

852,112 

170,320 

2SS~99299 

43,717,419 
199,889,841 

1119921139 

2551599299 

$ 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Changes in Net Position 
Fiduciary Funds 
Year Ended September 30,2012 

AdditiODJ 
Contnbutions 

Pool participants 
Plan members 

Total contributions 

Investment income 
Other revenue 

T ota} additions 

Deductions 
Benefits 
Adminlstrative expenses 
Distribution to pool participants 

Total deductions 

Net increase 

Net position held in trust for pension and other postcmployment 
healthcare benefits, and pool participants 

October I, 2011 

September 30, 2012 

$ 

PeD5iOn 
(and Other 

Post­
employment 

Benefits) 
Trust Fuow 

8131957 

813,957 

276,778,611 
314841376 

281,076,944 

72,067,163 
3,606,293 

7516731456 

205,403,488 

1,493,137,051 

$ 1,698,540,539 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Investment 
Trust 

Fund. 

$741,800,846 

741,800,846 

1,772,518 

743,573,364 

6771101 1264 
6771101 1264 

66,472,100 

233,9551752 

$30°1427,852 



Component Unit Financial Statements 

Component Units 

Drainage Districts · This component unit consists of many individual districts created for the purpose of 
alleviating drainage problems. This involves accounting for the resources and costs associated with the 
construction, maintenance, and ftnancing afthe individual drainage districts. 

Road Commission · This component unit is responsible for the construction and maintenance of the 
County's system of roads and bridges, and is principally funded by the State-collected vehicle ,fuel and 
registration taxes under Michigan Public Act 51 of 195 1. 

Combining schedules for Drainage Districts Funds are presented, by fund type, in the Drainage Districts 
section. 



County of Oakland 
Statement of Net Position 
Component Units 
September 30, 2012 

T.", 
D ....... Rood COlOpoont 
Dis tricts Commluioo UoJU 

Aneb 

"'"'" """ Pook:d cash and nvesbIE:nts I 31,907,193 I I 31,907,193 
cash and cash equiYaknt.1 39,5SS,579 ]9,555,579 
Roceivllbes (net ofallawaJK:c fer 
uoc:oDectilks where aw&:abk) 

Special assessnx:!U 1,661,616 8,661.616 
Due frttn other goycl'1llllelltal urW 6,569,352 6,.S69,3S2 
Accrued merest rcccivabe 103,932 100,9]2 
Accomts receivable ..,., 16,561,397 '"",,662 

Imcllll:rrs and suwks 4,033,167 4,D33,167 
Prepayments and otha assets S9lIJO 86?;:144 921z!M 

Total cunen1 assets 38,648.432 69,673,903 108,322.m 
Capbl assets. Bet 

Land and other nondcpeciab~ assets 49,609,949 IBI.2S 1.405 230,861,354 
Land io:qrovcm:1It!, DCt 109,46& 109,46& 
BuiJdi:Igs and ~11S, net 8,332,684 &,332,684 
Equpm:J:I: and vehick:s, net 1,719,rn 1,719.rn 
Infrastructure, net 459,499,459 981,169J:82 

Total caphl assc:ts, net 509,109,408 1,222,,192,765 
NODCUn'Cnt assets 

Net pension asset 1,740,298 1,74{),298 
Special asSCssmctD rcceivalZ 172.361J2D 172.361.520 

Totalassets 720,119,360 7&4,497,558 1,504,616,918 
Liabilitiu 
Current IBbiID:s 

Voocb:n pa~ 14,160)94 S,3{r7,11S 19,467,569 
Due to other govermncn!BI Jd.1 8,40S,.520 ~40S,s20 

Due to frinary goYCl'tlIDCDl 1,937,094 18,374 1,9S5.468 
Uneam:d rcvellll:: and advlmces 19,665,216 6,[m1m 25,763,093 
Aecnx:d mreJt payable 30,1104 30,804 
Current pmm oflong-term Ik:tt 13,1&S,OOO 15,167,000 
Otbr:r accrued IilbiID:s 1,434~7 3,698.673 

TtUlclnCIllliabhs S9,411,2?5 74,438.127 
Bonds and De! p&yab~ 196,361,606 197,861,606 
Ac:cru:d COOIpCIlS8ted absences 2,756,046 2,7S6,046 
CIai:m and~r4s 2,0s0,911 2,OSO,918 
~ postempIo)1Jx:I beDCfits 1~1~2S 12,27 1~25 

Totallia.bilRs 255,179,881 33,64&,341 289,428,222 
Net po. itioo 
I!M;stcd i::t capbl assets, DCt of related 

«" 298,962,802 71l,083,357 1.010,046,159 
Restricted for 
Special~ 5,414,872 5,484,872 
Dcttscrvi:e 1S4,764,2Q3 1S4,764,2Q3 

UU"Cstri;ted 5p7~ 391765~ 44~,462 

TotalDCt posiion I 464,3391479 $ 7S(),849~17 I I~UI I~696 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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County of Oakland 
Statement of Activities 
Component Units 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

FwKtioufProlnms 

DrUaap Diltriell 

&:.d ecamui:IJ 
Totalcampooeot uob 

GtDUW ReYeIUlt 

UlIRstrictcd mw.tmeDI camkIp 

CbaDgc b net posilicl!. 

Net politloll 

BcgiaDmg -. 

POOlralD Revelle 

0 ........ Cop"" 
CbarJ:u itr Gnat. and Grub aDd ........ 

E.lpe .. u SerTku Coatributio ... CoDtrlbUUoIU 
.k_ 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The basic financial statements of Oakland County (the County) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The 
Govenunental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles, which are primarily set 
forth in the GASB's Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards 
(GASB Codification). The more significant of the COW1ty'S accoWlting policies are described 
below. 

The Financial Reporting Entity 
As defmed by general ly accepted accounting principles established by GASB. the financial 
reporting entity consists of the primary government, as well as its component units, which are 
legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are 
financially accountable. Financial accountability is defmed as appointment of a voting majority of 
the component unit's board, and either (a) the ability to impose will by the primary government. or 
(b) the possibility that the component unit will provide a fmancial benefit to or impose a financial 
burden on the primary government 

The accompanying financial statements present Oakland County (the Primary Government) and its 
component units. The County's Parks and Recreation Commission is not legally separate from the 
County, nor does it possess separate corporate powers. As such, the financial data oCthe County's 
Parks and Recreation Commission have been included with the financ ial data of the Primary 
Government. The financial data of the component units are included in the County's reporting 
entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationships with the County. 

Blended Component Unit 
A blended component unit is a legally separate entity from the County, but is so intertwined with 
the County that it is, in substance, the same as the County. It is reported as part oCthe County and 
blended into the appropriate funds. 

• Oakland County Building Authority (thl! Authority) - A five-person authority is appointed by 
the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, and its activity is dependent upon Board actions. 
The purpose of the Authority is to finance, through tax-exempt bonds, the construction of 
public buildings for use by the County, with the bonds secured by lease agreements with the 
County and retired through lease payments from the County. The Oakland County Building 
Authority is reported as ifit were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to 
finance the construction of the County's public buildings. The Authority's activity is reported 
in various Debt Service funds (designated by the caption "Building Authority"), and the 
Building Improvement Fund, a capital projects fund. 

Separate fmancial statements for the Authority are not published. 
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Discretely Presented Component Unit 
A discretely presented component writ is an entity that is legally separate from the County but for 
which the County is financ ially accountable, or its relationship with the County is such that 
exclusion would cause the County's fmandaI statements to be misleading or incomplete. These 
component units are reported in separate colunms to emphasize that they are legally separate from 
the County. 

• Road Commission for Oakland County (Road Commission) - The Road Commission is 
governed by three appointees of the County Board of Commissioners who are nol County 
Board members. The Road Commission is responsible for the construction and maintenance of 
the County's syS1em of roads and bridges. and is principally funded by State-collected vehicle 
fuel and registration tAxes under Michigan Public Act 51 of 1951. The County has budgetary 
control and appropriation authority over its activities; however, such has not been exercised. 
The Road Commission's primary activities, which are as of and for the year ended September 
30,2012, are reported discretely as a governmental fund type - Special Revenue fund. The 
Road Commission Retirement System, which is as of and for the year ended December 31, 
20 II, is not reported in the fmancial statements of Oakland County. 

• Complete financial statements of the Road Commission, which includes the Road Commission 
Retirement System and its separately issued statements, can be obtained from its administrative 
offices as follows: 

Road Commission for Oakland County 
3100 I Lahser Road 
Beverly Hills, Michigan 48025 

• Drainage Districts - This component unit consists of 179 individual districts -created under 
Chapters 20 and 21 of Michigan Public Act 40 of 1956. for the purpose of alleviating drainage 
problems. This involves the construction, maintenance, and financing necessary to account for 
the cost of the drainage district. The individual districts, each a separate legal entity with 
power to assess the benefiting communities, is governed by the Drain Board for Oakland 
County, which consists of the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, the Chairman 
of the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, and the Chairperson of the Finance 
Committee of the Board of Commissioners. Assessments are made against the applicable 
municipalities within each district, including the Road Commission for Oakland County and 
the State of Michigan for road drainage. All activities of the various drainage districts are 
administered by the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner. However, the drainage 
districts are not subject to the County's appropriation process. Because of the relationship 
between the component unit and the primary government, it would be misleading to exclude 
the Drainage Districts' Component Unit from the financial statements of Oakland County. 

• The financial activities of the Drainage Districts as of and for the year ended September 3D, 
2012 are reported discretely as a governmental fund type. There are no separately issued 
fmand al statements of this component unit, although financial information for the specific 
drainage districts may be obtained from: 

Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner 
#1 Public Works Drive 
Waterford. Michigan 48328 
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Basic (Government-Wide) and Fund Fina ncial Statements - GASB Statement No. 34 
GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for state and local 
governments and requires that net assets be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into 
the following three categories: 

• Invested in capital assets, Det of related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding balances for bonds, notes, and other debt that are 
attributed to the acquisition. construction or improvement of those assets. 

• Restricted Det assets result when constraints placed on net asset use are either externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors and the like, or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

• Unrestricted net assets consist of net assets which do not meet the definition of the two 
preceding categories. Unrestricted net assets often are designated to indicate that management 
does not consider them to be available for general operations. Unrestricted net assets often 
have constraints on resources which are imposed by management, but can be removed or 
modified. 

The basic financial statements include both government-wide (based on the County as a whole) and 
fund financial statements. While the previous financial reporting model emphasized fund types 
(the total of all funds of a particular type) in the new financial reporting model, the focus is on 
either the County as a whole, or major individual funds (within the fund fmancial statements). 
Both the government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements) 
categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. In the govemment-wide 
Statement of Net Position, both the govenunental and business-type activities columns (a) are 
presented on a consolidated basis by column. and (b) are reflected, on a full accrual, economic 
resource basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and 
obligations. 

The govemment-wide Sta1ement of Activities reflects the degree to which direct expenses that are 
clearly identifiable with a given functional category (General Government, Public Safety, Justice 
Administration, Citizen SelVices, Pubtic Works, Recreation and Leisure, and Commerce and 
Community Development) are offset by program revenue. Program revenue includes I) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges 
provided by a given function or category, restricted investment earnings, and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of. a particular 
functional category. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either 
operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants. 
Property taxes and certain intergovernmental revenue are reported instead as general revenue, 
which are used to cover the net cost of the various functional categories of the County. 

The County policy is to eliminate internal activity from the Statement of Activities. This policy 
dictates the elimination of indirect expenses, but not direct expenses. The exception to this general 
rule is activities between funds reported as govenunental activities and funds reported as business­
type activities (Le., billings for services or products by internal selVice funds to Enterprise Funds). 
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The County does not currently employ an indirect cost allocation system. Rather, an administrative 
service fee is charged by the General Fund to the other operating funds to address General Fund 
services such as finance, personnel, purchasing. legal, administration, etc. This is treated like a 
reimbursement, eliminating revenue and expenses on the Statement of Activities. 

This government-wide focus is more on the sustainabiJity of the County as an entity and the cbange 
in aggregate financial position resulting from the activities afthe fiscal period. 

The fund fmancial statements are, in substance, very similar to the financial statements presented in 
the previous fmandaI reporting model. Emphasis here is on the major funds in either the 
governmental or business-type categories. Non-major funds (by category) are summarized into a 
single colwnn. 

The governmental funds statements in the fund financial statements are presented on a current 
fmancial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. Since the governmental fund 
statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis of accounting than the 
government-wide statements governmental column, a reconciliation is presented on the page 
following each statement, which briefly explains the adjustments necessary to reconcile the fund­
based financial statements into the full accrual governmental column of the government-wide 
presentation. 

Internal service funds of a government (which traditionally provide services primarily to other 
funds of the government) are presented, in summary form, as part of the proprietary fund financial 
statements. Since the principal users of the internal services are the County's governmental 
activities, [mandal statements of internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental 
column when presented at the government-wide level. The costs of these services are allocated to 
the appropriate functional activity. When appropriate, surplus or deficits in the internal service 
funds are allocated back to the various users within the entity-wide Statement of Activities. 

The County's fiduciary funds (which have been redefined and narrowed in scope) are presented in 
the fund financial statements by type. Since, by definition, these assets are being held for the 
benefit of third parties (pension participants and others) and cannot be used to finance activities or 
obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide 
statements. 

The focus of the entity-wide fmancial statements under the new reporting model is to present the 
County as a whole. The focus of the Fund Financial Statements is on the major individual funds of 
the govemmental and business-type categories. as well as the fiduciary funds (by category), and the 
component units. Each presentation provides valuable information that can be analyzed and 
compared (between years and between governments) to enhance the usefulness of the infonnation. 

Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting 
Funds are used to report the County's financial position and results of operations. Fund accOWlting 
is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating 
transactions related to certain govenunent functions or activities. A fund is a separate accounting 
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. 
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The County reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the County's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. Revenue is primarily derived from 
property taxes, state and federal distributions, and charges for services. 

The Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund accounts for the State mandated transfers of equal amounts for 
a three-year period of the property tax shift from a winter levy to a summer levy to replace county 
revenue-sharing payments. These transfers from the General Fund will amount to the property tax 
levy for fiscal year 2004. 

The Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund was established 10 accumulate the resources for payment 
of bonded debt issued for the construction of. or improvement to various facilities. This also 
includes debt issued as assistance in obtaining favorable lending rates for other units of government 
within the County. 

The Water and Sewer Refunding Debt Act 342 Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources, 
mainly special assessments against benefiting municipalities. for the payment of bonded debt 
issued for construction of various water and sewer systems in Oakland County. 

The County reports the following major enterprise funds: 

The Parks and Recreation Fund accounts for the operation ofthe Oakland County parks system. 

The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund accounts for money advanced to the County and other local 
units of government for unpaid property taxes, and the subsequent collection of delinquencies. 

The County Airports Fund was created to account for operations of the County's airports. 

The Water and Sewer Trust Fund accounts for the collection of resources for the operation of 
various water and sewer systems maintained by the County rather than the respective 
municipalities. 

The Evergreen-Farmington S.O.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund was established to record the 
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the City of Detroit for 
treatment Costs arc recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities serviced. 

The Southeastern Oakland County S.D.S (S,O.C.S.D.s.) Fund was established to record the 
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage and storm water to the 
City of Detroit for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the 
municipalities being served. 

Additionally. the County reports the following fund types: 

Governmental Fund Types 
Special Revenue Funds are used to ensure that specified resources (other than expendable trusts 
and funds for major capital improvements) are used as required by legal. regulatory, and/or 
administrative provisions. Included within the Special Revenue Funds are programs for ~are of 
children, drain maintenance, and certain grant operations involving public health. employment 
training, community development, environmental infrastructure programs and other grants. 
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Debt Service FWlds account for the financing resources and payment of current principal and 
interest on debt. Debt Service Funds account for servicing of general long-term debt of various 
building authority debt issues, and debt associated with local water and sewer obligations upon 
which there are County guarantees. 

Capital Projects Funds account for the acquisition, construction, and renovation of major capital 
facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds. 

Proprietary Fund Types 
Internal service funds account for goods and services provided to departments, funds, and 
governmental units on a cost-reimbursement basis. Included within the internal service funds are 
certain fringe benefits provided to County employees which include health. workers' 
compensation, unemployment compensation, information technology, various equipment revolving 
funds, and central service-type operations. 

Enterprise Funds, business-type activities, report operations for services to the general public, 
financed primarily by user charges intended to recover the cost of services provided, and include 
three airports, four sewage disposal systems, parks and others. 

Private-sector standards of accounting and fmancial reporting issued prior to December I, 1989 
generally are followed in both the govenunent-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to 
the extent those standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option of following subsequent private 
sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same 
limitation. The County has elected not to follow subsequent private sector guidance. 

As a general rule, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
fmancial statements. The exception to this general rule is activities between funds reported as 
governmental activities and fund's reported as business-type activities. 

Amounts reported as program revenue include I) charges for customers for goods supplied or 
services provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. 
Internally dedicated resources, as well as taxes, are reported as general revenue rather than as 
program revenue. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenue and expenses generally result from providing goods and services in connection with a 
proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and 
internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation of capital assets. Revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
non-operating revenue and expenses. 

Fiduciary Fund Types 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
government Oakland County's fiduciary funds include Pension (and other post-employment 
benefits) Trust funds to account for retirees' retirement and medical benefits; Investment Trust 
funds, which report funds deposited by and invested for local units of government; and Agency 
funds, which account for assets held in trust by the County for others. These funds are not 
reflected in the government-wide fmWlcial statements because the resources of the funds are not 
available to support the programs of Oakland County. 
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Basis of Accounting 
• Primary government - The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is 

determined by its measurement focus. Governmental funds arc accoWlted for using a current 
financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, on1y current assets, 
except for certain miscellaneous receivables and special assessments, and current liabilities are 
included on the balance sheet. Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the 
County's general activities. including the collection and disbursement of earmarked resources 
and the servicing of long-tenn debt. 

• Proprietary, Pension Trust and Investment Trust Funds are accounted for on a flow,""f­
economic-resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities are included on the 
Statement of Net Position with the balance classified as net assets. Proprietary funds account 
for activities similar to those found in the private sector, where the detennination of net income 
is necessary or useful for sound financial administration. 

• The fmanciaI statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting, which 
recognizes revenue in the accounting period in which they become susceptible to accrual. 
generally when they become both measurable and available. Property taxes are levied on 
December I and July I of each year (see Note 4) and are recognized as revenue in the fiscal 
year during which they are levied, and interest associated with the current fiscal period is 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and has been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal 
period. Only the portion of special assessment receivable due within the current fiscal period is 
considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. Other revenue is 
considered to be available when anticipated to be collected within 60 days of the end of the 
fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. except debt 
service expenditures, which are recorded when paid. 

• Proprietary, Pension Trust and Investment Trust Funds use the accrual basis of accounting. 
Under this method, revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time 
liabilities are incurred. Agency funds, which report only a Statement of Net Position, use the 
accrual basis of accounting. 

Discretely P r esented Component Units 
The Road Commission uses the current financial resources measurement focus for its governmental 
fund-type activities. The governmental fund type is used to account for all of the Road 
Commission's activities, including the collection and disbursement of earmarked resources and the 
servicing of long-term debt. Revenue and expenditures are recorded under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, and, as such, revenue is recorded when measurable and available, and earned. 
Project-related revenue is recognized as related costs are incurred, except for interest on long-term 
debt, which is recorded when paid. 
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The Drainage Districts use the current financial resources measurement focus for their activities. 
The governmental fund type is used to account for all of the Drainage Districts' activities, 
including the financing of the cost of construction and maintenance of Drainage Districts and 
servicing of long-tenn debt. Revenue and expenditures are recorded under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, and as such, revenue is recorded when measurable and available, and earned. 
Project-related revenue is recognized as related costs are incurred, except for debt service 
expenditures, which are recorded when paid. 

Budgets 
Budgets and budgetary accounting are on the modified accrual basis, which is consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP basis) in that property tax revenue is recognized 
when made available by Board resolution. The budget was legally adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners prior to September 30, 2011 and presented in a separate document. Appropriation 
budgets were adopted for the General Fund and the following Special Revenue funds: Revenue 
Sharing Reserve, Child Care, and Social Welfare-Foster Care. Appropriations lapse at the end of 
the year. Project-length financial plans are budgeted for the remainder of the Special Revenue 
funds and fo r all Debt Service and Capital Projects funds. Budget and actual comparisons for such 
funds are not reported in the financial statements because annual budgets are not prepared.. 

Encumbrances are recorded at the time that purchase orders and contracts are issued. The 
encumbrances are liquidated when the goods or services are received. Unliquidated encumbrances 
at the end of the year are set aside as assigned within fund balance. In the succeeding year, the 
encumbrances are fe-appropriated by the Board of Commissioners to cover the unliquidated 
encumbrances included in fund equity. 

Pooled Cash a nd Investments 
The County maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds except the pension trust funds, the 
Interim Retiree Medical Benefits Trust fund, and two agency funds (Jail Inmate Trust and District 
Court Trust), in order to maximize investment earnings, Investments of the pool are not segregated 
by fund but each contributing fund's balance is treated as equity in the pool. For funds not in the 
pool, cash equivalents are considered to be demand deposits and short-term investments with an 
originaJ maturity dale of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Cash overdrafts occurring in funds participating in pooled cash accounts at September 3D, 2012 
have been reclassified as a "due to other funds,~ and a corresponding "due from other funds" was 
established in the General Fund, Similarly, nega1ive accrued interest receivable caused by negative 
cash balances is also reclassified at year end as an inter-fund liabili ty. 

The County's investments are stated at fair value, which is determined by using quoted market 
rates, if the investment is traded on a recognized stock exchange. There are no derivative 
instruments or products in the County's non-pension investment portfolio at September 30, 2012. 

Pooled investment income is allocated to all funds based on the respective share of their average 
daily balances. Interest charges for funds with negative balances are reported as negative interest 
income. 
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Inier-fund RecelvabJeslPayable 
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for goods 
provided or services rendered. Short-tenn receivables and payables resulting from such 
transactions are classified as "due from other funds" or "due to other funds" on the balance sheet. 

Non-current portions of long-tenn inter-fund loan receivables are reported as advances and are 
offset equally by a reservation of fund balance. 

Inventories 
Inventories in proprietary funds, except for the Facilities Maintenance and Operations fund, an 
Internal Service fund, are stated at cost or market using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories in 
the Facilities Maintenance and Operations fund are stated at cost or market using the averagCwCOst 
basis. 

Prepayments 
Payments made for services that will benefit periods beyond September 30, 2012 are recorded as 
prepayments using the consumption method. 

Capita l Assets 
Capital assets, wh.ich include land, buildings, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, 
drains, and similar items), are reported in the government.wide statements and applicable 
proprietary fW1d financial statements. Capital assets that are used for governmental activities are 
only capitalized in the government-wide statements and fully expended in the government funds. 
The County established capitalization thresholds for capital assets of $5,000. Capital assets are 
stated at cost or, if donated, at estimated fair market value at the time of donation. In some 
instances, capital asset historical costs were not available; therefore, the costs of these assets at the 
dates of acquisitions have been estimated. Expenditures materially extending the life of capital 
assets are capitalized. Interest incurred during construction is only capitalized in proprietary funds. 
Capital assets are depreciated over their useful lives, using the straight-line depreciation method. 
infrastructure (~public domain~) assets, including roads, bridges, sanitary sewers, drains, curbs, and 
gutters, are capitalized. 

The COW'lty's estimated useful lives of the major classes of property and equipment follow: 

Land improvements 
Bui1din.g5 and improvements 
Equipment and vehicles 
Sewage disposal systems 
Infrostruct= 

Yean 

10-15 
35-45 
3·10 

40-50 
10-75 

Capital assets used in the general operation of the Road Commission are depreciated under various 
methods, including straight· line and sum-of-the·years digits. . 
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Compensated Absences 
Compensated absences (vested sick and annual leave) of the Primary Government that are allowed 
to accumulate are cbarged to opemtions in the Fringe Benefit fund (an Internal Service fund) as the 
benefits accrue. Compensated absences for the Road Commission are accrued when incurred in the 
government.wide financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in the 
governmental funds only for employee tenninations as of year end. 

No liability is recorded for non-vesting accumulating rights to receive sick pay benefits for the 
Primary Government and Component Units. 

Pension and Other Postemploymenl Benefit Costs 
The County offers both pension and retiree healthcare benefits to retirees. The County receives an 
actuarial valuation to compute the annual required contribution (ARC) necessary to fund the 
obligation over the remaining amortization period. In the governmental funds, pension and OPEB 
costs are recognized as contributions are made. For the government-wide statements. the County 
reports the full accrual cost equal to the current year required contribution, adjusted for interest and 
"adjustment to the ARC" on the beginning of year balance, if any. 

Fund Equity 
In the fund financial statements for the goverrunentai fund reports, the following are the 
components of fund balance. 

• Nonspendable, includes amounts that cannot be spent 

• Restricted, amounts that are restricted to specific purposes externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors. contributors. or laws or regulations of other governments. or imposed by law through 
enabling legislation. 

• Committed, amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints 
imposed by formal resolution of the Board of Commissioners, the County's highest level of 
decision-making authority. 

• Assigned, amounts that are constrained by the County's intent to be used for specific purposes, 
but are neither restricted nor conunitted. These assignments are authorized by the Board of 
Commissioners. 

• Unassigned is the residual classification of the General Fund. and the reporting of any negative 
fund balance of a governmental fund. 

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and wuestricted net assets or 
fund balance are available. the County's policy is to first apply restricted resources. When an 
expense is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the wuestricted fund balance 
classifications could be used, it is the County's policy to spend funds in this order: committed, 
assigned, and unassigned. 
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Deferred Inflows or Resources 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of fmancial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an OOluisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resoUl1:eS (revenue) until that time. The government has only one 
type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accoWlting, that qualifies for 
reporting in this category. Accordingly. the item, unavailahle revenue, is reported only in the 
governmental funds balance sheet The govenunentaJ funds report unavailable revenues from three 
sources: property taxes, contracts, and special assessments. These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

Property taxes levied are used to finance the expenditures of the current fiscal period (October I, 
2011 through September 30, 2012) and are reported as revenue in the financial statements. 
Amounts nOf collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year are considered unavailable for 
the current period, and are reported as deferred inflows. 

In 2012, the County implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 63 , 
Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred /njluws of Resources, and Net 
Position and Goverrunental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 65, Items Previously 
Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 63 
incorporates deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, as defined by GASB 
Concepts Statement No.4, into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure 
of net position, formerly net assets. This statement also provided a new statement of Net Position 
format to report all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 
and net position. Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 65 establishes 
accounting and fmancial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources, cenain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. This statement also 
provides other financial reporting guidance related to the impact of the financial statement elements 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the basic fmancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and asswnptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
basic financial statements, September 30,2012. These estimates and assumptions also affect the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
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2. Legal CompliaDct - Budgets 

The Board of Commissioners has established the legal level of control by control groups, as 
outlined in the County's General Appropriations Act. This act states that expenditures shall not 
exceed the total appropriations for personnel expenditures (salaries, overtime. and fringes), 
operating expenditures, and internal support expenditures (Internal Service fund charges), 
respectively, by department. Budgets are adopted and presented on the GAAP basis of accoWlting. 

The Board of Commissioners is authorized to make amendments to the various budgets as deemed 
necessary. Current year supplemental budgetary appropriations were not material. Funds that 
receive an appropriation and can therefore be defined as those with an appropriated, annual, legally 
adopted budget are the General Fund and the following Special Revenue funds: Revenue Sharing 
Reserve. Child Care, and Social Welfare-Foster Care. The budgetary comparison for the General 
Fund and Revenue Sharing Reserve fund (major special revenue fund) are presented in the 
Required Supplementary Information. The Child Care and Social Welfare Foster Care funds are 
presented in the Special Revenue Funds section. 

Transfers within and between budgeted funds and departments may be made by the Fiscal Officer 
(Director of Management and Budget Department) in the following instances: 

(a) Transfers may be made from the non-departmental overtime reserve account and fringe 
benefit adjustment account to the appropriate departmental budget as specific overtime 
requests are reviewed and approved by the Fiscal Officer. Additionally, overtime 
appropriations may be transferred between divisions within a department at the· request of 
the deparunent head, if authorized by the Fiscal Officer or designee. 

(b) Transfers may be made from the non-departmenta1 appropriation reserve accounts for 
maintenance department charges and miscellaneous capital outlay to the appropriate 
departmental budgets as specific requests for these items are reviewed and approved by 
the Fiscal Officer. 

(c) Transfers may be made from the non-departmental appropriation reserve accounts, 
emergency salaries, and summer help as specific requests for these items are reviewed 
and approved by the Director of the Human Resources Department 

At year end, the Board of Commissioners adopts a resolution which authorizes and closes amounts 
exceeding the original appropriation against the balances in other appropriations and closes the 
remaining balance to the General Fund's ~Unassigned Fund Balance." 

During the year, the County incurred expenditures over certain appropriations which are presented 
at the legal level of control as follows: 

Speciallhvtnue Fuad$ 
Orild Care 

Colmty Executi", 
H\DD.IIl Services 

Perso!lIlei expeoditures 

Exces. 
ApproprbUOD Expenditure. EIpendi tare. 

$ 14.534,783 $ 14,558,120 $ 23,337 

These excess expenditures were closed against other appropriation balances in accordance with the 
County's policy and approved by a Board of Commissioners' resolution in fiscal year 2013. 
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3. Deposiu and Investments 

The County has deposits and investments which are maintained for its primary government. 
component unit and fiduciary fund types. 

For the primary government, the County manages its investments in a pool fonnat which is used by 
all County funds. Share value is maintained at $1, with interest rates floating daily. Investment 
income is allocated back to County funds based on their share of the pool which is calculated on 
their average dai ly cash balance. 

For its pool, the County only uses federal and state-chartered banks and savings institutions, which 
are members of the FDIC, and have a location in the state of Michigan. All deposits and 
investments for the pool are held in the County's name and tax ill nwnber. 

The County Treasurer is permitted to offer an investment option to local units of government 
within the County, caned the Local Government Investment Pool (LOW). Contracted participant 
deposits are treated just like County funds and receive a share of earnings based on their average 
daily cash balance. The LOIP is not subject to regulatory oversight, is not registered with the SEC, 
and does not issue a separate report. The LOIP is managed as a 2(a)7 fund with its net asset value 
maintained at $1. Fair value of the position in the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. 
The LGIP has not provided or obtained any legally binding guarantees during the period to support 
the value of the shares. Investments are valued monthly. 

Deposits 

It is County policy to review and verify a bank's creditworthiness through a system of ratio 
analysis and from information provided by several third-party sources. In addition, the County 
places concentration limits on banks based on creditworthiness resulting from both the ratio 
analysis and third-party infonnation. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a 
bank failure. the County's deposits may not be returned. 

As of September 30, 2012, the bank balance of the County's deposits was $1,293,668,403. Insured 
deposits were $73,427,647, and the remaining $1,220,240,756 was uninsured, uncollateralized, and 
held in the County's name. 

The Drainage District' s component unit's cash, deposits and investments are maintained in pooled 
accounts of the County; therefore, their amount of insurance would be allocated to the Drainage 
District's deposits based on their prorated share of the investment portfolio. 

The County's Investment Policy allows for the use of bank deposits including certificates of 
deposit. The only limitation placed on bank deposits is that they cannot exceed 6()01o of the total 
investment portfolio. In addition, the County's investment policy limits the investment with any 
single financial institution to 15%. 
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At September 30, 2012, the Road Commission component unit had no bank deposits (cbecking and 
savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralizecl. The Road Commission would have 
had approximately $5.7 million of bank deposits that were uninsured and uncollateralized as of 
September 30, 2012 if the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refonn and Consumer Protection Act had 
expired prior to that date (the Act expired on December 31, 2012). 

Investments - loternallDvestment Pool 

Investments. except those of the Retirement Systems, Interim Retiree Medical Benefits Trust and 
Deferred Compensation Plan, are administered by the Treasurer under guidelines established by 
Act 20 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1943, as amended and the Investment policy as adopted by 
the County's Board of Commissioners. The County's Investtnent Policy is more restrictive than 
state law and allows for the following instruments: 

I. Bonds, securities, and other obligations oftbe United States or an agency or instrumentality of the 
United States. 

2. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts, or depository receipts of Michigan 
financial institutions. 

3. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase aI the highest classification estahlished by not 
less than 2 standard mting services and that matures not more than 270 days after the date of 
purchase. 

4. Repurchase agreements consisting of instruments in subdivision I. The PSA Master Repurchase 
Agreement prototype agreement shall be employed with appropriate supplemental provisions 
regarding security delivery, security substitutions, and goveming law. A signed Repurchase 
Agreement must be on file before entering into a repurchase transaction. 

5. Bankers' acceptances of United States banks. 
6. Obligations of this state or any of its political subdivisions that at the time of purchase are rated as 

investment grade by not less than 1 standard rating service. 
7. Obligations described in subdivisions 1 through 6 if purchased through an inter-local agreement 

under the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967. 
8. Investment pools organized under the Surplus Funds Investment Pool Act, PA 367 of 1982. 
9. Investment pools organized under the Local Government Investment Pool Act, PA 121 of 1985. 
to. Mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 with authority to only 

purchase investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by a Michigan public 
corporation. Investment is limited to mutual funds that maintain a net asset value of $1.00 per 
share. 
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As of September 30, 2012, the County had the following deposit and investment types in its 
internal investment pool. 

Deposit and Investment Type 

Certificates ofOeposit (1) 
Deposit Accounts (1) 
Money Market Investment Pools 
MI Government Coupon 
U.S. Agencies 

Total Market Value of lntema1lnvestment Pool 

$ 

$ 

Market Value 

748,960,268 
544,708,135 

2,801 
44,634,951 
21,264,238 

1,359,570,393 

Weighted Average Maturity oflntemaJ Investment Pool (in days) 

Weighted Average 
Maturity (davs) 

349 
1 

1 
4,666 

786 

252 

(1) These items are considered deposits and not investmenK They are presented here to give a 
clear picture of the investment pool's overall weighted average maturity. 

Credit Risk- The County had $21,264,238 invested in U.S. government securities which are rated 
AA+ by Standard & Poor's and Aaa by Moody's. The County had $44,634,951 in Municipal 
bonds rated Aaa by Moody'S, AA+ by Standard & Poor's; and 5302,322 mted AA and 51,723,489 
rated BBB+ by Standard & Poor's. State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two 
ratings issued by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization (NRSRO). It is the County's 
policy to funher limit its investments in commercial paper to only the top rating as issued by 
NRSROs. As of September 30, 2012, the County had no investments in commercial paper. One 
money market investment pool used by the County, with a fair value of $5,520 at September 30, 
2012, is not rated. The County's investment policy is silent on the use of rated versus unrated 
money market funds. In addition, there is no rating level requirement for unrated money market 
fund>. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the possession of 
another side party. The County's Investment Policy requires that all investment transactions 
(including collateral for repurchase agreements) be conducted on a delivery-versus-.payment (DVP) 
basis. Securities shall be held by a third-party custodian, as designated by the County Treasurer, 
and shall be evidenced by a safekeeping receipt. As of September 30, 2012, 565,899,189 in 
investments, at fair value, was held in third-party safekeeping in the County's name. 

The County also invests in money market funds that have their securities safe kept with a third 
party selected by the counterparty. However, the pool's securities are held in trust for the 
participants of the fund and are not available to the counterpany if the counterparty should happen 
to fail. We believe this arrangement satisfies the County's investment policy safe-keeping 
requirement. 

Concentration a/Credit Risk -Investments. The County's investment policy allows for no more 
than 15% to be invested with any single financial institution. On September 30, 2012, the County 
had no U.S. agency issuers that exceeded 5% of the total portfolio. 
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Interest Rate Risk - To limit its exposure to fair va1ue losses from rising interest rates, the County's 
Investment Policy states the County will not directly invest in securities that mature more than 
three years from date of purchase; however, securities exceeding the three-year limitation may be 
purchased provided maturity dates coincide with the expected use of the funds. As of September 
30,2012, the internal investment pool had a weighted average maturity of252 days and the longest 
investment maturity in the portfolio was 5,295 days (14.7 years). 

Investments - Pension Trust Funds 

The Pension Trust FW1ds and the Inlennediale Retirees' Medical Benefits Trust Fund investments 
are made in accordance with Act 55 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1982, as wnended, and are 
limited to no morc than 65 percent in common stock. In addition, no investments, loans, or leases 
are with parties related to the pension plan. 

Pension investments are made through the use of Investment Advisors which are selected and 
retained by the Retirement and Deferred Compensation Board (pERS, VEBA and IRMB). The 
advisors serve at the leisure of the Board as provided by investment agreements. At September 30, 
2012, the Primary Government's Pension Trust fund had 21 investment advisors. Investments are 
held in street name by safekeeping agents under formal trust agreements and/or in the Retirement 
Systems' name. 
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As of September 3D, 2012, the CoWlty had the following investment types in its Retirement 
System: 

Average 
Duration 

Investment Type Fair Valoe Perc.entage (lDYean } 

Government Bonds $ 159,455, I 06 9.38 % 1.48 
Asset-Backed Fixed Income 12,161,571 0.72 2.51 

Commercial Mortgage-Sacked Securities 20,941,577 1.23 1.47 

Mortgage-Backed Securities 47,5 14,205 2.79 1.97 

Municipal Bonds 3,452,024 0.20 NfA 
Corporate Bonds 176,744,437 10.39 6.61 

CMOIREMIC Investments 1,422, 141 0.44 2.49 

Common Stock 565,787,165 33.27 NfA 
EqWty ADR 2,153,953 0.l3 NfA 
EqWty REIT 18,952,610 1.1 1 NfA 

Exchange Traded Funds 749,521 0.04 NfA 

Intemational Common Stock 59,462,83 1 3.50 NfA 
International Government Bonds 7,579,778 0.45 NfA 
International GDR 1,359,879 0.08 NiA 

Investment Companies-Mutual Funds 63,475,458 3.73 NfA 

Money Market Funds 48,875.256 2.81 0.03 

Short Term Investments 7,381,632 0.43 NfA 

Real Estate 3,080 0.00 NiA 

Investtnent Companies-Comm.ingk:d Funds 260,186,991 15.30 NiA 
Limited Partnership 236,855,297 13.93 NfA 
Ahemative Investments 69,581 0.00 NfA 
Preferred Stock 88,799 om NfA 

Total $ 1,700,672,892 100.0 % 
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Credit Risk. The Board's adopted Statement of Investment Goats and Objectives (SIGO) states 
that no non-convenible bonds and convertible securities are authorized for purchase. In addition, 
no more than 10% of the total value of the portfolio, at the time of purchase, may be held in non­
investment grade bonds as rated by Moody's and/or Standard & Poor's. Ninety percent of the total 
value of the portfolio must have a quality rating of A or better by Moody's and St.andard & Poor's. 
For any security held in the portfolio that drops below investment grade as rated by Moody's or 
Standard & Poor's. the investment manager is to advise the Board of that fact along with a 
buy/hold recommendation. The Board shall then instruct the investment manager as to which 
action should be taken. As of September 30, 2012, debt obligation investments held in the 
retirement system had the following ratings: 

Ratings 

Fair Value PerceDtage Moody's s&P 
$27,627,672 4.93 ,,{, Aaa AM 
208,497,976 37.22 Aal AA+ 

13,172,435 2.35 Aa2 AA 
15,401,734 2.75 Aa3 AA· 
18,629,1 71 3.33 Al A+ 
37,806,992 6.75 A2 A 
22,005,735 3.93 A3 A-
15,029,343 2.68 Bel BBB+ 
17,160,036 3.06 Baa2 BBB 
22,732,024 4.06 BaaJ BBB-

9,017,199 1.61 Bal BB+ 
6,465,455 1.16 Ba2 BB 
3,749,397 0.67 Ba BB-
9,154,430 1.63 B2 B+ 
1,162,156 0.21 B.:3 B 
2,203,938 0.39 BI B-

1301371 1376 23.27 NR NR 

5560,187,069 100.00 % 

Custodial Credit Risk is the risk associated that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
Retirement System would not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the 
possession of another side party. The Retirement System's Statement of Investment Goals and 
Objectives (Stoo) requires that all investment transactions shall be conducted through a custodian 
that will act as the system's third party. Securities shall be held by the custodian, as designated by 
the Retirement Boards, and shall be evidenced by a custodial report. As of September 30, 2012. 
$1,697,298,105 in investments was held in third-party safekeeping in the County's name. 

Concentration a/Credit Risk. The Board's adopted Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives 
(SIOO) states that no more than 5% of the assets of the Retirement System's portfolio may be 
invested in the fixed-income obligations of anyone corporation or its affiliates and no more than 
10% may be invested in the equity of anyone corporation or its affiliates. Further, for fixed­
income investments, no more than 10010 of the assets of the portfolio may be invested in the 
secwities of any governmental agency that is not fully backed by the U.S. govenunent. No 
limitation applies to obligations of the United States Treasury or any fully guaranteed agency of the 
federal government 
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For equities, holdings of all securities of an industry group should not exceed 25% of the portfolio 
at cost. ADRs should not exceed a maximum of 10% of the portfolio at cost and shall be further 
limited to Canadian securities and non-U.s. domiciled corporations issuing U.S. securities. As of 
September 30, 2012, as reported by the system's investment managers, no holdings exceed any of 
the Board's adopted limits. 

Interest Rate Risk - The Board's adopted Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives (SIGO) 
places no limitation on the system's fixed-income managers on the length to matwity for fixed­
income investments. As the schedule on page 88 indicates, the system's fixed -income investments 
had average durations of between .03 years and 6.61 years which is reasonable given the long-term 
nature of the system. Having reasonable durations will reduce the retirement system's risk exposure 
to rapidly adjusting interest rates. 

Security Lending Transactions. Under the provisions of State statutes, the Oak1and County 
Employees' Retirement System lends U.S. government securities, corporate bonds. and common 
stock to brokers and/or dealers in exchange for collateral thai will be returned for the same 
securities in the future. The County's custodial bank (agent) manages the securities lending 
program and receives cash and cash equivalent securities as collateral. The custodial bank does not 
have the ability to pledge or sell co11ateral securities unless the borrower defaults. Borrowers are 
required to deliver collateral for each loan equal to but not less than 102 percent of the market value 
of the loaned securities. 

The County did impose restrictions capping the loans at the current levels during the year ended 
September 30. 2012 that the agent made on its behalf. There were also no failures by any borrowers 
to rerum loaned securities or pay distribution thereon. Furthermore, there were no losses during the 
period resulting from a default of the borrowers or the custodial banks. 

The County and the borrower maintain the right to terminate all securities lending transactions on 
demand. Because the loans can be tenninated at will, their duration does not generally match the 
duration of the investments. On September 30, 2012, the County had no credit risk exposure to 
borrowers. The collateral held and the market value of securities on loan for the County as of 
September 30, 2012 were S65,562,372 and $67, 187145, respectively, or 102.5"10 collateral to 
market value coverage. 

Collateralized Mortgage ObligatiOns (CMOs) are U.S. government-issued asset-backed certificates 
and corporate-issued asset-backed certificates. Current CMO holdings have maturity lengths 
ranging from 2 years to 13.8 years and are backed by investments in various assets, including 
mortgages. As of September 30, 2012, the market value was S4,204,617. 

Interest Rate Risk - Collateralized Mortgage Obligations. The market value of such investments 
can be affected by, among other factors, changes in interest rates. including the effect of 
prepayments, marketability, and default rates on assets underlying the securities. At September 30, 
2012, the County's CMO portfolio had effective duration ranges of.5 years and 3.731 years. 

Variable Rate Coupon Notes and Bonds - Included in the CQunry's Retirement System investment 
portfolio are Variable Rate coupon instruments with a market value of S20,024,087 as of September 
30, 2012. Such investments include U.S. government-issued securities and corporate-issued 
securities. The variable rate securities have maturities through the year 2045 and are backed by 
investments in various assets, including mortgages. 
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Interest Rate Risk - Variable Rate Coupon Notes and Bonds. The market value of these 
investments may be influenced by. among other factors, changes in interest rates which affect their 
marketability. At September 3D, 2012, the Retirement System was bolding variable rate instruments 
that are reset against the LmOR (London Interbank Offering Rate) with a plus factor. The coupons 
had short reset points ranging from twice a year, quarterly and monthly. The shorter the reset point, 
the less sensitive the investment is to interest rate changes. 

4. Property Tnes - Receivables and Short·term Debt 

Receivables - Prior to 2004, taxes were levied on December 1 on the taxable value of real and 
personal property as established the preceding December 31. Taxes became a lien on the property 
on December 1 and were due and payable on that date through February 28 of the following year, 
after which unpaid taxes became delinquent and subject to penalty. Michigan Public Act 357 of 
2004 required a gradual shift over a three-year period. of county property tax levies from winter to 
summer as a substitute to county revenue sharing from the State. The entire County Operating Tax 
is levied on July I each year beginning in 2007; however, the date for delinquencies did not change 
with the shift in levy dates. Taxable value is determined by using such factors as State equalized, 
assessed. and capped values, along with a value change multiplier. Equalized values for the 2012 
summer levy amounted to .$50,839,024.966 with taxable values 0[$49,235.953,993. The operating 
tax rate for the 20 11 levy was 4.19 mills, with an additional 0.2415 mills voted for Parks and 
Recreation (winter levy only). The amount unpaid at fiscaJ year end is reported as current property 
taxes receivable in the County's General Fund. These receivables (current and delinquent) for the 
County operating tax levy amounted to $23,319,596 at September 30,2012. 

Short-term Debt - By agreement with various taxing authorities, the County purchases (at face 
value) real property taxes for all municipalities and school districts within Oakland County which 
are returned delinquent on March I. To accomplish this, tax notes are sold and the proceeds of 
these notes are used to liquidate the amounts due the County's General Fund and other 
governmental agencies for purchase of their del inquent real property tax receivables. The assets of 
the Delinquent Tax Revolving fund (an Enterprise fund), including receivables in the amount of 
.$231,738.063 at September 30. 2012., are pledged as collateral for payment of the tax notes; 
subsequent collections on delinquent taxes receivable, plus interest, penalties and collection fees 
thereon, and investment earnings are used to service the debt. The following is a summary of the 
short-term debt activity for the year ended September 30, 2012: 

BegiaDiDc 
balance Add1t10D5 ReductiOIll 

EadiDg 

balaDce 
Due withiD 

ODe year 

$ 50,000,000 $ 25,000,000 $ (50,000,000) $ 25,000,000 $ 25,000,000 
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5, Allowances for Uncollectible Receivables 

At September 30, 2012, the allowances for uncollectible receivables were as follows: 

General Fund 

Internal Service funds 
Information Technology 

Total 

$ 50,000 

8 

$ 50,008 

In addition. the Parks and Recreation fund (Enterprise) records an allowance for uncollectible taxes 
receivable in the amount 0[$50,076 al September 30, 2012. 

6. Investment Income - Pension and Other Postemployment Trust Fuods 

The following is a breakdown of the investment income for Pension and other Postemployment 
Trust funds of the primary government for the year ended September 30, 2012: 

Fmployea' VEDA IRMB 
Retirement Trust Tru,t 

Interest and dividends $ 96,854,028 $104,658,685 $ 48,416,175 
UnrealizedIRealized gain on 

investments 1218971215 914541457 4,498,051 
Total $ 109~751,243 S114!113,142 $ 52,914,226 
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7. Capital Assets 

An analysis of property and equipment as reported in the Statement of Net Position. and related 
accumulated depreciation, at September 30, 2012, for governmental activities follows: 
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A summary ofbusiness-.type property and equipment at September 30, 2012 follows: 
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An analysis of property and equipment, and related accumulated depreciation where applicable, at 
September 30, 2012, for component units follows: 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 

Com pun' Ualtl (Cutin ... ) 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on debt outstanding at September 30, 2012 (excluding the liabilities for compensated absences, other postcmployment benefits, and 
uninsured ioSSCll for the Road Commi55ion component wil) wen: lUI folloW!l: 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
Se ptember 30, 2012 

The County has pledged its full faith and credit on debt totaling $823,206,612, which includes 
$25,000,000 of short-tenn notes for the delinquent taxes as described in Note 4. By statute, general 
obligation debt is limited to 10 percent of the state equalized value. As of September 30. 2012, the 
debt limit was $5,083,902,497. The County is obligated if payments received on assessments or 
contracts levied against benefiting municipalities are insufficient to meet principal and interest 
requirements of this debt when due, and is shown in the preceding table as debt "with 
governmental commitment." 

The aforementioned bonds are to be repaid as summarized in the following paragraphs. 

Building Author ity - Act 31 
Act 31, Michigan Public Acts of 1948, provides for an authority to issue bonds to build and equip 
various public buildings, which are then leased to the County. Proceeds from these leases are used 
to repay the bonds. The collection of lease payments and retirement of debt is reflected in the 
respective Debt Service fund. At September 30, 2012. there were five issues outstanding, totaling 
$21,575,000, maturing in the years 2013-2040, which represents debt originally issued in the years 
2006·2012 totaling $26,420,000. 

Taxable Certifi cate5 of Participation 
Represents debt issued in the fonn of trust certificates to fund future retiree health care costs 
reported in the VEBA Trust fund. Debt was issued under the authority of Public Act 139, 
Michigan Public Acts of 1973, in the amount of $556,985,000, maturing in the years 2008 through 
2027, and funds were placed in trust in the Intermediate Retirees' Medical Benefits Trust fund, a 
pension trust fund. The arumal actuarial!y detennined amount will be transferred from the trust to 
the VEBA Trust Fund. At September 30, 2012, there remained debt outstanding in the amOWlt of 
$464,155,000, maturing in the years 2013·2027. 

Sewage Disposal, Water and Sewer, and W ater Supply Bonds - Act 342 
Act 342, Michigan Public Acts of 1939 provides for a contract between the CoWlty and local 
municipalities which defines a schedule of annual payments to be made by the municipality to meet 
principal and interest obligations. Such contractual payments may be funded by revenue produced 
by utility or tax revenue. The County is obligated upon the default of the local municipality, and 
therefore, such obligation is shown as "with governmental commitment." Assessments are shown 
in their entirety with the corresponding deferred revenue in the Debt Service funds for each act. At 
September 30, 2012, there were six issues outstanding, totaling 517,730,000, maturing in the years 
2013·2032. This represents debt originally issued in the amount of $20,725,000 issued in the years 
1995·2012. 

Refunding Bonds 
Michigan Public Act 202 of 1943 and Act 34 of 2001 provide for the refunding of bonds based on 
covenants contained in the acts. The bonds will be repaid from assessments levied against the 
benefiting municipalities for water and sewer debt, or leases for Building Authority debt. At 
September 30, 2012, there were 10 issues outstanding, totaling $60, 130,000, maturing in the years 
2013-2027. This represents debt originally issued in the years 2003·2012 totaling $70,645,000. 

99 



County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 

Michigan Bond Authority Sewage Disposal Bonds 
In October 1996, the County authorized the issuance of bonds from the Michigan Municipal Bond 
Authority Revolving Loan fund for up to $9,350,000 for the White Lake Township Sewage 
Disposal System project; the entire amoWlt was received as of the end of fiscal year 1999. The 
amount outstanding for this issue at September 30, 2012 was $3,260,000, which matures in the 
years 2013-2018. 

In September 2007, the County authorized the issuance of bonds from the Michigan Municipal 
Bond Authority Revolving Loan fund for up to $2,000,000 for the Softwater Lake Capital 
Improvement Sewage Disposal System project. As of September 30, 2012, a final amount of 
$1.935,727 was drawn from the State Revolving Loan fund. The amount outstanding at September 
30,2012 for this issue is $1,475,727, which matures in the years 2()13-2027. 

Lake Levels - Act 146 
Act 451 of Michigan Public Acts of 1994 permits the issuance of debt for providing lake level 
control. Bonds are to be repaid through special assessments levied against benefiting property 
owners. In October 2004, the County authorized the issuance of bonds in the amount of $575,000 
for the Watkins Lake Level. The amount outstanding at September 30, 2012 was $145,000, which 
matures in the years 2012-2014. 

Business Type - Sewage Disposal Bonds 
In December 2010, the County issued $4,060,000 of sewage disposal bonds for the Evergreen­
Farmington Sewage Disposal System (enterprise fund type). The bonds are federally taxable 
recovery zone econom ic development bonds, issued under the authority of Act 34, Public Acts of 
Michigan, 2001. The amount qutstanding for this issue at September 30, 2012 was $3,925,000, 
which matures in the years 2013-203 1. 

In March 2012, the County authorized the issuance of bonds from the Michigan Municipal Bond 
Authority Revolving Loan fund for up to $2,415,000 for the Evergreen-Farmington Sewage 
Disposal System 8 Mile Pumping Station Septage Facility (enterprise fund type). Through 
September 30, 2012, the County received $226,226 from the State Revolving Loan funq, which 
matures in the years 2013-2015. 

In addition, in conjunction with the transfer of operations of the City of Pontiac water and sewer 
system to the County in August 2012, the County's Water and Sewer TnLSt fund assumed the debt 
obligations initiated by the City of Pontiac for five Clean WaterlWater Quality projects. The total 
authorized loan amount is $29,985,000; as of September 30, 2012, $15,898,053 had been received. 
The debt obligation recorded as of September 30, 2012 amounted to $15,438,053, maturing in the 
years 2013 through 2032. 

Drain Bonds -Act 40 (Component Unit) 
Act 40 provides for the creation of a Drain Board, which has the power to assess state, county. and 
local levels of government for principal and interest payments. Such assessments are to be funded 
from General Fund revenue of the respective municipality. The County portion of the assessment 
is identified as a general obligation. Further, the COWlty is obligated if assessments levied against 
benefiting municipalities are insufficient to meet principal and interest requirements when due. 
Such obligations are shown as "with governmental commitment." At September 30. 2012, there 
were 20 issues outstanding, totaling $79,640,000, maturing in the years 2013-2034. This 
represents original debt issued for $94,765,000 in the years 1993-2012. 
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Drain Refunding Bonds (Component Unit) 
Act 202 of 1943 and Act 34 of 2001 provide for the refunding of bonds based on covenants 
contained in the acts. The County initiates the refunding of various drain bonds issued under Act 
40 on behalf of the drainage district's component unit. Bonds will be repaid from assessments 
levied against the benefiting municipalities. At September 30, 2012, there were 12 issues 
outstanding, totaling $22,775,000, maturing in the years 2013·2024. This represents debt 
originally issued in the years 2001·2009 in the amount of $42,050,000. 

Michigan Bond Authori ty Drain Bonds (Component Unit) 
The County authorized issuance of bonds in the amount of 59.365,000 in 1994 to the Michigan 
Municipal Bond Authority Revolving Loan fund for the Combined Sewer Overflow Project. In 
October 2000, the COWlty additionally authorized the issuance of bonds for up to $17,880,000 for 
the George W. Kuhn Drainage District, with the entire amount from the State Revolving Loan 
Fund being received by 2005. Further, in 2001, the County authorized an additional $82,200,000 
for the George W. Kuhn Drainage District Segment II, with successive authorizations in the years 
2005 through 2008 amounting to $14,240,000. Through September 30, 2012, the drainage district 
received $95,341,101 from the State Revolving Loan Fund for Segment 11. In February 2010, 
Oakland County, Macomb County, and their underlying municipalities under the authority of 
Chapter 21 of Public Act 40, Public Acts of Michigan of 1956 were pennined to issue bonds in the 
amount of S26,076,ooo for the Oakland-Macomb Interceptor Drainage District. As of September 
30,20 12, $25,053,371 of the authorized amount had been received. At September 30, 2012, there 
were I I issues outstanding, totaling $106,003,908, maturing in the years 2012-2030. 

Advance a nd Current Refunding of General Obligation Limited Tax Bonds 
In December 2010, the County advance refunded a portion ora general obligation limited tax bond 
issue with surplus construction funds transferred to the debt service fund. These funds were placed 
in trust for the purpose of generating resources for the repayment of the refunded debt. 
Accordingly, the trust account assets and liability for the refunded bonds are not included in the 
County's fmancial statements. At September 30, 2012, there is an in-substance defeasance of 
S975,000 of Building Authority Bonds Series 2007 (CMHA), maturing in the years 2025 through 
2027 inclusively. 

In August 2012, the County issued $1 1,645,000 of refunding bonds for a current refunding of three 
general obligation limited tax bond issues pursuant to authorization contained in Act 31 of 1948 
and Act 34, Public Acts of Michigan of 2001. General obligation limited tax refunding bonds were 
issued for the payment of future debt service payment of the refunded debt. The debt refunded 
amounted to $2,280,000 of Building Authority Bonds, Series 2oo2A, maturing in the years 2013 
through 2020, $4,835,000 for Series 2003, maturing in the years 2013 through 2023, and 
$4,620,000 for Series 2004, maturing in the years 2013 through 2024. The refunding was 
undertaken to reduce the debt service payment over the next 12 years by $1,893,737 and to obtain 
an economic (present value) gain of$I,730,405. 

In September 2012, the County issued SI,975,000 of refunding bonds for a current refunding of a 
general obligation limited tax bond issue pursuant to authorization contained in Act 34, Public Acts 
of Michigan of2001. General obligation limited tax refunding bonds were issued for the payment 
of future debt service payment of the refunded debt The debt refunded amounted to $1,950,000 of 
Oakland County-Rochester Hills Water Supply and Sewage Disposal System Bonds, Series 2005, 
maturing in the years 2013 through 2022. The refunding was undertaken to reduce the debt service 
payment over the next 10 years by $183,764 and to obtain an economic (present value) gain for the 
City of Rochester Hills ofSI69,199. 
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 

Cbanges in Other Long-term Liabilities 

Long-term liabilities activity, as reported in and liquidated through the Fringe Benefit Fund and 
Building Liability Insurance Fund, Internal Service funds, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2012, was as follows: 

Interfund receivables and payables at September 30, 20 12 were as follows: 

Due to/from other funds: 

Receivable Fud r.nble Fund 
General Nomnajor go~mmental $ 4,733,075 

S.O.C.SD.S. '95 
Total 4,733,870 

Waler and Sc\W:r Debt Act 342 Nomnajor governmental 1,318 

Nonmajor governmental General 48,705 
Nomnajor gO\el'lllD.ental 646,541 
S.O.C.SD,S. 11898 

Total 697,144 

Water &: Sewer 1hJst Water &: Sewer 1h!st 6,900 
mternal service 10,714 

Total 17,614 

Parks and Recreation Internal scrncc 9,170 

NolllllllJor enterprise Nonmajor governmental 290,000 
Nonmajor enterprise 49,976 
Internal service 16,937 

Thtal 356,913 

Internal service Nonmajor governmental 5' 
Water and Sewer 'llust 1,907 
Evergreen Farmington S.O.S. 403 
S.O.C.sD.S. 4 
Nonmajor enteqrise 232 

Total 2,602 

Thtal $ 5,819,231 
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These balances result from the time difference between the dates that services are provided or 
transfers are authorized, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments between 
funds are made. 

Receivables and payables between funds of the Primary Government and the Component Units at 
September 30, 2012 were as follows: 

Primary GoverlllDtnt 

Due from ComponeDt Uait 
Gen,"" 

Nonmajor gowmmental 

E\IeI'green Farmington 50S 

No~or enterprise 

Internal SeTYice 

CompoaeDt Unit 

Due to Primary Government 
Drainage Districts 
Road Commission 

To"" 

Drainage Districts 
Road Commission 

To"" 

Drainage Districts 

Drainage Districts 

Drainage Districts 
Road Commission 

Totol 

Totol 

S 101,243 
IS. 

101 1402 

621,693 
25 

621,711 

182,153 

1.030,625 

1.380 
181190 

191570 

$1 19551468 

Advances to/from other funds (including current and long-tenn portions) at September 30, 2012 
were as follows: 

Receivable Fuad 
NolllD.ljor gowrmnentBl 

Delinquent Tax Rl:whing 

S.O.C.SD.S. 

Payable Fnad 
Nomnajor gowrnmental 

Internal Sernce 

Internal Sernco 

To"" 

S 429,259 

115,947 

496,387 

$1,041,593 

The County has certain "internal" leases when a lease is ex.ecuted between the County and the 
Oakland County Building Authority, a blended component unit for purposes of providing funds to 
service debt issued to finance capital assets in the Enterprise Funds. This amount is reported as a 
capital lease payable in the respective enterprise fund, with the bond proceeds recorded in a capital 
project fund and debt service transactions reported in a debt service fund. The lease payable 
amoWlt corresponds directly to the debt service schedules, and the enterprise fund reports a capital 
asset of construction in progress. The receivable for the lease is recorded in the reconciliation of 
governmental funds to the Statement of Net Position. As of September 30, 2012, there are two 
leases in the County Airports fund amounting to 59,935,000, maturing in the years 2013 through 
2030. 
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September 30, 2012 

Interfund transfers between the funds within the Primary Government recorded in the 
accompanying financial statements as operating transfers in/out for the year ended September 30, 
2012 were as follows: 

Tramfers In Transfers Ont Am .... 

Geo=! Revenue Sharing Reserw $ 24,459,476 
No~or governmental 362,765 
Delinquent Tax Rewlving 28,755,326 
Nonmajor enterprise 1,766,000 
Internal Service 5001000 

Thto! 55,843,567 

BuildingAuthority Act 31 Delinquent Tax Rewl\ling 574.s76 

Nomnajor governmental Ge""nd 28,956.371 
Nomnajor governmental 2,170,408 
Delinquent Tax Rewlving 4,327,656 
Internal Service 1.s87.s9S 

Toto! 3',042.030 

Cowtty Airports Nonmajor governmental " 
Parks & Recreation General Fund 18,000 

Ge,.nd 2,261,766 
Nonmajor go~ental 290,000 

Nonmajor eoterprise 

Nonmajor enterprise . 2001°00 

Thto! 2,'51,766 

Internal Sernce Ge""nd 656,215 
Nomnajor go~ental 235,801 
Nomnajor enterprise 286,000 
Internal Service 30~32 

Thto! 1,208,348 

Total transfers $ 971438237 

The transfers to and from the various funds are made to account for budgetary authorizations 
and/or providing funding for operations as needed. 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 30,2012 

10. Fund Equitie!l 

At September 30, 2012, a deficit existed in the following funds: 

Special Revenue Fud 

Lake Levels Act 146 

Capital Projects Fund 

Lake Levels Act 146 
Dram. Chapter 4 Construction 

I 137,093 

262,410 
62,744 

In the Special Revenue Fund, the Lake Levels Act 146 fund consists of 30 separate lake level 
funds. Annually. lake level fWlCis are reviewed and assessments authorized. Assessments are 
detennined in July and are placed on December tax bills. The assessments are meant to cover any 
individual fund deficits identified at that time, and also to cover the anticipated operating costs for 
the following year. Clearly the receipt of revenue from these assessments happens after the close 
of the County's fiscal year, leading to the reporting of a deficit in this fund. The deficit in this fund 
reflects this difference in timing between the close of the fiscal year in September and the approval 
of the special assessment in October and the December levy. 

In the Capital Projects fund, the negative unassigned fund balance in the Lake Levels Act 146 
primarily reflects costs that are related to the Bush Lake Level project in the amount of $228,7 19 
and the Upper Straits Lake Level Dam Reconstruction project in the amount of $39,409. The Bush 
Lake Level is construction of a new lake level control structure which has been completed and a 
long-term special assessment for the project commenced in FY 2011. In 2010, the Oakland County 
Board of Commissioners authorized a loan in the amount of $300,000 from the County's Long 
Term Revolving Fund to the Bush Lake Special Assessment District to be collected in 10 annual 
installments. The long-term receivable is now on the balance sheet to track the collection of the 
Long Term Special Assessment. The Upper Straits Lake Dam Replacement project consists of 
replacing an existing lake level control structure in West Bloomfield Township, Oaldand County, 
Michigan. The project for Upper Straights Lake Level is in the design phase and will be funded 
through a special assessment that will be determined once an estimate of construction costs has 
been calculated. The project consists of replacing an existing lake level control structure in West 
Bloomfield Township, Oakland County, Michigan. The existing structure will be moved and 
replaced with a new one. The design is approximately 80% complete and when completed, the 
estimated project cost will be detennined. It is planned that the project will be financed with a loan 
from the Oakland County Board of Commissioner's Long Term Revolving Fund. The loan will be 
repaid by an assessment to the Upper Straits Lake Level Special Assessment District over a 
proposed IO-year period. The Special Assessment District must be updated, which requires Circuit 
Cowt action, prior to requesting the loan. The project schedule is directly affected by the Court 
schedule and any delays in receiving the court judgment on the district update will be reflected in 
the timing of receiving loan money and approval of the speciaJ assessment. 

The deficit fund balance in the Drain Chapter 4 Construction fund reflects costs that are related to 
the Lower Penibone Lake Sanitary Chapter 4 Drain Construction project. A loan from the Long 
Term Revolving Fund was approved by the Oakland County Board of Commissioners to provide 
advance funding for this project. A five-year assessment has been approved to repay the loan. 
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Nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balances of the primary 
government at September 30. 2012 were as follows: 

Sp!Ddabk 
NoupeDClab&e Rntric:ted Committed Aulr;aed U_.Ir;_d 

Primary Gonmment 
Ge olnlfmld 

P",,", I 923,630 I $ $ $ ....-. 176,m 
Property Tax Fodcmc &,.311,145 
SubstlUlCe Abuse 3,244,003 
Dcpartme1lt Opcratilos 361,625 
FednalHcdhCan:~ 3,000,000 
Cap:ial Reserve ',OOO!JOO 
Tax TrbunaI Appeals soo.ooo 
HClmtIrmd Sctlriy &banct:ltIClllS 6,000,000 

TedDlbgy ReplacemcIlllHardware 3,000,0CKl 

Pcrsmal Property Tax ReIklctiJD. 4,000,000 

0peratD:iaI ~mtDII 3.000.000 
Board ofCcmmjssbw:rs Projects 730000 
Data Privacy aad SeCll"ty 2.000.000 
NcwGnmlMatc:h~! soo.ooo 
HRLopi 100.000 
HR CompWcRfun:c PJaraomg 1,600.000 

Jei A.lternatiYe PrJ Startup 600,000 

P8IKIemic Respoose I,soo,ooo 
Busmcu~ 300.000 -"""" 320,000 

Qualiy of Life J.niiatM:. 500,000 
Peqlk:soft Upcrade 3,000.000 

Sheriff AWdiJo 1,186,292 

Jd CcmmiIsary 123,,39 
RCOC TrjIarty 3,OOO!JOO 
Property Tax ForfeilR AetivU:s 2,.S01.sSS 

~PartneD~ 2l8,6S4 - 200,000 
FU!le operamg requRmcJJts: 

"13 37,621,.540 

"I' ",""'" "IS 52,390,980 

2D16 aDd Beyood 15,465,165 

~ 2,117,410 

DB Pemu Cc:mub.aion 2014-5 5,(0),000 

UnfiDEd Mmialc' 5,000,000 

UDllSSpd l.O'AS03 

ToW $ 1,100,141 $ ll~SS.I48 $ $ 209~3~ $ 1,1]}O~ 
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!2! ...... 
Noupudahle Rutricwd Committed A ... _d U ..... lH:d 

Special Ruu. F .... 
"",e... , 

" 
, , 7,732 , 

SpecifE~ 81,012.635 (137.Q23) 

T"" , , 8l,0I~63S , , 7,732 , !137,093l 
DebtSel"'l'ic.FadI 
Deb!: ~ • geDeI'II obIigalDB , , 341~ , , , 
Capital Pro~ctl FudI 

I...oog-term receivables , 547,459 , , , , 
Wcd:~ctJ 9,114 18,-432.389 Q 2S,IS4) 

T"'" , S(7,4S9 , 9,184 , 18.432,.389 , , Q2S,I54} 

11. Employee Benefits 

Primary Government 
The County provides various benefits to its employees. Expenditures in 20 12 for these benefits 
totaled the following: medical insurance, $32,817,108; dental insurance, $3,003,036; optical 
insurance, $257,631; disability, $2,604,103; tuition reimbursement, $160,315; Social Security, 
S 14,356,131; workers' compensation, S 1,772,390; and unemployment claims, $653,206. 

12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Plan Description 
The County has a single-employer defined benefit pension plan, covering substantially all full-time 
employees. The plan provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their 
beneficiaries. 
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Since the County does not issue a stand-alone report for its County PERS, following are condensed 
financial statements for the period as of and including September 30, 2012: 

Cash and investments 
Other assets 

T ota! assets 

Liabilities 

Net position 

Addition" 
Contributions 
Investment income 
Other revenue 

T ota! additions 

Deductions: 
Benefit payments 
Oth" oxpenscs 

T ota! deductions 

Change in net assets 

Statement of Net Position 

Statement of Changes in Net Position 

Net assets held in trust, beginning of year 
Net assets held in trust, end of year 

Basis of Accounting 

S 718,572,090 
2,763,972 

721,336,062 

544.122 

$ 720,791 .940 

$ 716,927 
109,751,243 

586161 1 
111 ,054,781 

45,102,561 
215631829 

471666,390 

63,388,391 

6511403,549 
$ 72°17911940 

The County's financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member 
contributions are recognized in the period in which contributions are due. Employer contributions 
are recognized when due and the employer has made a fonnal commitment to provide 
contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable, in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 

Method Used to Valu e Investmenu 
Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are 
valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. The fair value of real estate 
investments is based on independent appraisals. Investments that do not have an established 
market are reported at an estimated fair value or amonized cost. 

Funding Policy/Contributions 
The County policy is to fund nonna! costs of the plan by contributions which are based on 
actuarially determined rates, expressed as percentages of annual covered payroll, and which are 
sufficient to accumulate assets to pay benefits when due. The current year and prior-period rates 
for the County plan were 0.0 percent and 0.0 percent, respectively, of annual covered payroll, 
which was detennined through actuarial valuations performed at September 30, 2010 and 
September 3D, 2009, respectively. There were no contributions from County funds for the years 
2000 through 2012. 
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Sheriffs deputies contribute III a rate of 3 percent of their annual pay for the first 14 years of 
service and 5 percent thereafter. Command officers contribute 5 percent. General County 
Option A members who have elected improved benefits contribute I percent of their pay after 14 
years of service. Contributions received from these employees for the years ended September 30, 
2012 and September 30, 2011 amounted to S716,927 and $764,764, respectively. 

The contribution requirements of plan members and the County are established and may be 
amended by the Board of Commissioners in accordance with County policies, union contracts, and 
plan provisions. All administrative costs ofthe plan are financed directly by Oakland County. 

Benefits 
Members of both plans may retire at age 55 (except Sheriffs deputies, who may retire with 25 
years of service regardless of age), with 25 years of service, or at age 60 with eight years of 
service. Memben vest after eight years of service. 

Eligible employees under the County plan are provided benefits based on 2%, 2.2% for years in 
excess of 14 years (Sheriff's deputies, 2.2% for the fint 14 years of service, and 2.5% for 
thereafter, command officen 2.5%) of the final average compensation times the number of years of 
credited service. Maximum County retirement is 75% of final average compensation, defmed as 
the average oCthe highest five consecutive years during the last 10 years. 

Duty disability benefits provided by the County are computed as a regular retirement, with 
additional service credited until attainment of age 60, less an amount offset by workers' 
compensation payments, with a maximum payment of 75% of final average compensation. Non­
duty disability benefits after 10 years of service are computed as a regular retirement. Death 
benefits are provided to beneficiaries after 10 years of service, based on years of service. 

Classes of Employees 
The County PERS covers the majority of full-time employees of the County hired prior to July I, 
1994. The plans' membership consists of the following at September 30, 2010, the date of the 
latest actuarial valuation: 

Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 
Terminated plan members entitled to, but 

not yet receiving benefits 
Active plan members 

Total 

1,867 

154 
590 

2.611 

The County established a defmed contribution plan for County employees, and all new employees 
and eligible part-time employees hired on or after July I, 1994 are covered by the defined 
contribution plan, as the County's PERS is no longer available to new employees. 

Annual Pension Cost 
The Oakland County Employees' Retirement System is considered 100010 funded since fiscal year 
2001; the annual contribution is $0 and 0% since that period. 
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Funded Status and Fundin g Progress 

Actuarial Valuation as of S~mber 30 
2011 201 0 2009 

Actuarial value of assets S 727,690,746 S 745,094,735 $ 750,432.703 
Actuarial occrued liability (entry age) 71211591061 69214091285 68310771469 
Overfundod AAL S (15,531,685) $ (52,685,450) $ (67,355,234) 
Funded ratio 102.2% 107.6% 109.9% 
Covered payron $ 38,275,780 $ 42,686,155 $ 44,8&4,070 
VAAL as percentage of covered payroll 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Required supplementary information, which includes a Schedule of Employer Contributions, 
significant actuarial assumptions, and ~ Schedule of Funding Progress for the County, is presented 
immediately following the notes to the financial statements. 

Actuar-ial Methods and Assumptions 
The annual required contribution was determined as part of the actuarial valuation as of September 
30,2010, using the aggregate actuarial cost method. Significant actuarial assumptions used include 
(a) a 7.25 investment rate of return, (b) projected salary increases of 4.5 to 10.5 percent per year 
and (c) 1.5 percent per year cost of living adjustments. Both (a) and (b) include an inflation 
component of 4.50 percent. The actuarial value of assets was detennined using technlques that 
smooth the effects of shorHerm volatility over a five-year period. 

The aggregate actuarial cost method does not produce an actuarial accrued liability. The entry age 
actuarial cost method is used to develop the actuarial liability and the associated values shown 
above in compliance with GASB Statement No. 50. In addition, the aggregate method does .not 
fonnally recognize an amortization period for the overfunded AAL. 

Fund Balance Reserved fo r Employees' Pension Benefits 
Fund balances reserved for employees' pension benefits include legally required reserves. Fund 
balance as of September 30, 2012 consists of the following reserves: 

Annuity rc5erve 
Pension reserve 
Pension accumulated. reserve 

Total fund balance 

$ 7,686,067 
231,809,402 
481.296.471 

$ 720,791,940 

Annuity reserve represents the cumulative contribution for retirees, disabled members, or surviving 
spouses who have elected monthly annuity benefits. Pension reserve represents the funded pension 
benefits available for retired lives and is funded by actuarially determined transfers from the 
pension accumulated. reserve. Pension accumulated reserve represents the accumulated reserve for 
pension payable by the County. 
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13. Defined Contribution Plans 

The County maintains a defined contribution plan. Oakland Performance Retirement System 
(OPRS), which qualifies under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a). Employees in the County 
PERS were first afforded the opportunity to transfer to the OPRS through December3l, 1995, 
retroactive to January 1. 1995. Employees who elected to transfer to the OPRS had their 
individually actuarially determined earned retirement benefits in the County PERS, determined as 
of January 1. 1995. plus accrued interest at the rate of 7.5% from January 1, 1995 until the date of 
election to transfer, transferred into the OPRS. Subsequent to 1995, the County reopened the 
opportunity for transfer several times, resulting in an additional 1,477 employees transferred from 
the County PERS to the OPRS. . 

The OPRS maintains a schedule of vesting, with the participants becoming fully vested upon 
completion of six years of continuous service. Employees transferring from the County PERS 
were allowed a permanent selection of employee contributions of 0% or 3% of their salary, with 
the employer matching the contribution respectively with 6% or 9% for general employees, or 7% 
or t 0% for employees in certain barglrining units. For employees hired on or after July I, 1994. the 
employer contributes 5% of the employee's salary. Effective December 1999, employees were 
offered an opportunity to increase their contribution with a County match of 2% for new hires and 
1 % for all others. In December 2000, the employee and County match were increased 1 %. All 
employees are able to contribute up to 10% of their salary on a voluntary after-tax basis. All 
contributions are remitted to a third-party plan administrator. 

Total membership in the OPRS as of September 30, 20 12 was 2,717, which includes 595 
employees who elected to transfer from the PERS in 1995 through 2000 and 2,122 current 
employees hired since July I, 1994. 

The County's payroll for employees covered by the OPRS for the year ended September 30,2012 
was $153,801,567, and the CoWlty'S total payroll was $207,579,421. The required contributions, 
which matched those actually made, were $5,921,399 by employees and $13,937,481 by the 
County, representing 3.9% and 9.1 % of covered payroll, respectively. 

In 2008, the County offered a voluntary defined contribution plan for part-time non-eligible 
employees. The plan qualifies under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 (OB~) and 
IRS Section 3121 (b) (&) (F) which allows for a defmed contribution plan in lieu of Social 
Security. With the implementation of this plan, the County contributes 1.3% and the employee 
contributes 6.2% of their earnings into a defined contribution plan. The employee would be 
immediately 100% vested in both the employer and employee contributions, but cannot access the 
money invested in the plan Wltil they are separated from County employment. During fiscal year 
2011, the COWlty contributed $193,970 to the plan. 

The contribution requirements of plan members and the County are established and may be 
amended by the Board of Commissioners in accordance with COWlty policies, union contracts, and 
plan provisions. 
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14. Postemp)oyment Benefits 

Oakland County provides medical care benefit insurance coverage to retired employees or 
survivors of deceased employees who were hired on or before September 20, 1985, or hired on or 
after September 21, 1985 and had 15 years of service (for family coverage) or 8 to \4 years of 
service (for retired members only). This single-employer defined benefit plan is administered by 
Oakland County through two funding vehicles: the Oakland County VEBA Trust (the Trust) and 
the Intermediate Medical Benefits Trust (IRMBT). The IRMBT received the proceeds of the 
Certificates of Participation (as discussed in Note 8), and makes transfers into the VEBA in the 
amount of the actuarially required contribution. 

For employees whose employment ends prior to retirement, the Trust provides benefits to those 
with 15 to 19 years or service (for members only) or 20 years of service (for family coverage). 

In 2012, the County provided 2,131 retirees medical insurance and reimbursed them for Medicare 
premiums under the Trust. In 2012, the County disbursed $26,964,602 for this purpose. 

Postemployment benefits are established and may be amended by the Board of Commissioners in 
accordance with County policies, union contracts, and plan provisions. The plan covers the 
following classes of employees: General, Command Officers, and Deputies. The plan in the 
general class is now closed to new hires. The County has established a "Retirement Health Savings 
Plan" beginning January I , 2007, whereby the general class of employees hired on or after this date 
will no longer receive a defmed health insurance benefit, but will receive a cash payment upon 
retirement from which they can purchase their own health insurance. At September 30, 2011, the 
date of the most recent actuarial valuation, membership in the OPEB consisted of 2,155 retirees 
and beneficiaries. currently receiving benefits, 2,828 active employees, and 250 tenninated 
employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them. 

The annual OPEB costs, the percentage contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB asset for the 
current and two preceding years were as follows: 

Annual OPES cost (ARC) 
Percentage of ARC contnbuted 

Net OPES asset 

Fiscal year ended September 30 
2012 2011 2010 

$ 27,858,341 $ 37,116,312 $ 45,839,484 
00/0 0"10 0% 

$299,937,972 $327,796.313 $364,912,625 

In 2012, the County contributed $37,268,761 into the VEBA from the lRMB Trust. Since the 
OPES Plan is comprised of these two trust funds, this is not considered a contribution in relation to 
the ARC. The County made the scheduled debt service payment on the Certificates of 
Participation, but made no further contributions. 
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The funding progress of the plan as of September 30, 2011 > the most recent actuarial valuation 
report, is as follows: 

Retirees and beneficiaries 
Vested terminated employees who will be eIiglbIe when 
they collect retirement (age 60 in most cases) and 
their beneficiaries 

Active employees and beneficiaries 
Actuaria1 accrued liability 
Actuarial value of assets 
Unf\mded AAL (Overl'unded AAL) 

Funded ratio 
Annual covered payron 
Overfunded AAL as a percentage of payroll 

Actuarial RcqWred Contnbution (ARC) 
Adjustment to the ARC 
Interest on net OPEB asset 
Annual OPEB cost 
Contributions 
Decrease in net OPEB Asset 
OPEB Asset - Beginning of year 
OPEB Asset - End of year 

$409,022,774 

44,659,318 
360,899,780 
814,581,872 
854,534.524 

$ (39,952,652) 

104.9% 
$ 173,903,452 

23.0% 

$ 18,714,057 
18,554,704 

27,858,34 1 
327,796,313 

$ 299,937,972 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the hea1thcare cost trend. Amounts 
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the 
employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and 
new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required 
supplementary infonnation following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year 
trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over 
time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan 
as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at 
the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the 
employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that arc desigqed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations. 
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In the September 30, 2011 actuarial valuation, the individual cntry age actuarial cost method was 
used. The actuarial asswnptions included a 7.5 percent investment rate of return (net of 
administrative expenses), which consists of a real rate of return of 3.00 percent per year plus a 
long-tenn rate of inflation of 4.5 percent per year and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 9.0 
percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.5 percent after 10 years. Both rates 
included a 4.5 percent inflation assumption. The actuarial value of assets is equal 10 the reported 
market value of assets at the valuation date with investment gains and losses spread over three 
years (with 33% recognition in each year). The UAAL for the General group was amortized using 
a level dollar payment method. All other groups were amortized by level (principal and interest 
combined) percent-of-payroll contributions. Active member payroll was assumed to increase 4.5 
percent per year for the pwpose of detennining the level percent contributions. 

Since the County does not issue stand-alone financiaJ reports for the OPES Plan, following are 
condensed financiaJ statements as of and including September 30, 2012 (the OPEB Plan includes 
the VESA Trust and the IRMB Trust): 

Cash and investments 
Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 

Net position 

VEBA 
Trust 

Statement of Net Position 

$ 671,255,924 
118391°52 

6731°941976 

111721330 

$ 671 ,922,646 

IRMa 
Trust 

$ 305,240,025 
8291575 

30610691600 

243,647 

$ 3051825:953 

Statement of Changes in Net Position 

Additions: 
ContrIbutions $ 37,365,791 $ 
Investment income 114,113,142 52,914,226 
Other revenue .,694,105 203,660 

T otal additions 1541173 1°38 5311171886 

Deductions: 
Benefits 26,964,602 
Contributions - Retirees heahhcare 37,268,761 
Other expenses 1,042,464 

Total deductions 2619641602 381311 1225 

Change in net position 127,208,436 14,806,661 

Net position held in trust, beginning of year 544,7141210 291,019,292 

OPEB 

Pia" 

$ 976,495,949 
216681627 

97911641576 

114151977 

$977,748,599 

$ 37,365,791 
167,027,368 

218971765 

207129°1924 

26,964,602 
37,268,761 

110421464 

6512751827 

142,015,097 

83517331502 

Net position held in trust, end of year $ 671,922,646 $ 305,825,953 $977,748,599 
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The Road Commission contributes to the Road Commission for OaJdand CoWIty Retiree Health 
Care Trusl (the "Trust''), The Trust provides for future payment of medical benefits for eligible 
retirees. their spouses and their dependents. The obligation to provide benefits to employees was 
established by negotiation with various collective bargaining units or other actions of the Oak1and 
County Board of Road Commissioners. At December 31. 2010, the date of the most recent 
actuarial valuation. membership consisted of 632 retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving 
benefits, 320 vested active employees, and 139 nonvested active employees. For the year ended 
September 30, 2012, the Road Cbmmission's annual required contribution to the Trust was 
$7,68 1,220, with interest of $833,438 on the prior year nct OPES obligation. The Road 
Commission contributed S880,000 to the Trust during the year and paid S6,629.653 directly toward 
insurance premiums and medical costs for retirees during fiscal year 2012, leaving a net OPEB 
obligation ofSI2,271,525 at September 30, 2012. 

15. Deferred Compensation Pla n 

In fiscal year 1998, both the County and the Road Commission adopted GASB Statement No. 32, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred 
Compe1f!lation Plans. During fiscal year 1999. as required by the statement, the County and the 
Road Commission each placed all Deferred Compensation Plan assets with a trustee. relinquishing 
al1 fiduciary accountability for the assets. Accordingly, the related assets and liabilities of the plan 
are not reported in the County and Road Commission financial statements. 

16. Risk Management 

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to property. employee injuries, general 
liability claims, and torts. as well as medical benefits provided to employees. The County has 
purchased a commercial property policy for its building and contents, electronic data processing 
equipment, boats and motors, A TV/snowmobiles and automobile catastrophe physical damage 
coverage. The policy is subject to a maximum per occurrence catastrophic loss limit of 
$350.000.000. Policy limits (subject to the maximum S350.ooo,ooO per occurrence catastrophic 
loss limit) are: building and contents in the amount of $603,616.006, electronic data processing 
equipment in the amount of $36,878,146, boats and motors in the amount of $503,000, 
ATV/snowmobiles in the amount of $66,000. automobile catastrophe physical damage in the 
amount ofS2,000,ooO, flood coverage in the amount of$50,ooo,OOO (subject to limitations in some 
flood zones), earthquake coverage in the amount of $50,000,000, boiler and machinery coverage in 
the amount of$IOO,OOO,OOO, property insurance for helicopter hull physical damage in the amount 
of $2,854, 184, and helicopter additional equipment physical damage in the amount of $1,218,000. 
Liability insurance has been purchased for: airport operations in the amount of $50.000,000, 
helicopter operations in the amount of $1 00,000,000, automobile fleet operations in the amount of 
S5,OOO,OOO, fiduciary liability in the amount of $25,000,000, employee dishonesty/faithful 
perfonnance in the amount of $3,000,000, travel accident in the amount of $100,000 per 
personlS500,OOO aggregate, N.E.T. law enforcement liability in the amoUnt of $5,000,000. 
workers' compensation statutory coverage in excess of $600,000 for each occurrence. and self· 
insured retention and employers' liability in the amount ofS l ,ooo,ooO. The County is uninsured 
for all other risks except as noted. The Road Commission has similar risks and is uninsured for 
these claims within certain limits. 
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The County and the Road Commission estimate the liability for all the above-mentioned claims 
that have been incurred through September 30, 2012, including both those claims that have been 
reported. as well as those that bave not yet been reported, and estimates of both future payments of 
losses and related claim adjustment expenses. . 

Estimated liabilities for unpaid claims are based on historical claim payments, including related 
legal and administrative expenses. Neither the Cmmty nor the Road Commission has experienced 
settlements in excess of insurance coverage during the past three years. 

The County records estimates in the Fringe Benefits and the Building and Liability Insurance 
funds, both Internal Service funds, and the Road Commission records these estimates in the 
governmental fund type. Changes in the estimated claims liabilities are as follows: 

Primary Government 
BeginnIDg-of-period liability 
Estimated claims incurred, claim adjusbnent 
expenses and changes in estimates 

Provisions for current-year events 
Decrease in provi>ions for prior-year events 

Total incurred claims, claim adjustment expenses 
and changes in estimates 

Claim. payments and claim adjustment expenses 
Related to current-year events 
Related to prior-year events 

Total claim payments and claim adjustment expenses 

End-<>f-p'rlod tiability 

Road Commission - Component Unit 
Beginning-of-year liability 
Estimated claims incurred and changes in estimates 
Claim payments 

End-of-year liability 
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September 30 
2011 2011 

$ 18,529,805 S 20,885,768 

42,318,258 38,022,796 
(57,100) (4,155,086) 

42,261,158 33,867,710 

(39,197,486) (34,778,406) 
(1,798,639) (l1445126!2 

(40,996,125) (36,223,673) 

$ 19,794,838 $ 18,529,805 

$ 3,647,027 $ 4,228,109 
13 ,690,593 12,244,718 

(13,504,602) (1218251800) 

$ 3,833,018 $ 316471°27 
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17. Leases 

The County (primary government) leases certain office facilities and other equipment under non­
cancelable operating leases. Total costs for such leases for the County for the year ended 
September 30. 2012 were $947,604. The future minimwn lease payments as of September 30, 
2012 are as follows: 

Flscal year 

2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018-2022 

Total 

Primary 
government 

$ 921,153 
925,208 
604,653 
321.462 
157,604 
267,891 

$ 3.191.971 

Additionally, the County leases portions of certain buildings to various governmental agencies. 
The amount received from these leases fOT the fiscal year ended September 3D, 2012 totaled 
$183,877, recorded in the Facilities Maintenance & Operations fund, an internal service fund type. 

The County has also "loaned" its AAA bond rating to assist local communities in the ability to 
finance local projects by pledging full faith and credit on the debt issued through the Oaldand 
County Building Authority. Debt is to be paid from payments from the benefiting community over 
the life of the debt issues, with the strucrures being collateral. A contract, or lease, receivable with 
a corresponding deferred revenue is shown in the Debt Service Fund financial statements of the 
County. Debt and receivables are reported for a Sheriffs Sub-station in the City of Rochester Hills 
for $5.2 million in 2002, Pontiac Phoenix Center and Phoenix Plaza Amphitheatre Refunding 
bonds in the City of Pontiac in the amount of $11.5 million and $8.16 million. respectively, in 
2006, Community Mental Health Authority Housing Project in the amount of $5,500.000 in 2007. 
Keego Harbor City Hall and DPW Building in the amount of S 1,120,000 in 2010, and City of Oak 
Park in the amount of $2,500,000 in 2012. The future minimum lease payments to be received as 
of September 30, 20 12 are as follows: 

Fbc:alyear 

2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 - 2022 
2023 - 2027 
2028 -2032 
2033 - 2037 
2038 - 2041 

Total 

117 

Primary 
governmcat 

$ 2,557,433 
2,594,309 
2,571,525 
2,576,780 
2,549,161 

12,170,418 
9,242,908 
1,109,814 
1,107,662 

195,725 

536,675,735 
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18. Commitments and Contingencies 

The County, the Drainage Districts, and the Road Commission are involved in legal actions in 
which plaintiffs seek damages of indeterminable amounts which may exceed insurance coverage 
where applicable. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual 
matters cannot be predicted. Accordingly. a reasonable range of liabllity to the County, the 
Drainage Districts, or Road Commission pertaining to these matters cannot be detennined. 
Management has taken steps to protect the County and believes any liability resulting from cases in 
which it is involved will not materially affect its financial position. 

The County, the Drainage Districts, and the Road Commission received funds from various federal 
and state units to finance specific activities. The final determination of revenue is subject to the 
acceptance of project costs by the granting agency, usually after a compliance audit. To the extent 
that costs are disallowed by the granting agency, the County, the Drainage Districts, and Road 
Commission resources would be required to reimburse the grant funds. Management believes that 
disallowed costs, if any, would be immaterial. 

The County has outstanding construction commitments (contracts) at September 30, 2012 as 
follows: Water Resources Commissioner has a contract with a cost of $4,915,000 for the 
Farmington Hi(]s Water System Project (ACT 342 Project) with a remaining balance of $4,837,500 
and a contract with a cost of $1,881,250 for the Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal System 
(ACT 342 Project) with a remaining balance of$I,273,645. 

The Drainage Districts' component unit has a construction contract for a Bloomfield Township 
CSO project with a total cost of $1,718,760, with a remaining balance of S323,929 and contracts 
for the Oakland Macomb Interceptor Drainage District Project with a total cost of $67,406,127, 
with a remaining baJance of$19,681,018 as of September 30, 2012. 
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County of Oakland 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
September 3D, 2012 

19. Statement of Net Position - Reconciliation of Internal Balances 

The internal balances amount on the Statement of Net Position is reconciled as follows: 

Govemmental Activities 
Governmental F\mds 

Due from other fimds $ 
Long-term advances receivable 
Due to other funds 
CUrrent and long-term advances payable 

Intemal Service Funds 
Due from other fimds 
Due to other funds 
Current and long-term advances payable 

Capital1ease receivable for Cowrty Airports, 
not reported in fi.mds 

Governmental activities, intemal balances $ 

Bwinesl-Type Activities 
Proprietary Funds 

Due from other funds $ 
Current and hog-term advances receivable 
Due to other funds 
Current and long-term capital lease payable 

Business-type activities, internal balances $ 

119 

5,432,332 
429.259 

(5,719,695) 
(429,259) 

2,602 
(37,421) 

(612,334) 

9,935,000 

91°001484 

384,297 
612,334 
(62,115) 

(9,935,000) 

(9,000,484) 



APPENDIXC 
FORM OF APPROVING OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 
Pontiac, Michigan 

September 27. 2013 

We have acted as bond counsel and have examined the law and such certified 
proceedings of the County of Oakland, State ofMicrugan (the "County") and other documents as 
we deemed necessary to render this opinion in connection with the issuance by the Comty of its 
$34,000,000 aggregate principal amount County of Oakland Retirees Health Care Refunding 
Bonds, Series 20138 (General Obligation Limited Tax), dated September 27, 2013 (the 
"Refunding Bonds"). 

In so acting, we have examined one executed and authenticated refunding bond. As to 
questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and other 
certifications of public officials furnished to us without tuldertaking to verify the same by 
independent investigation. We have not been engaged nor have we undertaken to review the 
accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Memorandum or any other offering material 
relating to the Refunding Bonds (except to the extent, if any, stated in the Memorandwn), and we 
express no opinion relating thereto (excepting only the matters set forth as our opinion in the 
Memorandum). 

Based on such examination, we are of the opinion, as of the date hereof and under 
existing law: 

1. The Refunding Bonds are valid and legally binding obligations of the County. 

2. The full faith and credit of the County have been pledged for the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when due. The principal of and interest on the 
Refunding Bonds are payable as a first budget obligation of the County from its general funds. 
Taxes imposed by the County for payment of such principal and interest are subject to 
constitutional and statutory limitations. 

3. The Refunding Bonds and the interest on and income from the Refunding Bonds are 
exempt from taxation by the State of Michigan or a political subdivision of the State of 
Michigan, except estate taxes and taxes on gains realized from the sale, payment or other 
disposition of the Refunding Bonds. 

4. The interest on the Refunding Bonds is included in gross income for federal income 
tax purposes. 
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COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

Page Two 

The advice set forth in this opinion (a) is Dot intended or written to be used, any may not 
be used by any person, for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties, and (b) was written to 
support the promotion or marketing of the Refunding Bonds. Investors sbould seek advice based 
on their particular circumstances from an independent tax ~visor. 

It is understood that the rights of holders of the Refunding Bonds and the enforceability 
thereof may be subject to bankruptcy. insolvency, reorganization. moratoriwn and other similar 
laws affecting creditors' rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally 
applicable, and that their enforcement also may be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases. 

This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or 
supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our 
attention. or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

AXE & ECKLUND, P.C. 

By ______________ ___ 
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